
 

1 

 
 
 

 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Tuesday, 6th September, 2011 
 
Place: Council Chamber, Civic Offices, High Street, Epping 
  
Time: 7.30 pm 
  
Democratic Services 
Officer: 

Simon Hill, Senior Democratic Services Officer,  The Office of 
the Chief Executive 
email:democraticservices@eppingforestdc.gov.uk Tel: 01992 
564249 

 
Members: 
 
Councillors R Bassett (Chairman), D Wixley (Vice-Chairman), Ms R Brookes, K Chana, 
D Jacobs, D C Johnson, Mrs S Jones, S Murray, Mrs M Sartin, D Stallan and G Waller 
 
 
 
 

PLEASE NOTE THAT THIS MEETING IS OPEN TO ALL MEMBERS TO ATTEND 
 

 
 

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 
Please note: this meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council's internet site - 
at the start of the meeting the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being filmed.  
 
You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act. Data collected 
during this webcast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy and copies made 
available to those who request it.. 
 
Therefore by entering the Chamber and using the lower public seating area, you are consenting to being 
filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings for web casting and/or training 
purposes. If members of the public do not wish to have their image captured they should sit in the upper 
council chamber public gallery area 
 
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the Senior Democratic Services Officer on 01992 
564249. 
 
 

 1. WEBCASTING INTRODUCTION   
 

  1. This meeting is to be webcast. Members are reminded of the need to activate 
their microphones before speaking.  
 



Overview and Scrutiny Committee Tuesday, 6 September 2011 
 

2 

2. The Chairman will read the following announcement: 
 
“This meeting will be webcast live to the Internet and will be archived for later viewing. 
Copies of recordings may be made available on request. 
 
By entering the chamber’s lower seating area you consenting to becoming part of the 
webcast. 
 
If you wish to avoid being filmed you should move to the public gallery or speak to the 
webcasting officer” 
 

 2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 

 3. SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS   
 

  (Assistant to the Chief Executive). To report the appointment of any substitute 
members for the meeting.  
 

 4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

  (Assistant to the Chief Executive). To declare interests in any items on the agenda. 
 
In considering whether to declare a personal or a prejudicial interest under the Code 
of Conduct, Overview & Scrutiny members are asked pay particular attention to 
paragraph 11 of the Code in addition to the more familiar requirements. 
 
This requires the declaration of a personal and prejudicial interest in any matter before 
an OS Committee which relates to a decision of or action by another Committee or 
Sub Committee of the Council, a Joint Committee or Joint Sub Committee in which the 
Council is involved and of which the Councillor is also a member. 
 
Paragraph 11 does not refer to Cabinet decisions or attendance at an OS meeting 
purely for the purpose of answering questions or providing information on such a 
matter. 
 

 5. MINUTES  (Pages 7 - 32) 
 

  Decisions required: 
 

To confirm the minutes of the meetings of the Committee held on 12 July 2011.  
 

 6. REFORM OF THE POLICE SERVICE IN ESSEX   
 

  To receive a presentation from Chief Superintendent Simon Williams, on the “Blueprint 
for Essex Policing”.  He will set out the proposals of the Chief Constable of Essex for 
the future structure of Policing within Essex and how these will affect this District.  
County Councillor Anthony Jackson will also be attending the meeting to put the view 
of Essex County Council.   
 
This is a very important issue and all Members are invited to attend. The presentation 
will be of particular interest to members of the Safer, Cleaner and Greener Standing 
Scrutiny Panel and the Safer Communities Partnership. 
 



Overview and Scrutiny Committee Tuesday, 6 September 2011 
 

3 

 7. REVISING THE CHARGES AT THE DARTFORD - THURROCK RIVER CROSSING  
(Pages 33 - 38) 

 
  To consider the attached report. 

 
 8. SINGLE INDIVIDUAL VOTER REGISTRATION - GOVERNMENT CONSULTATION  

(Pages 39 - 108) 
 

  The Government has recently published proposals for the introduction of single voter 
registration. These proposals are open for comment both within and outside 
Parliament and the Chairman of this Committee has asked for this to be submitted to 
this meeting to establish whether members have any comments. 
 
A extract of the proposals is attached for consideration. The Assistant to the Chief 
Executive (who is also the Registration Officer) will give a brief outline orally of current 
Government plans. 
 

 9. COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES - REPORTS ON OUTSIDE ORGANISATIONS  
(Pages 109 - 110) 

 
  (Councillor D Stallan – Chairman, Constitution and Members Services Scrutiny Panel) 

To consider the attached report. 
 
 

 10. WORK PROGRAMME MONITORING  (Pages 111 - 130) 
 

  (a) To consider the updated work programme 
 
The current Overview and Scrutiny work programme is attached for information. 
 
(b) Reserve Programme 

 
A reserve list of scrutiny topics is required to ensure that the work flow of OSC is 
continuous.  
 
OSC will ‘pull out’ items from the list and allocate them accordingly once space 
becomes available in the work plan following the completion of existing reviews.  
 
Members can put forward any further suggestions for inclusion in the reserve list 
either during the meeting or at a later date. 
 
Existing review items will be dealt with first, and then time will be allocated to the 
items contained in the reserve work plan.  

 
 

 11. PROPOSED MERGER OF BARTS AND THE LONDON, WHIPPS CROSS AND 
NEWHAM NHS TRUSTS   

 
  RECOMMENDATION: 

 
To appoint a representative to the meeting on 15 September 2011. 

 
The Council has been invited to engage in discussions on the proposed merger of 



Overview and Scrutiny Committee Tuesday, 6 September 2011 
 

4 

Barts and The London, Whipps Cross and Newham NHS Trusts, at a meeting to be 
held on 15 September. They propose to: 
 

• Provide and overview of the vision for the merger, including the benefits and 
opportunities for patients and staff; 

• Provide an opportunity to discuss the proposal and raise questions directly to 
senior clinicians and managers from the three hospitals; 

• Seek our views on how we can continue to engage with key stakeholders in 
the next stages of planning for the new organisation; and 

• Outline the next steps and approval process. 
 
The meeting will take place on Thursday, 15 September 2001, starting at 10am until 
12pm. The venue will be West Ham United Football Club. 
 
Before we attend this proposed review, we need to appoint a representative and the 
Committee is asked to do so. That representative should report back to the next O&S 
Committee on the outcome and any future consequences for the District. 
 

 12. REPORT OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR - CONTRACT FOR FORMER CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE  (Pages 131 - 134) 

 
  (Assistant to the Chief Executive) to consider the attached report. 

 
 13. CABINET REVIEW   

 
  RECOMMENDATION: 

 
To consider any items to be raised by the Chairman at the Cabinet 
meeting on 12 September 2011. 

 
(Assistant to the Chief Executive). Under the Overview and Scrutiny rules the 
Committee is required to scrutinise proposed decisions of the Executive. The 
Chairman is also required to report on such discussions to the Cabinet. 
 
The Committee is asked to consider the 12 September 2011 Cabinet agenda 
(previously circulated) to see whether there are any items that they wished to be 
raised at the Cabinet meeting. 
 

 14. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS   
 

  Exclusion: To consider whether, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, the public and press should be excluded from the meeting for the items of 
business set out below on grounds that they will involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in the following paragraph(s) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act (as amended) or are confidential under Section 100(A)(2): 
 
Agenda Item No Subject Exempt Information 

Paragraph Number 
Nil Nil Nil 

 
The Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, which came 
into effect on 1 March 2006, requires the Council to consider whether maintaining the 



Overview and Scrutiny Committee Tuesday, 6 September 2011 
 

5 

exemption listed above outweighs the potential public interest in disclosing the 
information. Any member who considers that this test should be applied to any 
currently exempted matter on this agenda should contact the proper officer at least 24 
hours prior to the meeting. 
 
Confidential Items Commencement: Paragraph 9 of the Council Procedure Rules 
contained in the Constitution require: 
 
(1) All business of the Council requiring to be transacted in the presence of the 

press and public to be completed by 10.00 p.m. at the latest. 
 
(2) At the time appointed under (1) above, the Chairman shall permit the 

completion of debate on any item still under consideration, and at his or her 
discretion, any other remaining business whereupon the Council shall proceed 
to exclude the public and press. 

 
(3) Any public business remaining to be dealt with shall be deferred until after the 

completion of the private part of the meeting, including items submitted for 
report rather than decision. 

 
Background Papers:  Paragraph 8 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules of 
the Constitution define background papers as being documents relating to the subject 
matter of the report which in the Proper Officer's opinion: 
 
(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

report is based;  and 
 
(b) have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report and does not 

include published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential 
information (as defined in Rule 10) and in respect of executive reports, the 
advice of any political advisor. 

 
Inspection of background papers may be arranged by contacting the officer 
responsible for the item. 
 

 
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



EPPING FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MINUTES 

 
Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Committee Date: Tuesday, 12 July 2011 
    
Place: Council Chamber, Civic Offices, 

High Street, Epping 
Time: 7.30  - 9.48 pm 

  
Members 
Present: 

Councillors R Bassett (Chairman) D Wixley (Vice-Chairman) Ms R Brookes, 
K Chana, D Jacobs, D C Johnson, Mrs S Jones, Mrs M Sartin, D Stallan and 
G Waller 

  
Other 
Councillors: 

Councillors K Avey, W Breare-Hall, Mrs D Collins, Mrs J Lea, A Lion, 
Mrs M McEwen, A Mitchell MBE, G Mohindra, Mrs L Wagland, C Whitbread 
and J M Whitehouse 

  
Apologies: Councillors S Murray 
  
Officers 
Present: 

D Macnab (Acting Chief Executive), J Gilbert (Director of Environment and 
Street Scene), I Willett (Assistant to the Chief Executive), S G Hill (Senior 
Democratic Services Officer), T Carne (Public Relations and Marketing 
Officer), A Hendry (Democratic Services Officer) and M Jenkins (Democratic 
Services Assistant) 

  
By 
Invitation: 

P Tollington (London Underground Ltd.) and M Graves (London 
Underground Ltd.) 

 
 

11. WEBCASTING INTRODUCTION  
 
The Chairman reminded everyone present that the meeting would be broadcast live 
to the Internet, and that the Council had adopted a protocol for the webcasting of its 
meetings. 
 

12. SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  
 
There were no substitute Members for the meeting.  
 

13. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Councillor Mrs M Sartin declared a personal interest in agenda item 7 as she was the 
council representative on the Lea Valley Regional Park Authority. Councillor Bassett 
also declared a personal interest as he was a Deputy EFDC representative on the 
Lea Valley Regional Park Authority. 
 

14. MINUTES  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 

That the minutes of the last meeting of the Committee held on 31 May 2011 
be agreed. 

 
 
The Chairman updated the meeting on Key Objective 11 (to continue to increase the 
Council’s recycling performance) mentioned in minute item 4, saying that the Council 
already collected food waste on a weekly basis. 

Agenda Item 5

Page 7



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  12 July 2011 

 
15. LONDON UNDERGROUND LIMITED  

 
The Chairman welcomed Peter Tollington the General Manager for the Central, 
Waterloo and City Lines and his colleague Michael Graves the group station 
manager for stations between Epping and Stanmore. 
 
Mr Tollington gave a short presentation to the meeting (slides attached) saying that 
this was the second busiest and the longest line on the underground. It was fully 
automated and was modernised in the 90’s. The Central Line had enjoyed a surge in 
demand since then, with an understandable dip in 2002, after the Chancery Lane 
derailment. It serves about 650,000 people every week day. There has been a large 
improvement in peak capacity since 2003 and by 2008 they were at the limit of what 
the line could provide, using 79 of the 85 trains in the fleet at peak hours. Stratford 
Station now carried more people on Saturday afternoons that it did at the rush hour in 
the late 90’s. 
 
They have a customer service improvement plans in place to provide Oyster vending 
machines with pre-loaded value at stations, more wide aisle gates and more service 
information, they were working hard to provide information remotely and have regular 
accurate announcements. They also have staff deployment reviews and coaching 
and they were proud to have higher levels of staff than other comparable stations in 
the UK.  
 
They also have a ‘reliability programme’ but they were finding cable theft a major 
problem and this reduced reliability. 
 
Their upgrade plan was looking to bring in air conditioned articulated trains when 
capital allowed. They were currently looking to rebuild the busiest stations on the 
Central Line such as Tottenham Court Road, Victoria, Bond Street, Bank and 
Paddington. Stratford Station had been transformed where they had put in a new 
ticket hall and had opened an extra platform to set it up as a one way station, with 
passengers getting off on one side of the train and passengers getting on from the 
other side. They are also upgrading other stations with CCTV and better 
communication systems.  
 
They were had increased capacity by 30% through line upgrades, new trains, track 
and signalling. They were currently refreshing their fleet of trains by replacing their 
windows (the old ones used to let in water) and their seats. The Metropolitan Line 
was getting new trains that were air conditioned and articulated. 
 
They would be putting on extra staff for the upcoming Olympic Games; they already 
have the capacity for the games and are currently refining their plans in readiness for 
next year. 
 
Mr Tollington then went through the questions that the committee wished to be 
considered at their last meeting. 
 
Capacity on trains, specifically rush hour on trains and train stock improvements - Mr 
Tollington said the line was presently working to capacity and he did not know where 
any extra space would come from. They were relying on the new ‘Cross Rail’ 
development to take some of the excess people from the Central Line. They could 
not increase the number of trains running on the Central Line, although they have a 
world class signalling system they cannot run trains any closer together. It may be 
the next generation of trains could increase the standing room. 
 

Page 8



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  12 July 2011 

Q: As the Metropolitan Line had new trains would the Central Line be getting them 
soon.  
A: That would be about 20 years away, new designs would be great to have.  
 
Q: When would Cross Rail be coming on track?  
A: It was on schedule for 2017.  
 
Q: Would the train stock improvements make them cooler?  
A: We were looking at various systems for this but there was no money to take it 
forward. Current train stocks were constrained by space available, both inside and 
outside the train, and the size of the tunnel to put in air conditioning or ventilation. 
 
Engineering works and refurbishment –  
 
Q: Why are weekend works not well advertised, and are there any works coming up? 
A: We are doing extensive works every weekend and notices about works are sent 
out. The weekend works are very necessary, doing work that could not be done 
overnight (heavy engineering). It was a difficult balancing act keeping the line 
operating and repairing/upgrading it, but necessary. 
 
Q: Some weekend works coincides with other transport closures in this area and 
occasionally with big events, which tend to jam up the system. Can this be 
addressed? 
A:  Occasionally unplanned things clash with us. We try to co-ordinate with other big 
events happening where possible. If you have any specific issues you can follow it up 
with me. 
 
Q:  Sundays are becoming like Saturdays, but the timetabling does not reflect how 
busy it is, with only one train every 10 minutes. Also there was a major closedown in 
June but we had no idea how frequent the busses would be. 
A:  We are looking at matching train services to demand and this work will be 
finished in a couple of years, but I will provide a separate formal response. 
 
Q: Additional weekend capacity would not be added until 2013, why two years delay? 
A:  We need to liaise with other lines, station schedules etc. and share staff. Also 
2012 will disrupt our schedules. 
 
Refurbishments at Mile End, destination boards and low ceilings – the station had 
been bedevilled by water ingress and the only solution was to dig up the A12 and put 
in a waterproof membrane. This was never going to happen. However, a water 
management system will be installed; unfortunately this would leave no space for a 
conventional Dot Matrix display board. We have to install flat screens which are not 
as good. We are however exploring other ways. As for station staffing, visibility would 
always be a problem, but they are there. 
 
Q: The message boards are a complete waste of time, also there are no 
announcements on where the trains are going, and it is very claustrophobic in there. 
A:  We have attempted to make it brighter by improving the lighting and retiling and 
other decorative improvements. 
 
Oyster cards, will the scheme be extended and there have been reports that they 
were not working as they should – they will not be extended further. The reports in 
the press about cards not charging the right amount were not correctly reported, it 
was mainly due to customer misuse. We are looking to roll out a bank card system 
on London Busses by 2012 to make it easier to travel. 
 

Page 9



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  12 July 2011 

Q:  Barriers are sometimes left open so passengers just walk through and do not 
have to swipe their cards. 
A:  We do not wish to trap customers at peak times, and we have put in more 
readers but passengers have to swipe out to complete their journeys. 
 
Parking issues around stations – 
 
Q:  We have heard about adding a second layer to the Epping Station Car Park – 
could we not use the derelict cutting at Stonnards Hill Bridge, with a roundabout at 
the station parking area. You can also zone the street to one hour parking only.  
Q:  The fare increases on the overland trains are encouraging more commuters to 
drive to the end of the line to board the trains, making parking a nightmare, what is 
the current situation? 
A:  I will take away any suggestions and consider them. I have no knowledge of any 
scheme to build a new level. British Transport Police are looking at the area around 
the station. 
 
Q:  We are in the middle of a major parking review in Epping. In the past LUL have 
indicated that they would do something about the parking and there have been many 
rumours over the years. We need to work with LUL to solve some of these problems. 
There was talk of using the old coal yard at Epping Station. The new road markings 
are not helping people when dropping off.  
A:  We are happy to revisit these restrictions. The double yellow lines are to deter 
people parking for long periods. We are aware that parking around Epping is a 
problem, but we are always open to suggestions. 
 
Q: Can you also look at Debden; there is land there that might be suitable for use as 
a parking area. 
A:  There was a scheme for Debden but it may be on hold at present. 
 
Q:  There has been a price hike in the Car Parks – where does this money go? And, 
what does TFL do to educate the public in using buses to get to stations and not their 
cars? 
A:  We contract out to National Car Parking Ltd. Some of this money comes back to 
TFL where it is reinvested. As for educating drivers, we tend to leave them to their 
own devices and rely on their local knowledge etc. 
 
Q:  There are some sidings at Grange Hill and Chigwell Stations, could these be 
used for extra parking. 
A:  I will look into it and send a response. 
 
Disabled exit at Epping Station; could people be advised at Theydon Bois on which 
side of the station the train was to stop at so they could decide what to do – this is a 
long running issue and we are currently looking at this. Some solutions are vey 
expensive and some not physically possible as we have to use both platforms. We 
are looking at using the exit on Platform 2 but this would entail some risks for us 
including staffing issues. The current signalling system does not allow us to advise 
passengers at Theydon Bois. We have asked that, if possible, trains are put to 
Platform 2. 
 
Litter in car parks – 
 
Q:  There is a problem in Loughton with litter in the shrubbery that is not being 
cleared. I am prepared to meet someone about this. It is an eyesore, especially with 
the Olympics coming up. 

Page 10



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  12 July 2011 

A:  Car parks are cleaned under contract. Michael Grade will speak to you separately 
after the meeting. 
 
Impact of the Olympic Games – LUL are looking forward to this. We know that 
commuter travel will be reduced by holidays and they would also be making other 
arrangements during this period. People attending the games would not have to 
queue at the ticket office as they will have their own tickets. We will cope, but we also 
have contingent plans. 
 
Q:  Are there any plans for getting people from Waltham Abbey to Stratford? 
A:  These are separate venues and we do not anticipate much travel between them. 
 
Q:  Loughton to Waltham Abbey – what about residents going to Waltham Abbey, 
they would have to go to Central London. Would you consider putting in something 
between Loughton and Waltham Abbey? 
A:  To the best of my knowledge this has not been considered. There are however, 
two bus routes covering Loughton to Waltham Abbey. I will investigate and get back 
to you. 
 
Security at unmanned stations, lack of staff in the evenings – there are occasions 
when staff are not available, but we still have the capacity to respond by asking 
neighbouring station staff to patrol. We also have CCTV systems monitoring stations. 
We can find no reported incidents of crime when stations were unmanned. 
 
The Chairman thanked Mr Tollington and Mr Graves for an interesting presentation 
and patiently answering all the questions put to them.  
 

16. LEA VALLEY REGIONAL PARK AUTHORITY AND THE OLYMPICS  
 
The Committee received a report on the London 2012 Olympic Bid and the legacy 
benefits for our region especially regarding the Lea Valley Regional Park Authority 
(LVRPA). 
 
They noted that: 

• The East of England had the highest level of public support for the games 
across the whole of the United Kingdom; 

• Experiences of other host cities, indicate that there were significant social 
benefits to be realised, such as increased sports participation, volunteering, 
tourism and cultural opportunities; 

• Apart form the White Water Rafting, Essex will also host the Olympic 
Mountain Bike Event at Hadleigh Castle in Castle Point. LVRPA will have 
responsibility for the velodrome as well as the White Water Rafting; 

• Business breakfasts had been organised for local businesses to contend for 
contracts. A number of local companies have gained contracts through this 
event. The Town Centre Manager had also organised a similar event for local 
businesses and we have also gained apprenticeships for local people from 
these events; 

• The Games are looking for 70,000 volunteers and it is anticipated that a 
number of event volunteers will be recruited locally to support the actual 
operation of the Olympic canoe event at Waltham Abbey; 

• A multi-agency partnership Olympic Legacy Board has been established and, 
to provide focus and capacity, the Board created a temporary 2 year Olympic 
Officer post to maximise the legacy potential. A consultants report had been 
prepared for the legacy board on development and regeneration 
opportunities, and we are awaiting an official copy; 

Page 11



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  12 July 2011 

• With the White Water Rafting venue, it was anticipated that other specialist 
facilities would be needed around it, the World Championships are coming up 
(in 2015) and this would be a bigger event than the Olympics; 

• The British Canoe Union estimated the value to the local economy of this 
event to be some £1.7million; 

• During the period of the games the Town Centres would not benefit from the 
mass influx of spectators as they would be strictly controlled being taken 
directly to the venues and back again. However, officers are trying to get the 
Park and Ride buses to leave later to encourage people to spend some 
money at Waltham Abbey;  

• There will also be a Cultural Olympiad, celebrating the games through arts 
and festival events that will be running up to the games. Council staff are 
promoting a number of these Cultural events. 

 
Asked what Broxbourne were doing, the Acting Chief Executive, Derek Macnab, said 
they were developing a walkway from Waltham Cross and improving Waltham Cross 
Station. They also have other plans to regenerate Waltham Cross. 
 
Councillor Sartin noted that the White Water Centre had held a free Schools event 
recently, which was very successful. Children from every borough n London attended 
and this had generated future bookings from these boroughs. 
 
Councillor Brookes said that the sports development team were under funding 
pressure, this was a chance to promote activities to children over the summer 
months. Mr Macnab replied that they already have an extensive holiday programme, 
which was already sold out. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 

That the work undertaken with a range of partners including the Lea Valley 
Regional Park Authority to maximise the benefits for the District for the 2012 
Olympic and Paralympic Games be noted. 

 
17. REFERENDUM AND ELECTIONS 5 MAY 2011  

 
The Chairman of the Constitution and Members’ Services Standing Panel, Councillor 
Stallan introduced their report on the recent referendum and elections held in May 
2011. 
 
They noted that referendum was held under a different management and 
accountability structure compared under an election. A Chief Counting Officer was 
responsible for certifying the overall result and the Chair of the Electoral Commission, 
Jenny Watson, was appointed to this position. It was necessary to comply with some 
207 directions given by the Chief Counting Officer. In order to abide with the 
directions some 87 polling stations had to be provided on the day, with the 
appointment of over 80 Presiding Officers and around 150 Poll Clerks. 
 
A total of 9540 Referendum Postal vote packets were issued, many including District 
Council ballot papers and some Parish/Town Council ballot papers. Approximately 
74% were returned.  
 
The Police response was very good this year with all Polling Stations receiving 
regular visits. No formal complaints had been received regarding an alleged breach 
of electoral law. 
 

Page 12



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  12 July 2011 

Councillor Bassett said it was disappointing that only 20% of Parish Councils had 
enough candidates to warrant an election. 
 
Councillor Jacobs asked if we have ever had to provide so many staff before. He was 
told that the Returning Officer would not have done it this way if he was in control, but 
the directions had been dripped fed to him over a period of time. The electoral 
commission gave directions after the bill went through Parliament, about 11 or 12 
weeks before. This was a short time frame. 
 
Councillor Waller commented that it was unusual to have no public area for people to 
come and see the count taking place. He was told this was due to a combination of a 
number of things like the size of the hall, the number of different types of counts gong 
on and for reasons of security. They would reconsider allowing the public in future 
counts, but they really needed a bigger hall. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 

That the review of the Referendum and Elections held on 5 May 2011 be 
noted. 

 
18. COMPLAINTS PANEL - LIMITS OF JURISDICTION  

 
The Chairman of the Constitution and Members’ Services Standing Panel, Councillor 
Stallan introduced their report on the limits of jurisdiction of the Complaints Panel. 
 
Currently, certain types of complaints fall outside the limits of jurisdiction of the Panel 
and cannot therefore be considered at Step 4. These exclusions are: 
 
(a)  a complaint about a situation which arose more than 12 months before it was 
brought to the attention of the Council (unless new information has since been 
identified which would justify a further review of the complaint); 
 
(b)  where an alternative and formal right of appeal exists (e.g. Planning Appeal; 
Housing Appeal; Benefits Tribunal) and for which the complainant failed to exercise 
his/her right to appeal within the specified timescale, or has not yet appealed, or has 
already made such an appeal; 
 
(c)  matters which would best be dealt with by the Courts, e.g. Human Rights issues; 
 
(d) matters which would affect the majority of the people in the Epping Forest District, 
e.g. a complaint that "the Council Tax is too high"; 
 
(e)  complaints for which a resolution could only be achieved through a change in the 
law or a change in the policies of another organisation; 
 
(f)  complaints about policies currently subject to a review, or about matters for which 
it has already been agreed that a policy needs to be reviewed or formulated. (Note -  
this exclusion does not preclude the consideration of a complaint about the way a 
policy has been administered, e.g. an allegation that a policy had been administered 
unfairly, or that the Council had fettered its discretion); 
 
(g) complaints about the frequency of delivery, or the level of a service which is 
subject to contract conditions (again, a complaint about the way a contract service 
has been delivered could still be considered by the CP); 
 
(h)  where the customer elects to pursue legal action as a means of determining their 

Page 13



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  12 July 2011 

complaint. (Note - this would not preclude the CP considering non-legal elements of 
a complaint, e.g. an allegation of unreasonable delay by the Council in undertaking a 
statutory or agreed course of action). 
 
In recent years, other types of complaints have been made for which consideration 
by the Complaints Panel was found to be inappropriate. It is therefore recommended 
that the limits of jurisdiction should be extended to encompass these as well. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
(1) That revisions to the limits of jurisdiction of the Complaints Panel be 
approved; and 
 
(2)        That a report be submitted to the Council recommending that Annex 1 
(section 1) to the terms of reference of the Complaints Panel be amended as 
set out in paragraph 3 of the report and published in the Constitution. 
 

 
 

19. SUBSTITUTIONS AT MEETINGS  
 
The Chairman of the Constitution and Members’ Services Standing Panel, introduced 
their report on revision of the member substitution rules at Committees. Currently a 
substitution has to be notified to Democratic Services by 10.00am on the day of the 
meeting by an authorised member of their group. The Panel looked to see if more 
than one member of a group should undertake this role and if the notification time be 
extended. 
 
Councillor Stallan reported that a last minute change had been made to the report 
and instead of a notification being made no later than 30 minutes before the 
commencement of the meeting concerned, it should be 60 minutes before the 
meeting.  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 

(1) That Procedural Standing Order 14(4) (i) and (ii) be amended as 
follows: 

 
(a) to permit a Leader, Deputy Leader or other appointed member of a 
political group to notify the Assistant to the Chief Executive of any substitute 
members to attend a meeting; 
 
(b) to require that any political group member so appointed be notified to 
the Assistant to the Chief Executive at the beginning of each Council year; 
 
(c) to amend the deadline for notifying substitutes from “not later than 
10.00 a.m.” to “not later than 60 minutes before the commencement of the 
meeting concerned”; 
 
(2) That a report be submitted to the Council recommending that approval 
be given to these alterations and their publication in the Constitution; 

 
(3) That, if possible, the substitution notification deadline be included on 
every agenda where this is permitted under the Constitution; and 

 
(4) That this process be reviewed after 1 year. 

Page 14



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  12 July 2011 

 
 

20. CONSTITUTION AND MEMBER SERVICES STANDING PANEL - WORK 
PROGRAMME  
 
The Committee reviewed the Constitution and Members’ Services Standing Panel’s 
draft work programme. They agreed to add the review of the Audit and Governance 
Committee - appointment of Deputies; a report of the external Auditor; report of the 
Remuneration Panel on District Council allowances; webcasting; Council Meetings – 
reporting by Scrutiny Panel Chairmen; and member reports on Outside Bodies at 
Council meetings. They also agreed that two extra meetings would also be needed to 
contain these extra bits of work. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 

(1) That the six extra pieces of work be added to the work programme of 
the Constitution and Member Services Standing panel; and 

(2) That two extra meetings also be agreed. 
 

21. WORK PROGRAMME MONITORING  
 
(a)  Work programme 
 
(i) Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
Noted that items10 (Broadband access), 11 (Corporation of London), 12 (Police and 
Fire Rescue Services) and 18 (To meet ECC in connection with Children’s services) 
all had to have dates attached to them. 
 
Also there were two presentation set for the September meeting one from the LSP 
and one on the Police reform proposals for Essex. 
 
(ii)  Housing Standing Panel 
 
Noted these were mostly cyclical reports. 
 
(iii) Constitution and Members’ Services Standing Panel 
 
Noted that this has been dealt in the previous agenda item. 
 
(iv) Safer Cleaner Greener Standing Panel 
 
The Chairman of the Panel reported back on their first meeting of the year which 
mainly consisted of 6 monthly updating reports. 
 
(v) Planning Services Standing Panel 
 
Noted that the Planning Panel were looking to revise their Terms of Reference and 
that Councillor Lion would be drafting appropriate terms for the Panel to consider. 
 
(vi) Finance and Performance Management Standing Panel 
 
Councillor Jacobs, the Chairman of the Panel informed the Committee on the work 
covered  at their first meeting. These included reports on avoidable contact, Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) and the KPI targets of 70% for the year, a 
presentation on the new corporate strategy tool, equality and diversity, sick 

Page 15



Overview and Scrutiny Committee  12 July 2011 

absences, Consultation plans, the future of public audit and the Capital and Revenue 
outturns. 
 
 
The Chairman informed the Committee that he would be attending an Essex Scrutiny 
Chairs meeting at the end of July and asked if members wanted him to bring up 
anything at that meeting. Councillor Stallan would like to know what other authorities 
did about scrutiny. The Chairman said he would report back at the next meeting of 
the Committee. 
 

22. CABINET REVIEW  
 
The Committee reviewed the Cabinets agenda for their 18 July meeting but there 
were no specific items that the Committee wanted to be brought to their attention. 
 

 
CHAIRMAN 

 

Page 16



Minute Item 15

Page 11Page 17



Page 12Page 18



Page 13Page 19



Page 14Page 20



Page 15Page 21



Page 16Page 22



Page 17Page 23



Page 18Page 24



Page 19Page 25



Page 20Page 26



Page 21Page 27



Page 22Page 28



Page 23Page 29



Page 24Page 30



Page 25Page 31



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 32



 3 

Report to Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 
Date of meeting: 6 September 2011 
 
Portfolio:  Leader 
 
Subject: Revising the Charges at the Dartford – 
Thurrock River Crossing. Consultation Document 
 
Officer contact for further information:  John Preston  
 
Committee Secretary:  Adrian Hendry 
 
 
Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 
To agree that the Council makes the following responses in respect of this 
consultation: 
 
i. That all congestion charges in respect of this crossing should be done away 

with as soon as possible; 
 
ii. That if a new further crossing needs to be designed with new technology, and 

has new tolls to pay for its construction, then so be it; 
 
iii. That, in the meantime, charges should only rise after new technology allowing 

free flowing use of the crossing is introduced, and that any further increases in 
such charges should be introduced infrequently thereafter, and not in two 
frequent successive stages; 

 
iv. That variable message signs, rather than fixed signs, indicating what the 

charges are should be introduced; 
 
v. That, if for any reason the queue associated with the crossing reaches Junction 

29 southbound, or Junction 3 northbound, that the charges should be 
suspended until the queue has disappeared; and 

 
vi. That the three local Members of Parliament, the Local Enterprise Partnership 

and the Federation of Small Businesses are copied this Council’s response. 
 
 
Report: 
 
1. The Dartford – Thurrock river crossing comprises two two-lane Tunnels under the 
River Thames, and the Queen Elizabeth II Bridge with four lanes over the Thames. That 
gives eight lanes for both directions. 
 
2. The first tunnel opened in 1963, the second in 1980 and the bridge opened in 1980; 
apparently early estimates of no more than two million vehicles using the first tunnel quickly 
proved a significant underestimate. Nowadays some 50 million vehicles use these crossings 
each year. 
 
3. It is considered that the crossings serve three main purposes; 

• They allow ‘local’ traffic between Essex and Kent to cross the river. 
• The crossings are an A road, but are effectively part of the M25 orbital motorway 

 Agenda Item 7

Page 33



 4 

around London, which allows traffic to circumnavigate parts or all of the Capital rather 
than that traffic criss-crossing the Capital. 

• As the ‘lowest’ crossing point on the River Thames, it allows long distance traffic from 
the continent (whether using Ports or the Chanel tunnel) to reach other parts of the 
national motorway network; in particular Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGV), and in 
particular to access the Midlands and beyond. 

 
4. Originally the expense of such major feats of engineering were constructed at public 
expense, and tolls levied to pay back those costs. The Bridge used private finance, but also 
had a toll on the same basis. 
 
5. By 2003, when the costs of the tunnels and the bridge had been met, the previous 
Government determined that there should continue to be a charge at this crossing point; the 
rationale appearing to be that without such a charge that the volumes of traffic wanting to use 
the crossing would cause congestion, so congestion could be restricted or avoided by levying 
a charge. 
 
6. The 2003 charges differentiated by type of vehicle, and gave some local concessions 
to residents of Thurrock and Dartford. It is also possible to buy a Dart Tag in advance and at 
a discount for regular users. Payments are made by hand at a toll booth (where change can 
be given), or by putting the correct payment into a receptacle, or by the Dartford tag being 
recognized at the toll booth. Vehicles have to slow markedly and come to a complete halt. 
Advanced signs indicate to users of the M25 that charges exist and what the principal 
charges are; these are fixed signs rather than ones which can contain variable messages; 
there may be fewer such signs at present because of nearby road works within Essex. 
 
7. If ‘local’ traffic needs to get between Essex and Kent, it has few options other than to 
use the crossing; a charge may not “put off” that many who need to make such a journey. 
The alternative of going into London and using the charge free Blackwall tunnel exists; but to 
do so adds to journey time and length and cost compared to paying the Dartford charge (in 
particular given the local concession, or if the Dartford tag is purchased in advance) 
 
8. Users of the M25 could theoretically avoid the Dartford-Thurrock crossing by using the 
other sections of the M25 which are charge free; however, if that approach became 
widespread it could cause congestion on other sections. The M25 also crosses the Thames 
between Berkshire and Surrey on its western side between junctions 12 and 13.  There is no 
charge to cross the Thames at that point, and the estimated flows are 64 Million vehicles per 
year. Those flows are accommodated on five lanes in both directions.  
 
9. As the “lowest” crossing point there are very limited opportunities for long distance 
traffic to sensibly avoid the Dartford–Thurrock crossing and as the economy has grown, this 
purpose is becoming more important and the HGV flow has grown in proportion to other 
vehicle types. A charge is not much of a practical restriction, because other options (such as 
using a “higher” crossing point up river) do not really exist. 
 
10.  In 2008 the charges were revised upwards, although a free night time period was 
introduced. One of the given reasons for not increasing the charges on an annual basis, by 
amounts compatible with the increase in the retail prices index, is to avoid charging odd 
amounts rather than what are seen to be rounded amounts (such as £1.50p.) 
 
11.  Over this period, the M25 has been, and is being, widened over much of its length; 
that is more so on its western side. 
 
Present recent conditions 
 
12. The Federation of Small Businesses (FSB) has been reporting the experiences of its 
members, and which echo some of the Government’s own comments that the Dartford – 

Page 34



 5 

Thurrock crossing experiences some of the worst performance of the national road network, 
and that reliability of journey time is very variable; the users experience tends to forget the 
trouble free journeys, but the occasions where the traffic is backed up on the Essex side to 
the Brentwood junction (28) are recalled. It might be annoying for holiday makers to have to 
leave plenty of extra time for a journey, or for those going to one of the Regional Shopping 
centres near the Essex and Kent sides of the crossing; but for business travellers the 
congestion has exceedingly high costs associated with delays. 
 
13. The South East Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) has considered the consultation 
and objects to the proposals for a number of reasons as follows;  
 

• the charges create congestion in their own right and should be dispensed with as 
soon as possible. 

• in any event adjustment to increases cause substantial delays at the booths and a 
two stage increase is therefore twice the problem (very few such journeys are by 
locals) 

• 10 miles of queues before freeing up the booths is too high a threshold representing 
in the order of 2 hours to get over the river. 

• fast track technology is essential before any increase. 
. 

14. The LEP invited individual Local Authorities to comment themselves. 
 
The proposals in the consultation 
 
15. Effectively the consultation concerns proposals for the short, medium and long term, 
as follows: 
 

Short term 
 
The charges would be increased in November 2011 and then, again, in April 2012; for 
example the cash charge for cars being taken from the present £1.50p to £2.00p and 
then to £2.50p 
 
Increased use of the Dart tag would be encouraged. 
 
The local concession to residents of Dartford and Thurrock would be retained. 
The ability to suspend the charges, in defined emergency situations, and when severe 
congestion occurs is apparently being trialled from 1 July 2011. 
 
Medium Term 
 
To implement a free-flow charging regime; in other words a charge would still be 
levied, but payment would be made electronically, and would not require vehicles to 
slow and/or to stop at a toll booth and make a manual payment. 
 
Longer term 
 
In the longer term the Government is considering additional crossing capacity, with 
three options; at the site of the existing crossing, between the Swanscombe peninsula 
and the A1089, and between the east of Gravesend and the east of Tilbury. It is 
suggested that the main cause of the existing congestion is the physical capacity of 
the existing tunnels and bridge. Development of these options would partly be funded 
from the increased charges for the existing crossing.  Any new option would  have its 
own charging regime. An additional such crossing has estimated costs of between £1 
and £7 billion. 

 
 

Page 35



 6 

Concerns 
 
16. For the reasons explained above, the rationale for the charges appears to be based 
on false premises; the charges may put some journeys off, but add to journey time and cost 
for many, particularly when incidents or congestion occur; the comparison with crossing the 
Thames to the west of London suggests that extra capacity is needed rather than congestion 
charging. An initial toll to pay for infrastructure is one thing, but to continue with the 
congestion caused by the manual toll process is quite another. The first objection of the Local 
Enterprise Partnership can be endorsed. 
 
17. At a time of considerable challenge to public expenditure to suggest replacing fixed 
signage twice within a short period serves to emphasise that a very short term approach is 
being taken; this might be lessened by providing signage which could explain new charging 
regimes by changing the message when necessary rather than changing the signs 
themselves. This does not overcome getting users to understand what the charge  level is 
close to the point at which payment is necessary, and not changing the charge too frequently. 
The second objection of the LEP can also be endorsed. 
 
18. To date the FSB have been less than complimentary about the trial of suspending 
charges in an emergency, and when there is severe congestion (i.e. extending for 10 miles) If 
charges are only suspended in rare instances, this again emphasises that the charges are an 
impediment to business, but are not a solution to capacity not being kept within proportion to 
need or demand. The third objection of the LEP can also be endorsed. 
 
19. If one accepts that charging for the crossings generates funds for other transport 
schemes, and that the key issue is not that one can avoid a charge altogether, but that it is 
about collecting the charge in a less disruptive way, then experience with the Central London 
congestion charge would suggest that charge collection technology can be used rather than 
a  predominantly manual arrangement. 
 
20. A conventional toll might allow 200 vehicles per lane per hour, whereas electronic 
systems would allow this to increase to 500 (if the vehicle stops) or up to 1800 per hour if 
“free flow” is used.  Such systems already exist in a variety of countries worldwide. 
 
21. Whilst the Dart tag introduced some electronic systems to this toll, it is clear that free 
flow numbers across up to 13 lanes at these crossings would significantly reduce the adverse 
impacts. Plainly free flow could not operate on all the existing width and depth of the toll 
plaza with as many as 13 lanes. 
 
22. It is considered that the LEP view that charges should not be increased unless that 
was in concert with the introduction of free flow electronic tolling/charging can also be 
endorsed. 
 
Reason for decision:  
 
23. Whilst the Dartford–Thurrock crossing is some way outside the District, there will be 
residents and businesses based locally who use it from time to time, and who could 
reasonably expect that paying a charge would be consistent with receiving a reasonable 
likelihood of a timely journey. When there is a reasonably regular risk that a ten mile journey 
on a motorway standard route can take two hours, that is showing that  the present 
arrangements are not achieving their objectives.  Although there could never be the capacity 
on a road network to avoid there ever being delays, the present position is unacceptable.  
There is a history of greatly under estimating use levels, perhaps because the functions 
these crossings serve have not been well recognized; there is an unfair contrast with the 
western side of the M25 where it crosses the Thames, and the medium term solution should 
be brought forward in favour of the suggested short term solutions. 
 

Page 36



 7 

24. It is suggested that the views of Council should be brought to the attention of the 
three local members of Parliament, the FSB and the LEP.  
 
 
Options considered and rejected: 
 
Not to respond to the consultation. 
To respond positively to the consultation. 
 
 
 
Consultation undertaken: None; EFDC is a consultee in this case. 
 
Resource implications:  
 
Budget provision: N/A 
Personnel: From existing resources 
Land: Nil 
 
Community Plan/BVPP reference: 
Relevant statutory powers: 
 
Background papers: Thales.com website concerning electronic toll collection. 
Environmental/Human Rights Act/Crime and Disorder Act Implications: There are some 
environmental concerns addressed in this report. 
Key Decision reference: (if required) 
 

Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank



Individual Electoral 
Registration

A
genda Item

 8

P
age 39



Individual E
lectoral 

R
egistration

Presented to Parliam
ent 

by the D
eputy Prim

e M
inister 

by C
om

m
and of H

er M
ajesty

June 2011

C
m

 8108 
£15.50

P
age 40



©
 C

row
n copyright 2011

You m
ay re-use this inform

ation (excluding logos) 
free of charge in any form

at or m
edium

, under the 
term

s of the O
pen G

overnm
ent Licence. To view

 
this licence, visit  
http://w

w
w

.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-
governm

ent-licence/  
or e-m

ail: psi@
nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk.

W
here w

e have identi�ed any third party copyright 
inform

ation you w
ill need to obtain perm

ission from
 

the copyright holders concerned.

A
ny enquiries regarding this publication should be 

sent to us at:  
e-m

ail: electoralregistration@
cabinet-of�ce.gsi.gov.uk. 

w
rite: Electoral Registration Transform

ation 
Program

m
e, A

rea 4/S1, 1 H
orse G

uards Road, 
LO

N
D

O
N

 SW
1A

 2H
Q

This publication is available for dow
nload at  

w
w

w
.of�cial-docum

ents.gov.uk.

This docum
ent is also available from

 our w
ebsite at  

w
w

w
.cabinet-of�ce.gsi.gov.uk

ISBN
: 9780101810821

Printed in the U
K by The Stationery O

f�ce Lim
ited 

on behalf of the C
ontroller of H

er M
ajesty’s Stationery O

f�ce

ID
 2438353 

12712 
07/11 

19585

Printed on paper containing 75%
 recycled �bre content m

inim
um

.
P

age 41



C
ontents

Forew
ord 

5

Introduction 
7

The D
etailed Proposals 

15

D
raft Legislation 

27

Explanatory N
otes 

51

A
nnex A

 – sum
m

ary of im
pact assessm

ents 
65

P
age 42



P
age 43



Individual Electoral Registration 
5

Forew
ord

The C
oalition Program

m
e for G

overnm
ent set out an am

bitious program
m

e to im
prove the political 

system
. W

e w
ant to disperse pow

er and give individuals and com
m

unities m
ore control of the decisions 

that affect them
.

W
e have already taken signi!cant steps to m

ove pow
er from

 the executive to Parliam
ent, and from

 
Parliam

ent to the people. W
e have asked the public w

hether they w
ant to change the voting system

 
for the C

om
m

ons. Parliam
entary constituencies are being redraw

n so that everyone’s vote carries the 
sam

e w
eight, w

herever they live. The Fixed-term
 Parliam

ents Bill w
ill soon be law

 – rem
oving the Prim

e 
M

inister’s pow
er to call an election at a tim

e of his or her choosing. A
nd last m

onth w
e published a draft 

Bill on H
ouse of Lords Reform

.

This W
hite Paper and draft legislation set out the next stage of this reform

 program
m

e. In the 
C

oalition Program
m

e for G
overnm

ent w
e said that w

e w
ould ‘reduce electoral fraud by speeding up the 

im
plem

entation of Individual Electoral Registration.’

The electoral register is a key building block for our dem
ocracy, as it provides the fundam

ental record 
of those people entitled to vote at the various elections in the U

K. The current system
 for registering to 

vote has been in operation since the early part of the tw
entieth century. H

ow
ever, the system

 relies on 
trust that those w

ho register to vote are indeed eligible. In the past decade there have been abuses of 
this system

 w
hich have shaken the public’s con!dence in the security of our elections.

In the last Parliam
ent legislation w

as passed to m
ove to a system

 of Individual Electoral Registration, 
requiring each elector to register to vote individually, rather than by household as happens at the 
m

om
ent, and for each elector to provide personal identi!ers w

hich w
ill allow

 each person’s application 
to be veri!ed before they are added to the register.

This W
hite Paper sets out how

 w
e plan to accelerate the im

plem
entation of Individual Electoral 

Registration in line w
ith the C

oalition A
greem

ent and do so in a w
ay that w

ill m
odernise the electoral 

registration system
 so eligible people can register them

selves m
ore easily and in m

any different w
ays. This 

w
ill reduce fraud and help to m

ake the registration system
 m

ore accessible to under-represented groups 
and to those w

ith special requirem
ents, including disabled people.

W
e w

ill speed up the im
plem

entation of Individual Electoral Registration to 2014 – ahead of the 
next U

K Parliam
entary general election.

P
age 44



6 
Individual Electoral Registration

W
e w

ill drop the previous G
overnm

ent’s plans for a voluntary phase leading up to this, saving 
£74m

. Instead w
e w

ill have a transition period w
hich w

ill m
ean that electors w

ho do not 
register under the new

 system
 in 2014 w

ill be carried forw
ard onto that year’s register and w

ill 
not lose their entitlem

ent to vote at the 2015 G
eneral Election.

H
ow

ever all new
 electors, and anyone w

ishing to cast a postal or a proxy vote in 2015, w
ill have 

to be registered under the new
 system

.

W
e also intend to take this opportunity to address the issue of those w

ho are entitled to vote but are 
not on the electoral register. A

t the current tim
e the U

K’s registration rate (at around 90%
) is broadly 

com
parable to sim

ilar countries overseas, how
ever that m

eans a signi!cant num
ber of people are 

m
issing from

 the register. The transition to a new
 system

 of electoral registration allow
s us to take steps 

to address this and m
ake it as easy as possible for people to register.

A
longside the publication of this draft legislation w

e therefore have launched, on tim
e, a series of ‘D

ata 
M

atching’ pilot schem
es. The schem

es w
ill com

pare a num
ber of local electoral registers against different 

public databases to check accuracy and to identify people w
ho m

ay be eligible to register to vote, and 
then invite them

 to apply to register. If these schem
es prove successful w

e w
ill look at how

 this can be 
extended across the country.

Finally this legislation provides us w
ith an opportunity to look at how

 w
e can m

odernise our system
 

of electoral registration to m
ake it easier, m

ore convenient and m
ore ef!cient for people to use and 

adm
inistrators to run. The current system

 has not kept pace w
ith technological advances and is largely 

paper based. This draft legislation w
ill therefore allow

:

Electoral Registration O
f!cers to offer people m

ore choice of how
 to register, including m

aking 
use of online registration;

people to take m
ore control over the veri!cation of their eligibility, in line w

ith the G
overnm

ent’s 
plans announced on 18 M

ay to develop a m
arket of accredited ID

 assurance services; and

in the future, if Parliam
ent is satis!ed w

ith alternative arrangem
ents to put in its place, an end to 

the annual canvass as the prim
ary m

eans of m
aintaining the com

pleteness and accuracy of the 
register.

Proportionate and appropriate use of people’s data is at the heart of these proposals. D
ata w

ill be 
handled securely. People w

ill only be asked to provide the m
inim

um
 additional inform

ation necessary 
for the purposes of checking their eligibility and ensuring the accuracy of the register, and that data w

ill 
only be used for this purpose. N

o additional inform
ation w

ill be placed in the electoral register and the 
register w

ill continue to be created and held locally – there w
ill be no new

 national database.

W
e publish this W

hite Paper and draft legislation for pre-legislative scrutiny and look forw
ard to the 

Political and C
onstitutional Reform

 C
om

m
ittee’s Report. W

hile the next steps are a m
atter for the 

C
om

m
ittee, w

e w
ould w

elcom
e view

s from
 m

em
bers of the public and organisations w

ith an interest in 
our proposals w

hether m
ade to the C

abinet O
f!ce or to the C

om
m

ittee.

 
R

t H
on N

IC
K

 C
L

E
G

G
 M

P
 

M
A

R
K

 H
A

R
P

E
R

 M
P

 
D

eputy P
rim

e M
inister 

M
inister for Political and C

onstitutional R
eform

P
age 45



Individual Electoral Registration 
7

Introduction

In the C
oalition A

greem
ent the G

overnm
ent prom

ised to speed up the im
plem

entation of 
1. 

Individual Electoral Registration (IER) in G
reat Britain. In the last Parliam

ent legislation w
as passed 

to introduce IER on a voluntary basis, before a decision w
ould be taken on w

hether to m
ove to 

a com
pulsory system

. W
e believe that it is im

portant that w
e take steps to restore public trust in 

the security of elections in this Parliam
ent. Therefore the G

overnm
ent is bringing forw

ard this draft 
legislation to set out how

 w
e propose to speed up the introduction of IER and m

ake it com
pulsory 

from
 2014.

These proposals w
ill tackle electoral fraud to restore voters’ con!dence in the system

 by im
proving 

2. 
the accuracy and security of the register, and they w

ill also allow
 the G

overnm
ent to take steps to 

im
prove the com

pleteness of the register. A
round 90%

 of eligible electors are currently registered 
to vote, w

hich com
pares w

ell w
ith other countries, but the com

pleteness of the register could be 
im

proved and w
e are com

m
itted to taking steps to do so.

This year w
e are trialling D

ata M
atching – letting Electoral Registration O

f!cers (ERO
s) com

pare 
3. 

the electoral register w
ith other public sector databases to identify eligible people m

issing from
 the 

register. If successful w
e w

ill roll this out m
ore w

idely to support the m
ove to IER and to im

prove 
the com

pleteness and accuracy of the register.

C
om

pleteness and accuracy of the electoral register are de!ned by the Electoral C
om

m
ission as:

4. 

C
om

pleteness: every person w
ho is entitled to have an entry in an electoral register is 

registered

A
ccuracy: there are no false entries on the electoral registers

1

W
e w

ill also look at how
 w

e can m
ake it sim

pler and m
ore convenient for people to register 

5. 
to vote both to help im

prove registration rates and also to m
ake the system

 m
ore user friendly 

and consistent w
ith how

 people choose to engage w
ith public services today. This w

ill include 
supporting the roll out of online and other channels for registration and exploring scope for 
integrating electoral registration into other services.

1 A
ccuracy excludes m

inor errors, such as the m
isspelling of an elector’s nam

e, w
hich w

ould not prevent an eligible elector 
from

 being able to vote.
P

age 46



8 
Individual Electoral Registration

The estim
ated cost for im

plem
enting IER is £108.3 m

illion. The G
overnm

ent is com
m

itted to fully 
6. 

funding the costs, including costs to local authorities, of the m
ove to IER. W

e w
ill drop the previous 

G
overnm

ent’s plans for a voluntary phase leading up to this, saving £74m
. IER also opens up the 

possibility that the process for registration m
ay be m

ore ef!cient. It m
ay be possible for exam

ple 
to drive further ef!ciencies through opening up new

 channels for electoral registration and 
integrating registration w

ith other transactions. H
ow

ever this is yet to be tested. Full analysis of the 
im

plem
entation costs are set out in the Im

pact A
ssessm

ents, w
hich can be found on the C

abinet 
O

f!ce w
ebsite and are sum

m
arised herein at A

nnex A
.

H
ow

 to respond to this W
hite Paper

C
om

m
ents and view

s are sought from
 as w

ide a range of people as possible on the proposals contained 
in this W

hite Paper. View
s from

 interest groups and m
em

bers of the public are also very w
elcom

e. View
s 

can be subm
itted by Friday 14 O

ctober 2011:

By w
riting to:

Electoral Registration Transform
ation Program

m
e 

A
rea 4/S1 

1 H
orse G

uards Road 
LO

N
D

O
N

 SW
1A

 2H
Q

O
r by e-m

ailing: electoralregistration@
cabinet-of!ce.gsi.gov.uk

Further inform
ation can be found at w

w
w

.cabinet-of!ce.gov.uk

W
hy the current system

 of registration needs to change

Tackling fraud

The current system
 of electoral registration in G

reat Britain is based on an annual household 
7. 

canvass w
hereby each household is asked to provide a list of eligible electors at that address. A

n 
application for registration on a canvass form

 only requires the nam
e, address and nationality of 

each elector (attainers
2 m

ust provide their date of birth) and a signed declaration by the person 
com

pleting the form
 that those nam

ed are eligible to vote. O
utside of the annual canvass process, 

an individual elector m
ay subm

it this inform
ation on a ‘rolling registration’ application form

. N
o 

evidence is currently required of eligibility to vote but an ERO
 m

ay investigate w
here they have 

suspicions about the inform
ation recorded in an application.

In recent years som
e steps have been taken to im

prove the security of elections. The Electoral 
8. 

A
dm

inistration A
ct 2006 introduced a num

ber of m
easures including: 

A
 new

 version of the crim
inal offence of supplying false inform

ation to the ERO
.

A
llow

ing the police m
ore tim

e to carry out investigations into electoral fraud – increased from
 

one to tw
o years.

A
dditionally the A

ct im
proved security around postal votes by:

9. 
2 A

n elector w
ho is not yet 18 years of age m

ust be show
n on the register w

ith the date on w
hich they w

ill attain the age of 
18. Those electors appearing on the register in such a case are called attainers as they are about to attain voting age. The 
date of birth for all 16 and 17 year-olds m

ust be provided on the annual canvass form
.

P
age 47



Individual Electoral Registration 
9

Requiring electors to provide personal identi�ers (signature and date of birth) if they w
ish to 

have a postal vote. Those identi�ers m
ust be replicated by the elector w

hen they subsequently 
cast their postal vote, and can be cross-checked w

ith the original sam
ples to ensure the postal 

vote is valid. The im
plem

ented secondary legislation also m
ade it clear that registration of�cers 

could cross-check personal identi�ers against other records to w
hich the of�cer has access.

Introducing a new
 offence of providing false inform

ation w
hen applying for a postal or proxy 

vote.

W
hile the data available on electoral fraud indicates that it is rare, any fraud in the system

 
10. 

underm
ines public con�dence. D

espite the im
provem

ents introduced by the Electoral 
A

dm
inistration A

ct 2006 there rem
ain a signi�cant num

ber of people w
ho perceive fraud to be a 

problem
 (40%

 of people surveyed for the Electoral C
om

m
ission’s W

inter Research 2010
3) and this 

can have a corrosive effect on trust in our political system
. W

e think the current system
 of electoral 

registration is unacceptably exposed to the risk of fraud.

O
bservers of U

K elections have highlighted concerns about the registration system
 for a num

ber 
11. 

of years. In their Election A
ssessm

ent M
ission Report on the G

eneral Election 2010 (published 
9 July 2010), the O

rganisation for Security and C
o-operation in Europe’s O

f�ce for D
em

ocratic 
Institutions and H

um
an Rights described the voter registration system

 in G
reat Britain as 

the w
eakest link of the electoral process due to the absence of safeguards against �ctitious 

registrations. 4 They recom
m

end that:

“Consideration should be given to introducing an identi�cation requirem
ent for voters w

hen applying for 
registration as a safeguard against fraudulent registration.”

In 2007 a report by the C
om

m
ittee for Standards in Public Life recom

m
ended that a system

 of 
12. 

IER should be introduced for the rest of the U
K follow

ing the next G
eneral Election or by 2010, 

arguing that it w
ould m

ake the register m
ore accurate. Since 2003 the Electoral C

om
m

ission 
has recom

m
ended the introduction of IER to im

prove the quality of the electoral register. 5 The 
A

ssociation of Electoral A
dm

inistrators (A
EA

), Society for Local A
uthority C

hief Executives 
(SO

LA
C

E) and the European C
om

m
ission for D

em
ocracy through Law

 (the Venice C
om

m
ission) 

have also m
ade representations calling for the introduction of IER.

M
aintaining a m

ore accurate and com
plete register w

ill deliver bene�ts beyond addressing the 
13. 

potential for fraud in elections. The full register is already m
ade available under current legislation 

to a num
ber of governm

ent organisations for of�cial purposes, and the edited version of the 
full register is available to anyone for any purpose. In addition the full register is also supplied to 
credit reference agencies to assist �nancial institutions in the U

K to verify a person’s identity w
hen 

processing an application for credit or opening a bank account.

Placing a false identity on the electoral register has been assessed as an im
portant stage in identity 

14. 
fraud, w

hich is in turn linked to �nancial crim
e. There is evidence that individual crim

inals and 
organised crim

e groups exploit electoral registration to create false identities, enabling a range 
of crim

inal activities including m
ortgage fraud, fraudulently applying for banking products and/or 

passing credit checks, and fraudulently gaining access to state bene�ts. A
 recent M

etropolitan Police 
Service (M

PS) and N
ational Fraud Initiative analysis of 29,000 strands of identity data found on 

3 http://w
w

w
.electoralcom

m
ission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_�le/0005/108869/2010-Public-O

pinion-W
inter-Research-Topline.pdf

4 Page 11 http://w
w

w
.osce.org/docum

ents/odihr/2010/07/45252_en.pdf
5 The Electoral Registration Process: Report and recom

m
endations June 2003

P
age 48



10 
Individual Electoral Registration

forged and counterfeit docum
ents show

ed that 13,214 (45.6%
) of these w

ere positive m
atches on 

electoral register entries. The lack of a robust veri�cation processes for electoral registration creates 
a key vulnerability to �nancial fraud.

IER should help to root out those w
ho attem

pt to register �ctitious identities w
ith the aim

 of 
15. 

com
m

itting �nancial fraud. O
ngoing discussions w

ith the Serious O
rganised C

rim
e A

gency, the 
A

ssociation of C
hief Police O

f�cers and the M
etropolitan Police are helping us to understand the 

value fraudsters place on getting on the electoral register and how
 w

e can protect the register 
from

 potential attacks. W
e are also w

orking closely w
ith those bodies to ensure that the system

 for 
electoral registration is as robust and secure as possible.

Im
proving electoral registration rates

In addition to trust and security, ensuring the electoral register is as com
plete as possible is central 

16. 
to the credibility of our electoral system

 and the basis for our dem
ocratic processes. Everyone 

w
ho w

ants to be on the electoral register – and has the right to be – should be able to register 
easily and sim

ply. It is not com
pulsory to vote in our elections and nor w

ill w
e com

pel people, 
so it is sensible that registering to vote should be also be a choice for the individual concerned. 
A

s reported by the Electoral C
om

m
ission in M

arch 2010 registration rates in England and W
ales 

(!gure 1) are com
parable to other sim

ilar developed countries (no data is available for Scotland), 
but w

e can and should do m
ore to encourage people to register.

Figure 1 International com
parisons of electoral registration levels

6

C
ountry

Year
R

ate
Year

R
ate

England and W
ales

2000
91%

*
*

C
anada

2000
93%

2007
94%

N
ew

 Z
ealand

2000
92%

2007
95%

France
2001

90%
2007

91%
A

ustralia
2002

95%
2008

92%
U

SA
2002

67%
2007

68%

*no com
parable data available for England and W

ales

The Electoral C
om

m
ission has published data on the extent of under-registration. In Septem

ber 
17. 

2005 it published research w
hich com

pared electoral registers in England and W
ales against the 

2001 C
ensus and Labour Force Survey. 7 Based on this w

ork the best estim
ate for non registration 

am
ong the eligible household population in England and W

ales at 15 O
ctober 2000 (the qualifying 

date for the February 2001 register) w
as betw

een 8%
 and 9%

 – an estim
ated 3.5 m

illion people 
across England and W

ales.

M
ore recently the C

om
m

ission’s Report: 
18. 

The com
pleteness and accuracy of electoral registers in G

reat 
Britain

8, published in M
arch 2010, exam

ined evidence from
 electoral statistics and surveys of levels 

of response to the annual canvass. By undertaking house to house surveys the Report found a 

6 http://w
w

w
.electoralcom

m
ission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_�le/0019/83305/Interim

-report-on-case-study-research-into-the-
electoral-registers-of-G

reat-Britain.pdf
7 U

nderstanding Registration: http://w
w

w
.electoralcom

m
ission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_�le/0020/47252/U

ndreg-
FIN

A
L_18366-13545__E__N

__S__W
__.pdf

8 http://w
w

w
.electoralcom

m
ission.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_�le/0019/83305/Interim

-report-on-case-study-research-into-the-
electoral-registers-of-G

reat-Britain.pdf
P

age 49



Individual Electoral Registration 
11

broadly sim
ilar level of com

pleteness and identi�ed those groups m
ost likely to be m

issing from
 the 

register as young people, hom
e m

overs, and certain Black and M
inority Ethnic G

roups.

W
hile w

e know
 there is a problem

, these �gures do not give the G
overnm

ent or Parliam
ent a 

19. 
suf�cient basis on w

hich to judge the im
pact of IER, nor how

 best to shape the policy. The 3.5 
m

illion �gure is still w
idely used but it is based on data that is now

 over 10 years old and only 
relates to England and W

ales. There is no recent national data on the accuracy of the electoral 
register and it is im

portant w
e understand the scale of inaccurate entries on the register w

hich 
should com

e off as IER is introduced. To address this problem
 w

e are w
orking w

ith the Electoral 
C

om
m

ission to create a clear set of data on the com
pleteness and accuracy of the electoral 

register at the present tim
e. W

e w
ill be funding the C

om
m

ission to carry out a national study of 
com

pleteness and accuracy. The C
om

m
ission w

ill publish its �ndings before the end of 2011 and 
before Parliam

ent legislates on the issue. This data is critical in understanding the starting point on 
both accuracy and com

pleteness.

C
urrent legislation m

akes provision for the testing of D
ata M

atching Schem
es to test w

hether 
20. 

ERO
s can use public databases to identify people eligible to vote but m

issing from
 the register so 

they can invite them
 to register. W

orking w
ith ERO

s the G
overnm

ent has launched a num
ber of 

pilot schem
es to test a range of public databases, and should be in a position by early next year to 

assess w
hether these schem

es should be rolled out m
ore w

idely.

D
ata M

atching Schem
es

There are around 20 pilot schem
es running betw

een now
 and N

ovem
ber. Betw

een them
 they w

ill 
com

pare electoral registers w
ith a range of data from

 public authorities including the D
epartm

ent for 
W

ork and Pensions, the D
epartm

ent for Transport, the D
epartm

ent for Education, H
M

 Revenue and 
Custom

s, the D
epartm

ent for Business, Innovation and Skills and the M
inistry of D

efence. Electoral 
Registration O

f�cers w
ill be able to tell the G

overnm
ent w

hat difference m
atching nam

es and 
addresses m

akes to their ability to im
prove the accuracy and com

pleteness of the electoral register. If 
D

ata M
atching identi�es individuals w

ho are not already on the register then the Electoral Registration 
O

f�cer w
ill be able to offer them

 the opportunity to apply to register. It is the choice of the individual 
w

hether to apply to register to vote. If D
ata M

atching identi�es nam
es on the register that are not 

found elsew
here then the Electoral Registration O

f�cer w
ill be able to investigate w

hether those entries 
are legitim

ate.

M
odernising our system

 of registration

The current system
 of electoral registration is over 100 years old and G

reat Britain is alm
ost 

21. 
alone in retaining a system

 of household registration. The processes for m
aintaining the register 

are largely postal and paper based and are increasingly out of line w
ith how

 people choose to 
access services and carry out transactions w

ith G
overnm

ent. W
e w

ill therefore also take this 
opportunity to change our legislation on electoral registration to put in place a fram

ew
ork w

hich 
re!ects m

ore closely how
 people choose to engage w

ith G
overnm

ent and create !exibility for the 
system

 to keep pace w
ith technological developm

ents. This w
ill help to m

ake registration easier, 
m

ore convenient, and m
ore ef�cient, opening the w

ay for other m
ethods of registration such as 

by telephone or online. H
ow

ever w
hilst w

e are keen to look at how
 IT and online processes can 

assist in the registration process and elsew
here, w

e are not looking at electronic voting (e-voting) 
m

echanism
s.

P
age 50



12 
Individual Electoral Registration

The proposals in this W
hite Paper, enabled by the draft legislation, include:

22. 

giving people greater choice by allow
ing ERO

s to open up new
 secure channels for electoral 

registration, for exam
ple online registration;

m
aking it possible to integrate electoral registration into other of!cial transactions w

hich could 
m

ake registering to vote m
ore convenient, save tim

e and reach out to people not currently on 
the register;

allow
ing the process for veri!cation to change in future to re"ect the G

overnm
ent’s plans to 

develop a m
arket of Identity A

uthentication providers, w
hich w

ill give people m
ore control over 

this process; and

enabling Parliam
ent to take a decision in the future, inform

ed by evidence and experience, on 
w

hether to end the annual canvass and replace it w
ith a m

ore effective and ef!cient w
ay to 

m
aintain the electoral register.

These proposals are outlined in m
ore detail in paragraph 33 onw

ards.
23. 

H
andling personal data

The electoral register currently contains the nam
es and addresses of each person registered to 

24. 
vote, along w

ith the date at w
hich any ‘attainers’ w

ill reach the age of 18. W
ith the introduction of 

IER there w
ill be no change to the data currently included in the electoral register. Each electoral 

register is created and then held by 386 ERO
s in local authorities across G

reat Britain. 9 This w
ill 

rem
ain the case and there w

ill be no new
 national database created.

W
e anticipate, although the draft legislation is "exible enough to allow

 changes to the inform
ation 

25. 
requested from

 people, that in the early period of IER the process for electoral registration w
ill 

require each person to register individually and to provide ERO
s w

ith their N
ational Insurance 

N
um

ber (N
IN

O
) and their date of birth (D

O
B) – or alternative identi!cation if they are unable 

or unw
illing to provide this inform

ation. This data w
ill be handled securely by ERO

s and m
isuse 

w
ill be subject to a !ne or custodial sentence. A

t the end of the process of veri!cation the N
IN

O
 

data held by the ERO
 w

ill be deleted; how
ever w

e propose that ERO
s should retain the data on 

D
O

B (but it should not be included in the register itself) to enable a m
ore accurate com

parison 
of entries to allow

 ineligible duplicate entries to be rem
oved, as w

ell as potentially supporting data 
m

atching. W
e believe these arrangem

ents are proportionate and strike the right balance betw
een 

privacy, security and m
aintaining the quality and accuracy of the electoral register, but w

e w
ould 

w
elcom

e view
s on this as part of pre-legislative scrutiny.

9 In N
orthern Ireland the C

hief Electoral O
f!cer is responsible for creating and m

aintaining the electoral register.
P

age 51



Individual Electoral Registration 
13

Individual Electoral Registration in N
orthern Ireland

IER w
as im

plem
ented in N

orthern Ireland in 2002, requiring all electors to register individually 
by providing personal identi!ers: N

IN
O

, D
O

B and signature. The system
 is centralised and 

responsibility for electoral registration lies w
ith the C

hief Electoral O
f!cer for N

orthern Ireland. 
In 2006 the requirem

ent to conduct annual canvasses in N
orthern Ireland ceased and w

as 
replaced w

ith continuous registration m
eaning the elector w

ould take responsibility for updating 
their entry in the register on an ongoing basis. D

ata M
atching and targeted canvassing is used 

to help identify electors w
ho have m

oved and others w
ho m

ay not be registered.  The C
hief 

Electoral O
f!cer for N

orthern Ireland m
ust conduct a com

plete canvass every 10 years. In 
addition, although not as a consequence of the introduction of IER, an applicant m

ust have been 
resident in N

orthern Ireland for the preceding three m
onths and the C

hief Electoral O
f!cer m

ay 
ask for evidence of this, such as a utility bill or bank statem

ent.

The introduction of IER in N
orthern Ireland has greatly im

proved public con!dence in the security 
26. 

and accuracy of the register. There w
ere som

e concerns that the increased security requirem
ents 

and the need for people to register individually w
ere causing a decline in the num

bers registered, 
particularly am

ongst young people. A
dditional provision w

as therefore m
ade to allow

 the C
hief 

Electoral O
f!cer to target under-represented groups for registration, in particular providing for 

increased data sharing betw
een other public authorities and the C

hief Electoral O
f!cer.

O
verall IER has been a success in N

orthern Ireland, but there are im
portant lessons w

hich the rest 
27. 

of the U
K should learn from

 the N
orthern Ireland experience. The m

ost im
portant, w

hich w
e have 

re"ected in the plans outlined in this W
hite Paper, is how

 w
e m

anage the transition to IER including 
the risk that eligible people fall off the register during transition. For this reason w

e propose a 
special ‘carry forw

ard’ provision w
hich w

ill m
ean that a person already on the register w

ho fails to 
register under the new

 system
 w

ill not be rem
oved from

 the register ahead of the next G
eneral 

Election. This w
ill m

ean that existing electors w
ill have m

ore than one opportunity to register under 
the new

 system
. This is dealt w

ith in detail in paragraphs 76 to 78.

In addition it w
ill not be a requirem

ent for each person to re-register and provide personal 
28. 

identi!ers each year. A
s m

entioned above w
e are also testing D

ata M
atching to understand 

w
hether this w

ill help add m
ore eligible people to the electoral register.

Aligning N
orthern Ireland legislation on IER w

ith the rest of the U
K

The m
ove to IER in 2002 has resulted in a substantial body of separate legislative provision 

29. 
relating to electoral registration in N

orthern Ireland alone. The introduction of IER in G
reat Britain 

w
ill allow

 for N
orthern Ireland law

 in this area to be once again m
ore closely assim

ilated w
ith 

m
ainstream

 U
K law

. D
etail on som

e of the m
ain differences betw

een the electoral registration 
processes of N

orthern Ireland and G
reat Britain follow

:

Registration – in N
orthern Ireland, an applicant m

ust provide identifying inform
ation as part of 

the application process. This system
 w

ill be adopted in G
reat Britain w

hen IER is im
plem

ented 
but our current intention is that a signature w

ill not be collected (see paragraph 50).

Proof of Identity – in N
orthern Ireland the C

hief Electoral O
f!cer m

ay ask an applicant to 
provide physical evidence of their nam

e and D
O

B; for exam
ple a birth certi!cate, driving licence 

or passport. In G
reat Britain no such evidence is required and nor w

ill it be a requirem
ent under 

P
age 52



14 
Individual Electoral Registration

IER, although there m
ay be form

s of evidence required if a person is unable or unw
illing to 

provide a N
ational Insurance N

um
ber.

Proof of address – in N
orthern Ireland the C

hief Electoral O
f�cer m

ay ask an applicant to 
provide physical evidence (for exam

ple a driving licence or bank statem
ent) that they are living 

at the address stated on their application form
. N

o evidence of address is required in G
reat 

Britain but w
hen IER is introduced the ERO

 w
ill have to establish a link betw

een the individual 
and the address.

There are tw
o im

portant factors that w
ill need to be considered on assim

ilating law
. The �rst 

30. 
relates to tim

ing and w
hen N

orthern Ireland should effectively ‘opt-in’ to the overall U
K IER system

. 
C

learly w
ith IER already in operation, there w

ill be no need for N
orthern Ireland to participate in 

any U
K w

ide roll out. It w
ould be m

ore appropriate for N
orthern Ireland to be able to opt in to 

the U
K w

ide schem
e w

hen IER has bedded-in fully in G
reat Britain. H

ow
ever, space should also be 

allow
ed for discussions to take place w

ith the C
hief Electoral O

f�cer, the Electoral C
om

m
ission and 

G
overnm

ent on the appropriate tim
e for N

orthern Ireland to be governed by the provisions as set 
out in this draft legislation rather than the existing N

orthern Ireland provisions of the 1983 A
ct.

Secondly, it is possible that som
e N

orthern Ireland speci�c provision m
ay still be required to deal 

31. 
w

ith the unique circum
stances there. For exam

ple early discussions w
ith the C

hief Electoral O
f�cer 

have indicated that there m
ay still be a case for retaining the need for signatures in N

orthern 
Ireland and that m

uch m
ore w

ork w
ill need to be done on the im

plications of rem
oving this 

requirem
ent from

 prim
ary legislation. A

ny positive or negative change in the security situation m
ay 

also require the addition or rem
oval of N

orthern Ireland speci�c legislative protections.

There is currently no provision in this draft legislation to m
ake any changes to the legislation w

hich 
32. 

applies in N
orthern Ireland arising from

 the introduction of IER in the rest of the U
K. H

ow
ever it 

is our intention to allow
 for such a provision in the �nal legislation. There are a num

ber of w
ays in 

w
hich this m

ight be achieved that need to be considered further, but it is likely that this m
ay include 

an order m
aking pow

er to m
ake the necessary am

endm
ents. In the m

eantim
e, w

e w
ould 

w
elcom

e any view
s on the best approach to take on this issue.

P
age 53



Individual Electoral Registration 
15

T
he D

etailed Proposals

The current system
 of electoral registration

C
urrently 387 Registration O

f!cers m
aintain electoral registers containing over 46 m

illion elector 
33. 

records across the U
K. In G

reat Britain there is no central database of elector records and nor do 
w

e have any plans to introduce one. The m
anagem

ent of electoral registration is a function best 
carried out by ERO

s because they best understand the needs of their areas.

The system
 for registering to vote in G

reat Britain has rem
ained substantially the sam

e since 
34. 

the early tw
entieth century. Electors register to vote through the annual canvass of households 

conducted by ERO
s in the autum

n of each year. Since 2001 electors have also been able to 
register at any tim

e throughout the year under a system
 know

n as ‘rolling registration’. In 2006 this 
system

 w
as adapted to allow

 electors to register up to 11 w
orking days before an election w

hen 
previously it w

ould have been 6 to 8 w
eeks.

The purpose of the annual canvass is to help ERO
s to m

aintain their registers by identifying 
35. 

persons w
ho are eligible to be included but are not registered, and those w

ho are registered but 
no longer eligible. C

anvass form
s are often pre-populated w

ith the inform
ation from

 the current 
register and a m

em
ber of each household is required to either am

end or con!rm
 the inform

ation. 
The canvass form

s are dispatched to households by post and the household m
ay con!rm

 details 
by post (and in m

any cases by telephone, SM
S text or the internet w

here no changes have 
occurred). If changes are recorded on the form

 then it m
ust be signed and returned to the ERO

. 
There is no facility that allow

s for this inform
ation on changes to the register to be subm

itted in 
any other form

at. The register is com
piled from

 these returned canvass form
s and published by 1 

D
ecem

ber each year. W
here a registered elector does not respond to the canvass they m

ay be 
carried forw

ard onto the new
 register for one year w

here an ERO
 has no evidence that they are 

no longer resident at that address.

O
utside of the canvass period eligible electors can register using the rolling registration process, 

36. 
w

here they com
plete a form

 individually and send it to the ERO
. These are processed and updates 

to the register are published each m
onth from

 January to Septem
ber. A

pplications received after 
the expiry date for the Septem

ber register w
ill be included in the register published on conclusion 

of the annual canvass.

P
age 54



16 
Individual Electoral Registration

The ERO
 is required to consider the content of each application for registration and m

ake a 
37. 

determ
ination on its inclusion in the electoral register based on a person’s age, residence and 

nationality. C
urrently for both the canvass and the rolling registration processes no proof of 

eligibility is required, although an ERO
 m

ay refuse to register a person if it does not appear that the 
applicant is eligible.

U
nder the Representation of the People A

ct 1983 those entitled to register to vote at U
K 

38. 
Parliam

entary Elections are British citizens, ‘qualifying’ citizens of C
om

m
onw

ealth countries (those 
w

ho have ‘leave to rem
ain’ in the U

K or do not require such leave) and citizens of the Republic 
of Ireland. These citizens are also entitled to register to vote in European Parliam

entary and local 
elections, as are EU

 citizens. If the ERO
 determ

ines that an application m
eets these criteria, and that 

the applicant w
ill be over 18 or reach the age of 18 w

ithin a year of the forthcom
ing 1st D

ecem
ber 

and is resident in the ERO
’s area, then this person w

ill be included in the electoral register.

A
pplications for registration m

ade under rolling registration are subject to a !ve w
orking day 

39. 
objection period, w

hich allow
s another person to m

ake an objection to the ERO
 about an 

applicant’s pending inclusion in the electoral register before the ERO
 m

akes a determ
ination. 

A
pplications to register m

ade on the canvass form
 are not subject to the !ve day objection period 

and the determ
ination is m

ade by the ERO
 during the canvass period. H

ow
ever once an elector is 

included in the register another person can m
ake an objection to the ERO

 at any tim
e, prom

pting 
a review

 of the registration concerned.

For certain special categories of electors a different system
 is in place. These electors are prim

arily 
40. 

those w
ho do not m

eet the residence quali!cation required for registration as an ordinary elector 
but m

ay still obtain registration due to their particular circum
stances. Special category electors 

include:

overseas electors, w
ho can be de!ned as British citizens resident outside the U

K;

H
M

 Forces Service voters;

C
row

n servants and British C
ouncil em

ployees;

declaration of local connection electors, w
ho include people living in the U

K but w
ho have no 

perm
anent address or have no residential address; and

anonym
ously registered electors, de!ned as those w

ho can register anonym
ously because their 

safety w
ould be at risk if their nam

e appeared on the register.

Im
plem

enting IER in G
reat Britain

In developing these plans for im
plem

entation of IER w
e have consulted w

ith various stakeholders 
41. 

including the Electoral C
om

m
ission, A

EA
, SO

LA
C

E and devolved adm
inistrations. In addition, w

e 
have held discussions w

ith organisations that have an interest in electoral m
atters, as w

ell as groups 
w

ho represent those least likely to be registered to vote, or w
ho have speci!c requirem

ents, 
including Scope and RN

IB. To ensure data is handled securely w
e have discussed our proposals w

ith 
the Inform

ation C
om

m
issioner’s O

f!ce and organisations concerned about privacy. W
e are very 

grateful to all those w
ho have contributed to these proposals and look forw

ard to continuing our 
w

ork w
ith them

 as w
e develop detailed plans for im

plem
entation. W

e also invite view
s from

 
those w

ho have not yet had the opportunity to engage w
ith us.

P
age 55



Individual Electoral Registration 
17

This draft legislation inserts new
 sections into the RPA

 1983 to im
plem

ent IER in G
reat Britain and 

42. 
replaces the legislation on IER passed by Parliam

ent in the Political Parties and Elections A
ct 2009. 

The legislation deals !rst w
ith the new

 requirem
ents for individual registration and veri!cation 

process (clauses 1 and 2), follow
ed by the provisions relating to proxies, the annual canvass, 

transitional arrangem
ents and then the m

ore consequential and technical changes (although it 
should be noted that the draft legislation does not include the com

prehensive consequential 
am

endm
ents to other legislation that w

ould be included in a full bill).

In sum
m

ary the m
easures set out in this draft legislation w

ill:
43. 

set out the steps an elector m
ust take to apply to register under IER;

enable provision for the veri!cation of electors m
aking applications under IER;

set out how
 the annual canvass w

ill operate w
hen IER is in force;

set out the transitional arrangem
ents for 2014 and 2015;

provide for a pow
er to am

end or abolish the annual canvass, subject to a further decision by 
Parliam

ent; and

repeal sections 30-34 of the Political Parties and Elections A
ct 2009 (PPE A

ct) concerning the 
previous voluntary and com

pulsory schem
e of IER that has not been com

m
enced.

Applications for registration (Clause 1 and Schedule 1)

W
hen IER is introduced, an application for registration m

ust be m
ade by each person individually 

44. 
to the ERO

 for the area in w
hich they are applying to be registered. It w

ill be a m
atter of choice for 

the individual if they w
ish to register. To help ensure form

s are of a consistent standard and are user 
tested it is proposed that ERO

s w
ill provide potential electors w

ith form
s in a form

at designed by 
the Electoral C

om
m

ission for the purpose of registering.

To ensure that a range of channels for registration can be offered, and that the system
 can adapt 

45. 
to future developm

ents, clause 1 has been drafted so that alternative w
ays of applying can be 

prescribed in secondary legislation. It is the G
overnm

ent’s intention that this w
ill enable ERO

s to 
accept individual applications, for exam

ple, by telephone or online. O
n receipt of an application for 

registration it m
ust appear to the ERO

 that the person m
aking the application is eligible, and that 

the application is being m
ade by the person w

ho is nam
ed. D

etails on how
 the process w

ill be 
carried are set out in paragraphs 47 to 52 below

.

W
e w

ould be grateful for view
s on w

hether this clause provides an appropriate 
46. 

legislative basis for the introduction of IE
R

 and the !exibility required for 
developm

ent of new
 channels for registration.

Veri!cation of entitlem
ent to register (Clause 2)

A
 key elem

ent of the new
 system

 of registration is that an ERO
 should be satis!ed that each 

47. 
application for inclusion in the electoral register is m

ade in respect of a person w
ho is eligible to 

register (including that the person actually exists), and that the person m
aking the application is 

the person w
ho is the subject of the application. A

s now
, an ERO

 should also be satis!ed that the 

P
age 56



18 
Individual Electoral Registration

address in respect of w
hich the application is m

ade is genuine, but the process for registration 
should also establish that there is evidence of a connection betw

een the individual and the address 
to determ

ine residence.

A
n appropriate balance m

ust be struck betw
een security and accessibility. The process for 

48. 
registration m

ust rem
ain easy to understand and be universally accessible, but m

ust be suf!ciently 
robust to tackle fraud. C

lause 2 of the draft legislation w
ill achieve this by am

ending Schedule 2 of 
the RPA

 1983 to provide pow
ers to set out in regulations detail on the contents of an application 

for registration, including the evidence an elector m
ust provide for the purpose of veri!cation.

A
s part of the process of registration each individual w

ill therefore be required to provide 
49. 

identifying inform
ation as part of an application to register to enable the ERO

 to satisfy these 
requirem

ents. O
ur starting point, w

hich is sim
ilar to the arrangem

ents in the 2009 legislation, is 
to require each person to provide their N

IN
O

 and D
O

B. The N
IN

O
 and D

O
B can be checked 

against D
epartm

ent for W
ork and Pensions (D

W
P) or H

M
 Revenue &

 C
ustom

s (H
M

RC
) data 

to allow
 the ERO

 to assure him
self that the application is m

ade in respect of a real person. The 
identifying inform

ation should also satisfy an ERO
 that the person m

aking the application is indeed 
the person w

ho is the subject of the application. It is our intention to set out these requirem
ents in 

regulations m
ade under clause 2.

W
e have considered w

hether the requirem
ent in the 2009 A

ct to provide a signature should 
50. 

rem
ain. O

ur current intention is not to include this as a requirem
ent because it does not add 

any signi!cant security to an application nor is there the facility to verify the authenticity of the 
signature. D

ropping this requirem
ent w

ill also enable registrations to be m
ade through new

 
channels such as online or by telephone. H

ow
ever w

e w
ill continue to w

ork w
ith the Police and 

others to ensure that the new
 processes are as robust as possible. The legislation retains the option 

for a signature to be prescribed in regulations.

Regulations w
ill also set out details on the exceptions process that ERO

s m
ust follow

 in respect of 
51. 

those w
ho are unable or are unw

illing to provide the speci!ed identifying inform
ation, or w

hose 
identifying inform

ation is not successfully veri!ed w
hen checked. It is im

portant that this process 
is equally accessible and robust. Such electors w

ill therefore be asked to provide other form
s of 

evidence to satisfy the ERO
 such as a passport, photo driving licence, or other form

s of approved 
docum

entation to be listed in the regulations. O
ur current thinking is that this w

ill require tw
o 

item
s from

 a speci!ed list, including photographic identi!cation; w
here an elector is unable to 

provide this an alternative w
ould be to require non-photographic identi!cation com

bined w
ith 

attendance at the electoral of!ce. W
e w

ill study the approach taken in N
orthern Ireland w

here 
electors m

ust already provide evidence to prove that they are resident but m
ay sign a declaration 

if they are unable to provide any of their identifying inform
ation. W

e w
ill also seek input from

 
Electoral A

dm
inistrators and others as w

e develop these proposals.

In tim
e other form

s of veri!cation m
ay becom

e available w
hich m

eans that a person m
ay not 

52. 
be required to produce their N

IN
O

 and D
O

B w
hen m

aking a new
 application to register – the 

legislation has been drafted w
ith this in m

ind. O
n 18 M

ay 2011 the G
overnm

ent announced 
plans for the developm

ent of a consistent, custom
er-centric approach to digital identity assurance 

across all public services. The intention is to create a m
arket of certi!ed identity assurance services 

delivered by a range of private sector and m
utualised suppliers so that people w

ill be able to use 
the service of their choice to prove their identity w

hen accessing any public service. The draft 
legislation w

ill allow
 digital identity assurance to be used in future to verify an application to be 

added to the electoral register. A
dditionally it m

ay be possible for veri!cation to take place at local 
P

age 57



Individual Electoral Registration 
19

authority level using sim
ilar local arrangem

ents. W
e w

ill m
onitor these developm

ents w
ith a view

 to 
im

proving the veri�cation process if it helps to sim
plify the system

 and encourages m
ore people to 

register.

N
ew

 offence

A
s m

entioned above, the G
overnm

ent w
ill put secure handling of personal data at the heart of 

53. 
the new

 system
. W

e are therefore proposing to introduce a new
 offence in regulations relating to 

the disclosure of any inform
ation provided for veri�cation purposes – w

hether that is provided 
by the applicant, or provided by another authority (e.g. D

W
P) in response to a veri�cation check. 

This w
ould ensure robust protection for identifying inform

ation appropriate to the sensitivity of the 
inform

ation concerned. This offence w
ould carry an appropriate penalty consistent w

ith the sim
ilar 

offences relating to the unlaw
ful disclosure of inform

ation under provisions in the Political Parties 
and Elections A

ct 2009. The level at w
hich the penalty is set re!ects the penalty for the unlaw

ful 
disclosure of personal inform

ation held by the D
epartm

ent for W
ork and Pensions.

Address veri!cation

A
s outlined above another key elem

ent of veri�cation is that the address is a genuine one and that 
54. 

there is evidence of a connection established betw
een the person and the address to determ

ine 
residence.

ERO
s are already required to ensure that addresses on their register are m

atched w
ith those on 

55. 
their Local Land and Property G

azetteer. This has helped ERO
s to verify that addresses at w

hich 
people seek to apply to register are genuine residential addresses. This should continue to be 
suf�cient for the purposes of the new

 legislation.

W
e envisage that evidence of a connection betw

een an individual and an address should be 
56. 

established either by an individual responding to a direct invitation by an ERO
 w

hich has been 
sent to a know

n address (for exam
ple via the current canvass process), or w

here an unsolicited 
application takes place (for exam

ple online), by the ERO
 seeking con�rm

ation of registration 
by w

riting to the individual at their address. The ERO
 w

ill create an audit trail through sending a 
docum

ent containing a unique identifying num
ber (U

IN
), or code, in the post to the applicant. The 

applicant w
ill be required to return the U

IN
 or code to activate their registration. Processes w

ill 
need to ensure that a U

IN
 or code sent by post is not re-directed to another address because 

the value of this process lies in the fact that the post is delivered to and returned from
 a speci�c 

physical location.

In future it m
ay be possible to dispense w

ith this stage if veri�cation of address can be carried out 
57. 

by other m
eans. In the m

eantim
e w

e w
ould appreciate view

s on w
hether this should 

form
 part of the registration process and any im

pacts of requiring it.

Checking nationality

W
hen IER com

es into force electors w
ill be required to provide their nationality (as now

) and their 
58. 

im
m

igration status w
here relevant in their application form

, so that the ERO
 can determ

ine their 
entitlem

ent to be registered. U
nder current legislation an ERO

 can request evidence of nationality 
from

 an applicant at any tim
e. H

ow
ever w

e are exploring w
hether ERO

s can be given a facility to 
check nationality and im

m
igration status w

ith the U
nited Kingdom

 Border A
gency or another entity. 

W
e w

ould w
elcom

e view
s on w

hether the current system
 is suf!cient for checking 

nationality or w
hether it should be im

proved.
P

age 58



20 
Individual Electoral Registration

D
estruction of records

C
lause 2 w

ill allow
 for the creation of regulations governing the retention and destruction of 

59. 
records associated w

ith IER to ensure that personal inform
ation, such as the N

IN
O

 or paper 
version of an application for registration, are not held for longer than it is needed. W

e anticipate 
that once an application has been veri!ed the applicant’s N

IN
O

 w
ill be destroyed w

ithin a period 
of 6 m

onths. H
ow

ever w
e w

ish ERO
s to retain the D

O
B as this w

ould be used to help to identify 
ineligible duplicate entries in another ERO

’s register and m
ake the process of data m

atching the 
electoral register against other data sources easier.

If a person is resident in m
ore than one place, dual registrations in the electoral register are 

60. 
allow

ed. For exam
ple students or persons w

orking aw
ay from

 hom
e. H

ow
ever w

here an entry 
rem

ains in the register but a person has m
oved or registered at m

ultiple addresses this m
ay cause 

inaccuracies in the register that should be identi!ed and rem
oved. C

hecking a com
m

on nam
e in all 

electoral registers could create thousands of m
atches m

aking the process of identifying ineligible 
duplicate entries im

possible. H
ow

ever the D
O

B w
ould reduce the num

ber of m
atches signi!cantly 

and help to identify those ineligible duplicate entries that should be review
ed.

Provisions for the transition to the new
 system

 in 2014 and 2015 (Schedule 3)

The transition to IER m
ust be handled carefully. Schedule 3 of the legislation details how

 the 
61. 

transition to IER w
ill operate, including the canvass processes in 2014 and 2015. Learning from

 the 
experience of the overnight transition to IER in N

orthern Ireland w
e have designed a system

 that 
w

ill run over tw
o annual canvasses from

 2014, putting in place a safeguard for the G
eneral Election 

in 2015 so that existing electors w
ho fail to register under IER in 2014 are not rem

oved from
 the 

register. A
dditionally from

 2015 the annual canvass w
hich is only m

andatory in N
orthern Ireland 

every 10 years, w
ill continue to check the accuracy and com

pleteness of the electoral register. 
Follow

ing the canvass in 2014 the electoral register w
ill consist of electors w

ho have m
ade an 

individual application under the new
 system

 as w
ell as electors registered before 2014 but w

ho 
have not yet registered under IER. U

pon conclusion of the 2015 canvass the electoral register w
ill 

consist only of electors w
ho have been registered under IER, save for som

e Service voters – see 
paragraph 98 below

. Full details of the transitional arrangem
ents are outlined below

.

In respect of other categories of electors: overseas electors, H
M

 Forces Service voters, C
row

n 
62. 

servants and British C
ouncil em

ployees, electors anonym
ously registered, electors m

aking a 
declaration of local connection, such as prisoners held on rem

and in a penal institution and those 
registering as resident at a m

ental hospital or w
here they are held on rem

and (this does not apply 
to convicted prisoners) the process w

ill be the sam
e as it is now

. The legislation covering such 
registrations w

ill continue to fall outside of the annual canvass arrangem
ents and last for a !xed 

period of tim
e.

Am
endm

ent to current offences

It is currently an offence to fail to com
ply w

ith a request for inform
ation from

 an ERO
, or to give 

63. 
false inform

ation to an ERO
. A

ny person that refuses to supply inform
ation is liable to a m

axim
um

 
!ne of £1,000 under Regulation 23 of the Representation of the People (England and W

ales) 
Regulations 2001 and the Representation of the People (Scotland) Regulations 2001 (RPR 2001).

W
hile w

e strongly encourage people to register to vote the G
overnm

ent believes the act is one 
64. 

of personal choice and as such there should be no com
pulsion placed on an individual to m

ake an 
application to register to vote. H

ow
ever it is im

portant that everyone is given the opportunity to 
P

age 59



Individual Electoral Registration 
21

register and understands w
hat they m

ust do if they w
ant to apply. U

pon im
plem

entation of IER in 
2014 it w

ill therefore be a personal choice w
hether to respond to the ERO

’s request to com
plete 

an IER application form
.

The situation is different for a household canvass. If one m
em

ber of the household does not reply it 
65. 

has the potential to disenfranchise others in the household w
ho m

ay be eligible to register to vote 
and for this reason w

e intend that the current offence under Regulation 23 of the RPR 2001 and 
the equivalent in Scotland w

ill apply to the household canvass only, thus allow
ing those w

ho fail to 
respond to an enquiry to be prosecuted, but not to those w

ho choose not to return an individual 
application form

.

A
nnual C

anvass – 2014

U
nder these proposals the !rst IER canvass w

ill begin on 1 July 2014 and conclude w
hen the 

66. 
revised register is published by 1 D

ecem
ber 2014. From

 1 July 2014 onw
ards an ERO

 w
ill send a 

personally addressed IER application form
 to every elector on their register. The canvass w

ill no 
longer be tied to a reference date of 15 O

ctober as an IER application w
ill be deem

ed m
ade on 

the date it w
as signed by the applicant.

The revised electoral register published in 2013 and m
onthly updates from

 1 January 2014, 
67. 

up to and including 1 July 2014 w
ill identify those electors w

ho should be sent a personally 
addressed individual IER application form

 during the canvass period. For households w
here there 

is no currently registered elector, or w
here the ERO

 is aw
are that the entry on the register is 

no longer correct, a form
 w

ill be sent to the household to identify potential eligible electors. A
n 

alternative w
ould have been to carry out a full household canvass in 2014, follow

ed by a w
rite 

out on conclusion of that canvass. H
ow

ever our view
 is that as w

ell as being m
ore expensive, and 

com
pressing the tim

etable for registration ahead of the 2015 G
eneral Election, a canvass follow

ed 
by invitation risks confusing people w

ho m
ay not respond to an IER invitation having already 

responded to a canvass – believing that they have already done enough to register.

There m
ay be a case for these applications to be issued by all ERO

s at the sam
e tim

e and possibly 
68. 

on the sam
e day, or w

ithin a speci!ed period so that the bene!t of any public aw
areness cam

paign 
run by the Electoral C

om
m

ission is achieved. W
e have discussed this w

ith the E
lectoral 

C
om

m
ission and A

E
A

 and w
ould w

elcom
e view

s from
 others on the tim

ing of the 
�rst IE

R
 w

rite out to individuals.

Section 9A
 of the RPA

 1983 requires an ERO
 to take all necessary steps to com

ply w
ith the 

69. 
general duty of m

aintaining the register, including sending the canvass form
 m

ore than once, m
aking 

house to house inquiries and inspecting records that the ERO
 is perm

itted to inspect. These duties 
w

ill continue to apply. N
on-responders to the w

rite out should be sent at least one rem
inder 

and receive a visit from
 a doorstep canvasser if they ignore the request. The ERO

 w
ill also still 

be required to undertake the appropriate steps under section 9A
 w

hen conducting the annual 
canvass.

W
e propose that each individually addressed IER application form

 include an insert w
hich asks for 

70. 
the details of any other occupants residing at the address w

ho have not received an IER application 
form

. This insert m
ay also ask other occupants to m

ake contact w
ith the ERO

. This approach w
ill 

help to identify, for exam
ple, attainers and people m

oving into H
ouses of M

ultiple O
ccupation. 

Personally addressed IER application form
s w

ill be issued by the ERO
 to any person(s) recorded 

on a returned insert.
P

age 60



22 
Individual Electoral Registration

A
ny IER application form

s returned undelivered by the Royal M
ail w

ill provide the ERO
 w

ith 
71. 

inform
ation on w

hether an elector is no longer eligible to rem
ain registered. There is potential for 

the envelope containing the application form
 to inform

 the household to ‘return the envelope’ 
if the elector is no longer resident, and for that person and others to ‘m

ake contact w
ith the 

registration of!cer’ if they are not registered.

In addition to the individual w
rite out to registered electors the ERO

 w
ill m

ake enquiries (starting 
72. 

w
ith sending a household enquiry form

 (H
EF

10) (see paragraphs 83 to 85) of all properties 
w

here no electors are registered, including new
 hom

es or residential properties w
here he thinks 

registered electors no longer live. They should ask for details of all persons living in the property. 
N

on-responding properties w
ill be follow

ed up and the ERO
 m

ay opt to send a doorstep 
canvasser if necessary. The ERO

 w
ill also have the discretion to send a H

EF to an address w
here 

they have also sent a personalised invitation to register.

Personally addressed IER application form
s w

ill be issued by the ERO
 to any person(s) identi!ed 

73. 
from

 these enquiries. In the event that D
ata M

atching is in operation and the ERO
 has details on 

the occupants of a property then personally addressed IER application form
s m

ay be issued instead 
of a household form

. These form
s could also include an insert as described above. N

on responders 
m

ust be follow
ed up as required under the duty in section 9A

 of the RPA
 1983.

The legislation w
ill also allow

 provision to be m
ade that w

ill allow
 a person to respond to an 

74. 
invitation to register by indicating that they do not w

ish to be chased. This w
ill enable the ERO

 not 
to ask them

 to register again during that canvass period. It w
ill not be possible for an elector to 

declare that they do not w
ish to be registered on a perm

anent basis. This approach w
ill ensure that 

people are not repeatedly asked to register during a canvass period w
hen they have no intention 

of doing so and that ERO
s direct their resources to !nding eligible electors w

ho w
ant to be 

registered.

Eligible electors w
ho inform

 their ERO
s that they do not w

ant to be chased up and invited to 
75. 

register w
ill have their details held on a tem

porary list for the purpose of ensuring that no further 
contact is m

ade w
ithin a speci!ed period, such as during the annual canvass. This list w

ill not be 
m

ade available for inspection, w
ill be created solely for the purpose of ensuring that the person’s 

w
ishes are respected and w

ill be destroyed w
ithin a speci!ed period.

Carry forward arrangem
ents in 2014

Electors w
ho fail to respond to the !rst IER canvass in 2014 w

ill be carried forw
ard in the revised 

76. 
electoral register to be published upon conclusion of the canvass unless the ERO

 determ
ines 

that the registration is ineligible. A
dditionally, any electors w

ho respond but w
ho fail to com

plete 
the application process successfully w

ill be carried forw
ard in the revised electoral register unless 

the ERO
 has evidence that they are not eligible. This w

ill ensure that these groups of electors are 
registered to vote for the G

eneral Election in 2015.

Electors w
ho w

ere carried forw
ard under existing arrangem

ents in 2013 w
ill be rem

oved from
 

77. 
the register if they fail to respond to the canvass in 2014. W

here such electors do respond but fail 
to com

plete the application process successfully they w
ill be carried forw

ard in the next register 
unless the ERO

 has evidence that they are not eligible.

10 The legislation refers to ‘canvass form
s’ for the 2014 canvass onw

ards.  This docum
ent is in the W

hite Paper referred to as 
the ‘H

ousehold Enquiry Form
’ to m

ake the distinction clear betw
een the current canvass and the post 2014 canvass. 

P
age 61



Individual Electoral Registration 
23

D
uring the annual canvass of 2015 the ERO

 w
ill send an IER application form

 to anyone w
ho w

as 
78. 

carried forw
ard in 2014 because they failed to respond to the canvass, or they responded but failed 

to com
plete the application process successfully. This group of electors w

ill be rem
inded that if they 

fail to register under IER they w
ill be rem

oved from
 the electoral register w

hen it is published.

Absent voting 2014-15

Electors w
ith an absent vote w

ho fail to register under IER in 2014 w
ill autom

atically lose the right 
79. 

to use this m
ethod of voting and the ERO

, as part of the w
rite out and rem

inder process, m
ust 

inform
 them

 of this fact. Electors w
ho lose their absent vote m

ay still be included in the published 
register under the carry forw

ard arrangem
ent m

entioned above, w
hich w

ill allow
 them

 to vote at a 
polling station. W

here appropriate ERO
s w

ill notify electors w
ho have lost their absent vote of the 

action they m
ust take if they w

ish to have it reinstated: this w
ill need a fresh application upon being 

registered under IER. These form
s should be included w

ith the noti!cation.

Proxies (Clause 3)

C
urrently a nom

inated proxy only needs to be eligible to register for the election for w
hich they 

80. 
have been nom

inated to vote. W
hen IER com

es into force a proxy m
ust be registered under 

this new
 arrangem

ent as w
ell. For this reason C

lause 3 of the draft legislation w
ill introduce a 

requirem
ent for the proxy to be registered under IER in either G

reat Britain or N
orthern Ireland.

The A
nnual C

anvass from
 2015 (C

lauses 4 and 5)

From
 1 July 2015 the annual canvass w

ill continue to request data on all persons resident in every 
81. 

household in the local authority area by m
aking an enquiry of each residence. A

s in 2014 any IER 
applications received at any tim

e during the year w
ill be subject to the veri!cation procedures.

If an ERO
 has received inform

ation from
 another source, such as D

ata M
atching at any tim

e of year, 
82. 

w
hich reveals changes to a household, for exam

ple new
 occupant(s), he m

ust send a personally 
addressed IER application form

(s). This w
ill also apply w

hen the inform
ation is received through 

canvass responses.

The !rst step in the canvass in 2015 (and in future years) w
ill be for the ERO

 to send a H
EF to 

83. 
every residential property w

ithin his area. This is sim
ilar to the current annual canvass process in 

that som
eone w

ill be required to provide inform
ation on other residents. H

ow
ever any potential 

electors identi!ed by this w
ill be follow

ed up individually by the ERO
. A

s in 2014 the role of the 
canvass w

ill be an exercise in gathering inform
ation w

hich m
ay prom

pt action by the ERO
 to keep 

the register up to date, how
ever unlike in 2014 H

EFs w
ill be sent to all residential properties.

The H
EF m

ust be pre-populated by the ERO
 w

ith the nam
es of those electors currently on the 

84. 
electoral register at the address to w

hich it is being sent. The tim
ing of the dispatch of H

EFs is 
expected to be a m

atter for ERO
s but w

e w
ill w

ant to consider w
hether in future this should be 

w
ithin a speci!ed period to m

axim
ise the effects of any inform

ation cam
paign being run by the 

Electoral C
om

m
ission.

There w
ill be no requirem

ent in 2015 (and subsequent years) for electors w
ho have already 

85. 
registered individually and been veri!ed to repeat the sam

e process again. Instead, electors w
ho 

have been authenticated w
ill rem

ain registered on a continuous basis unless either (i) they notify 
the ERO

 that their details have changed, (ii) the annual canvass suggests they are no longer 
resident, prom

pting the ERO
 to m

ake a determ
ination on w

hether the registration should continue 
P

age 62



24 
Individual Electoral Registration

or (iii) inform
ation from

 other sources, including other inform
ation held by the local authority (and 

potentially in the future, D
ata M

atching w
ith national data), prom

pts the ERO
 to m

ake further 
enquiries and consider w

hether to m
ake a determ

ination on w
hether the registration should 

continue.

Response to a household enquiry form

W
here the H

EF is com
pleted and returned to the ERO

 the inform
ation provided w

ill be used to 
86. 

identify:

a. 
those currently on the electoral register w

ho rem
ain eligible;

b. new
 occupants or attainers w

ho should be invited to register to vote; and

c. 
electors w

ho appear no longer to be resident because their pre-populated details have been 
deleted by the m

em
ber of the household w

ho com
pleted the form

.

W
here the H

EF advises that there is no change in respect of a registered elector then that person’s 
87. 

entry w
ill be retained in the revised register unless the ERO

 has other evidence that the person 
is no longer eligible to be registered at that address. N

ew
 occupants m

ust be sent a personally 
addressed pre-populated IER application form

 inviting them
 to register. In relation to any person 

deleted on the H
EF the ERO

 should consider w
hether to rem

ove the person from
 the register.

If a H
EF is returned after publication of the revised register then the ERO

 m
ust use this inform

ation 
88. 

to m
aintain the accuracy of the register. This m

ay include m
aking further enquiries in respect of any 

deletions on the form
 and sending fresh IER application form

s to new
 individuals recorded on the 

form
.

N
on-response to a household enquiry form

If there is no response to the H
EF from

 a residential property during the canvas then the ERO
 

89. 
m

ust w
here appropriate follow

 the steps set out in s9A
 of the RPA

 1983, including sending the 
form

 m
ore than once and instructing a door step canvasser to visit the property. IER application 

form
s issued to electors, but not returned, w

ill also be follow
ed up for a response.

If a household fails to return a H
EF by the conclusion of the annual canvass then the ERO

 m
ust 

90. 
consider w

hether those currently registered individually still have an entitlem
ent to rem

ain in the 
electoral register to be published. N

on response to a H
EF should not autom

atically result in eligible 
electors being rem

oved from
 the electoral register w

ithout som
e form

 of investigation by the ERO
. 

U
nder the s9A

 duty the ERO
 should actively inspect records that they are perm

itted to inspect for 
the purpose of m

aintaining the register, and w
here there is doubt about an elector’s entitlem

ent to 
rem

ain registered the ERO
 should undertake a review

 of the registration by follow
ing the review

s 
process set out in the RPR 2001.

Publication of the electoral register

U
pon conclusion of the 2015 annual canvass the ERO

 w
ill be required to publish the revised 

91. 
electoral register by 1 D

ecem
ber. This register w

ill be m
ade up solely of electors w

ho have 
registered individually. M

onthly updates under rolling registration arrangem
ents w

ill then take 
place, as now

.

P
age 63



Individual Electoral Registration 
25

Pow
er to am

end or abolish the annual canvass (C
lauses 6 and 7)

Provisions at C
lause 6 w

ill allow
 the am

endm
ent or abolition of the annual canvass in G

reat 
92. 

Britain, replacing current arrangem
ents w

ith lim
ited canvassing or alternative m

ethods for obtaining 
inform

ation in order to update the electoral register. N
orthern Ireland abolished the annual canvass 

in 2006 and now
 operates a system

 of ‘continuous registration’, under w
hich a canvass is conducted 

every ten years or earlier if recom
m

ended by the C
hief Electoral O

f!cer and agreed by the 
Secretary of State. In betw

een tim
es the electoral register is updated using D

ata M
atching, or by 

electors applying for registration under rolling registration.

The current canvass system
 in G

reat Britain operates via a household canvass on an annual basis; 
93. 

given that the m
ajority of the population do not change address betw

een canvasses it m
ay be 

possible to replace this w
ith a system

 w
hich updates the register m

ore ef!ciently and effectively. 
A

n alternative approach to m
aintaining the register could be sim

ilar to that in place in N
orthern 

Ireland. This w
ill depend on the evidence on the effectiveness of D

ata M
atching from

 this year’s 
schem

es and experience from
 the transition to IER. H

ow
ever at this stage there is no plan to 

change the canvass arrangem
ents.

The tim
ing of any change to the annual canvass is not !xed in this legislation. Instead there is a 

94. 
pow

er to allow
 the M

inister to introduce the change by order subject to the resolution of both 
H

ouses of Parliam
ent. Before taking this step the M

inister w
ould notify the Electoral C

om
m

ission, 
and w

ithin 3 m
onths of that noti!cation the C

om
m

ission w
ould be required to report to 

the M
inister on any proposed change to the annual canvass. This report w

ould be laid before 
Parliam

ent w
ith the draft order. Legislation w

ill also allow
 for the canvass to be fully reinstated 

should that prove necessary in subsequent years.

W
e w

ould w
elcom

e view
s on our proposed approach.

95. 

Special category electors, including Service voters

The new
 system

 of IER w
ill affect all electors registering to vote in G

reat Britain, including special 
96. 

category electors such as: overseas electors, H
M

 Forces Service voters, C
row

n servants and 
British C

ouncil em
ployees, electors m

aking a declaration of local connection and anonym
ously 

registered electors. A
n application can be m

ade at any tim
e during the year by these electors and 

once approved by the ERO
 is live for a period of one year (5 years for Service personnel and their 

spouses).

W
e have considered the im

pact of im
plem

enting IER on these groups and have recom
m

ended 
97. 

that at the tim
e of being invited to renew

 their declaration (w
ithin 3 m

onths preceding expiry) 
certain electors registered through special category elector arrangem

ents w
ill be invited to 

register under IER. 11 Those w
ho fail to register under IER w

ould drop off the register w
hen their 

registration expires. U
nder this proposal electors w

ith certain declarations w
ould have been invited 

to register under IER by the end of July 2015. A
n alternative w

ould be to invite these electors to 
register under IER w

hen the canvass w
rite-out com

m
ences in July 2014. H

ow
ever this could cause 

confusion for those that have had a registration approved in the preceding m
onths w

ho are then 
asked to re-register.

Service personnel and their spouses w
ith a live Service declaration in force at the tim

e IER 
98. 

is im
plem

ented w
ill also not be required to provide their identifying inform

ation until their 

11 Rem
inders are not sent to electors w

ho have registered as resident at a m
ental hospital or w

here they are held on rem
and.

P
age 64



26 
Individual Electoral Registration

declaration has expired. Just like other category of electors all new
 and subsequent applicants 

w
ill be required to register individually prior to being placed on the register. This transitional 

arrangem
ent w

ill ensure that additional barriers are not put in place for this category of elector 
and m

eans a Service voter m
ay rem

ain registered under a Service declaration until July 2019.

W
e w

ill also look at im
proving electoral registration rates am

ong Service voters. There is concern 
99. 

that at present registration am
ong Service personnel is low

 and experience at the recent election 
illustrated the practical dif!culties of Service personnel casting their votes w

hile deployed overseas. 
W

hile Service voters can register either as ordinary electors or by w
ay of a Service declaration, 

levels of registration are low
 in com

parison w
ith the general population. The M

inistry of D
efence’s 

Service Voter Survey 2009 estim
ated that 74%

 of Service personnel w
ere registered to vote, and 

am
ongst those personnel stationed overseas this fell to 40%

. Som
e of the D

ata M
atching pilot 

schem
es are therefore focussed on Service personnel in particular and the overall schem

e design 
w

ill look at how
 the electoral registration system

 can better support Service voters.

W
e w

ould w
elcom

e view
s on our transitional proposals for special category 

100. electors. 

Im
pact on the elderly, disabled or those in care

W
e recognise that the elderly and disabled persons, including those in care, m

ay have special 
101. requirem

ents arising from
 the new

 system
 as each person w

ill now
 need to com

plete a form
 

and provide identifying inform
ation if they w

ish to register to vote. This tim
e burden m

ay be 
extended to carers of the people falling into these groups. W

e have started discussions w
ith 

those representing these groups and invite them
, and others w

ith sim
ilar issues, to w

ork w
ith us 

to help develop our detailed plans for im
plem

entation. The introduction of IER is an opportunity 
to m

odernise and im
prove our system

 of electoral registration, by enabling new
 channels for 

registration for exam
ple, and w

e hope that this in particular w
ill help im

prove the accessibility of 
the system

.

P
age 65



Individual Electoral Registration 
27

 
 

D
ra

ft cla
u

se
s a

n
d

 S
ch

e
d

u
le

s

C
O

N
TEN

TS

Individual electoral registration in G
reat Britain

1
Individual registration

2
V

erification of entitlem
ent etc

3
Proxies to be registered electors

4
A

nnual canvass
5

Invitations to register
6

Pow
er to am

end or abolish annual canvass
7

C
onsulting Electoral C

om
m

ission about proposals under section 6

Final provisions

8
M

inor and consequential am
endm

ents
9

Interpretation
10

C
om

m
encem

ent
11

Transitional provision
12

Extent

Schedule 1
�

R
egister of electors: alterations and rem

oval
Schedule 2

�
M

inor and consequential am
endm

ents
Schedule 3

�
Transitional provision

Part 1
�

Introduction
Part 2

�
R

em
oval of existing registrations by end of 2015 canvass

Part 3
�

Encouraging new
 applications in 2014 and 2015

Part 4
�

A
bsent voting

Part 5
�

Persons w
ith existing registrations by virtue of declarations etc

Part 6
�

Persons w
ith existing registrations by virtue of section 7(2) or

7A
(2) of the

1983
A

ct
Part 7

�
InterpretationP

age 66



28 
Individual Electoral Registration

P
age 67



Individual Electoral Registration 
29

 
 

D
raft clauses and Schedules

1

Individual electoral registration in G
reat Britain

1
Individual registration

(1)
A

fter section 10Z
B of the 1983 A

ct insert�

�10Z
C

R
egistration of electors in G

reat B
ritain

(1)
A

 registration officer in G
reat Britain m

ust enter a person (�P�) in a
register m

aintained by the officer if�
(a)

an application for registration is m
ade by som

eone w
ho appears

to the officer to be P,
(b)

any requirem
ents im

posed by or under this A
ct in relation to

the application are m
et, and

(c)
P appears to the officer to be entitled to be registered in the
register.

(2)
A

n application under this section m
ust be m

ade�
(a)

on a form
 determ

ined by the Electoral C
om

m
ission, or

(b)
in such other m

anner as m
ay be prescribed.

(3)
R

egulations under subsection (2)(b) m
ay confer functions on the

Electoral C
om

m
ission.

(4)
In determ

ining an application under this section, the officer m
ust

consider 
any 

objection 
m

ade 
in 

accordance 
w

ith 
the 

prescribed
requirem

ents by another person w
hose nam

e appears in the register.

(5)
R

egistration officers in G
reat Britain m

ust have regard to any guidance
issued by the Secretary of State about the determ

ination of applications
under this section.

(6)
The guidance that m

ay be given includes guidance about the process
for determ

ining w
hether the conditions in subsection (1) are m

et and
the relative w

eight to be given to different kinds of evidence.

(7)
R

egulations m
ay m

ake provision about the procedure for determ
ining

applications under this section.�

(2)
Schedule 1 (alterations of register and rem

oval from
 register) has effect.

2
V

erification of entitlem
ent etc

(1)
Schedule 2 to the 1983 A

ct (provisions w
hich m

ay be contained in regulations
as to registration etc) is am

ended as follow
s.

P
age 68



30 
Individual Electoral Registration

D
raft clauses and Schedules

2

(2)
In paragraph 1, after sub-paragraph (2) insert�

 
�(2A

)
The provision that m

ay be m
ade under sub-paragraph (2) includes,

in particular, provision authorising or requiring a registration officer
in G

reat Britain to�
(a)

require a person w
ho is m

aking, or w
ho has m

ade, an
application under section 10Z

C
 or 10Z

D
 to provide evidence

(or evidence of a prescribed kind) that he or she is the person
nam

ed in the application;
(b)

require a person to provide evidence (or evidence of a
prescribed kind) for the purpose of enabling the officer to
determ

ine w
hether a person is entitled to be registered in a

register m
aintained by the officer.

(2B)
Exam

ples of the evidence that a person m
ay be required to provide

by virtue of provision m
ade under sub-paragraph (2A

) include the
person�s date of birth or national insurance num

ber.�

(3)
A

fter paragraph 3 insert�

�3Z
A

(1)Provision about applications under section 10Z
C

 or 10Z
D

, including
in particular�

(a)
their contents, and

(b)
the 

form
 

and 
contents 

of 
declarations 

to 
be 

m
ade 

in
connection w

ith them
.

(2)
Provision requiring a person m

aking such an application�
(a)

to provide prescribed evidence that he or she is the person
nam

ed in the application;
(b)

to 
provide 

prescribed 
evidence 

of 
entitlem

ent 
to 

be
registered.

(For exam
ples of evidence that m

ay be prescribed, see paragraph
1(2B).)

(3)
Provision m

ade under paragraph 1(2) m
ay include provision�

(a)
in a case w

here an applicant is unable or unw
illing to provide

such evidence, for the purpose of obtaining alternative
evidence;

(b)
in that or any other case, for the purpose of obtaining
additional evidence.�

(4)
A

fter paragraph 8A
 insert�

�8B
(1)

Provision requiring inform
ation provided to a registration officer in

G
reat Britain�
(a)

by a person w
ho is m

aking, or w
ho has m

ade, an application
under section 10Z

C
 or 10Z

D
, or

(b)
by any other person by virtue of provision m

ade under
paragraph 1(2A

)(b),
to be checked against inform

ation held by others for the purpose of
enabling the officer to verify that inform

ation.

(2)
The provision that m

ay be m
ade under sub-paragraph (1) includes,

in particular�
(a)

provision 
requiring 

the 
registration 

officer 
or 

a 
service

provider 
to 

disclose 
inform

ation 
m

entioned 
in 

sub-

P
age 69



Individual Electoral Registration 
31

D
raft clauses and Schedules

3

paragraph (1) for the purpose of enabling others to check that
inform

ation;
(b)

provision requiring inform
ation to be disclosed by others for

the purpose of enabling the registration officer or a service
provider to check inform

ation m
entioned in sub-paragraph

(1);
(c)

provision authorising the registration officer and a service
provider to disclose inform

ation to each other.

(3)
In sub-paragraph (2) �service provider�, in relation to a registration
officer, m

eans a person providing services to the officer.

(4)
Provision under this paragraph m

ay confer functions on persons
other than the registration officer.

(5)
Provision under this paragraph has effect despite any statutory or
other restriction on the disclosure of inform

ation.

8C
(1)

Provision about the keeping or disposal of inform
ation�

(a)
obtained by a registration officer in G

reat Britain by virtue of
provision m

ade under paragraph 1(2) or 3Z
A

;
(b)

obtained by any person by virtue of provision m
ade under

paragraph 8B.

(2)
Provision im

posing prohibitions or restrictions on the disclosure of
such inform

ation.

8D
(1)

Provision 
authorising 

a 
registration 

officer 
in 

determ
ining 

an
application under section 10Z

C
 or 10Z

D
, in prescribed cases, to treat

a prescribed person�s statem
ent of a fact as sufficient evidence of that

fact.

(2)
In 

sub-paragraph 
(1) 

�prescribed� 
includes 

of 
a 

prescribed
description.�

(5)
In paragraph 13, after sub-paragraph (1Z

A
) insert�

 �(1Z
B)

Provision m
aking a person w

ho discloses inform
ation in breach of

regulations 
m

ade 
under 

paragraph 
8C

(2) 
guilty 

of 
an 

offence
punishable�

(a)
on conviction on indictm

ent, by im
prisonm

ent for a term
 not

exceeding tw
o years or a fine, or both;

(b)
on sum

m
ary conviction in England and W

ales or Scotland,
by im

prisonm
ent for a term

 not exceeding 12 m
onths or a fine

not exceeding the statutory m
axim

um
, or both;

(c)
on 

sum
m

ary 
conviction 

in 
N

orthern 
Ireland, 

by
im

prisonm
ent for a term

 not exceeding 6 m
onths or a fine not

exceeding the statutory m
axim

um
, or both.�

3
Proxies to be registered electors

In paragraph 6 of Schedule 4 to the 2000 A
ct (absent voting in G

reat Britain),
for sub-paragraphs (3) and (4) substitute�

�(3)
A

 person is not capable of being appointed to vote, or voting, as proxy
at a parliam

entary election unless the person is or w
ill be registered in

P
age 70



32 
Individual Electoral Registration

D
raft clauses and Schedules

4

a register of parliam
entary electors in G

reat Britain or N
orthern

Ireland.

(3A
)

A
 person is not capable of being appointed to vote, or voting, as proxy

at a local governm
ent election unless the person is or w

ill be registered
in a register of local governm

ent electors in G
reat Britain or N

orthern
Ireland.

(4)
A

 person is not capable of being appointed to vote, or voting, as proxy
at a parliam

entary or local governm
ent election if the person is subject

to any legal incapacity (age apart) to vote at that election as an elector.�

4
A

nnual canvass

A
fter section 9C

 of the 1983 A
ct insert�

�9D
M

aintenance of registers: duty to conduct canvass in G
reat B

ritain

(1)
Each registration officer in G

reat Britain m
ust conduct an annual

canvass in relation to the area for w
hich the officer acts.

(2)
The purpose of the canvass is to ascertain�

(a)
the nam

es and addresses of persons w
ho are entitled to be

registered in a register m
aintained by the officer but w

ho are not
registered;

(b)
those persons w

ho are registered in such a register but w
ho are

not entitled to be registered.

(3)
The canvass is to be conducted�

(a)
using a form

 determ
ined by the Electoral C

om
m

ission, or
(b)

in such other m
anner as m

ay be prescribed.

(4)
A

 registration officer m
ay m

ake house to house inquiries for the
purpose of�

(a)
supplem

enting inform
ation provided to the officer in response

to the canvass, or
(b)

obtaining inform
ation w

here no inform
ation has been provided

in response to the canvass.

(5)
N

othing in this section applies in relation to�
(a)

the registration of persons in respect of residence in penal
institutions 

(w
ithin 

the 
m

eaning 
of 

section 
3) 

or 
m

ental
hospitals (w

ithin the m
eaning of section 7) or other places at

w
hich persons to w

hom
 section 7A

 applies m
ay be detained,

(b)
the registration of persons in pursuance of declarations of local
connection, 

service 
declarations 

or 
overseas 

electors�
declarations, or

(c)
the registration of persons w

ith anonym
ous entries in the

register.�

P
age 71



Individual Electoral Registration 
33

D
raft clauses and Schedules

5

5
Invitations to register

A
fter section 9D

 of the 1983 A
ct insert�

�9E
M

aintenance of registers: invitations to register in G
reat B

ritain

(1)
A

 registration officer in G
reat Britain m

ust send a person an invitation
to apply for registration in a register m

aintained by the officer if�
(a)

the officer is aw
are of the person�s nam

e and address,
(b)

the person is not registered in the register, and
(c)

the officer has reason to believe that the person is entitled to be
registered in the register.

(2)
R

egulations m
ay m

ake provision in connection w
ith invitations under

subsection
(1), including�

(a)
provision about the sending of invitations (for exam

ple, how
often they m

ust be sent);
(b)

provision for exceptions to the duty in subsection (1) in relation
to people w

ho have been sent invitations and have indicated
that they do not w

ish to receive further invitations for a period
specified in the regulations;

(c)
provision 

requiring 
invitations 

to 
be 

accom
panied 

by
application 

form
s 

or 
other 

docum
ents 

(including 
partially

com
pleted application form

s);
(d)

provision that an application form
 accom

panying an invitation
m

ust 
enable 

a 
person 

w
ho 

does 
not 

w
ish 

to 
apply 

for
registration to indicate on the form

 that the person does not
w

ish to receive further invitations for a period specified in the
regulations.

(3)
R

egulations under subsection (2)(b) m
ay in particular�

(a)
require a registration officer to keep a record of people w

ho
have indicated that they do not w

ish to receive invitations, and
(b)

provide for the disposal of that record after a specified period.�

6
Pow

er to am
end or abolish annual canvass

(1)
The M

inister m
ay by order m

ade by statutory instrum
ent m

ake provision for
the purposes of enabling registration officers in G

reat Britain to ascertain�
(a)

the nam
es and addresses of persons w

ho are entitled to be registered in
a register but w

ho are not registered;
(b)

those persons w
ho are registered in a register but w

ho are not entitled
to be registered.

(2)
The M

inister m
ay by order m

ade by statutory instrum
ent�

(a)
am

end section 9D
 of the 1983 A

ct or any other provision relating to a
canvass under that section;

(b)
abolish the duty to conduct a canvass under that section.

(3)
If the duty to conduct a canvass is abolished, the provision that m

ay be m
ade

under subsection (1) includes provision reinstating the duty.

(4)
A

n order under this section m
ay create offences, but it m

ay not�
(a)

provide for an offence to be punishable on conviction on indictm
ent by

im
prisonm

ent for a term
 exceeding tw

o years;

P
age 72



34 
Individual Electoral Registration

D
raft clauses and Schedules

6

(b)
provide for an offence to be punishable on sum

m
ary conviction by

im
prisonm

ent for a term
 exceeding the relevant m

axim
um

;
(c)

provide for an offence to be punishable on sum
m

ary conviction by a
fine exceeding the statutory m

axim
um

 or level 5 on the standard scale
(as appropriate).

(5)
In subsection (4)(b) �the relevant m

axim
um

��
(a)

in relation to an offence triable either on indictm
ent or sum

m
arily,

m
eans�
(i)

in England and W
ales or Scotland, 12 m

onths, and
(ii)

in N
orthern Ireland, 6 m

onths;
(b)

in relation to an offence triable only sum
m

arily, m
eans�

(i)
in England and W

ales, 51 w
eeks, and

(ii)
in Scotland or N

orthern Ireland, 6 m
onths.

(6)
A

n order under this section m
ay confer pow

er to m
ake secondary legislation

and, if it does so, m
ust provide�

(a)
that the secondary legislation is to be m

ade by statutory instrum
ent,

and
(b)

that the instrum
ent m

ay not be m
ade unless a draft of it has been laid

before and approved by a resolution of each H
ouse of Parliam

ent.

(7)
A

n order under this section�
(a)

m
ay am

end, repeal or revoke any A
ct (including this A

ct) or secondary
legislation (w

henever passed or m
ade);

(b)
m

ay apply generally or only in specified cases, circum
stances or areas;

(c)
m

ay m
ake different provision for different cases, circum

stances or
areas;

(d)
m

ay m
ake consequential, supplem

entary, incidental, transitional or
saving provision.

(8)
A

 statutory instrum
ent containing an order under this section m

ay not be
m

ade unless�
(a)

a draft of the instrum
ent has been laid before and approved by a

resolution of each H
ouse of Parliam

ent, and
(b)

if applicable, the requirem
ent in section 7(5) has been m

et.

(9)
In this section �secondary legislation� m

eans an order, rules or regulations
m

ade under an A
ct (including an order m

ade under this A
ct).

7
C

onsulting Electoral C
om

m
ission about proposals under section 6

(1)
If the M

inister consults the Electoral C
om

m
ission about a proposal to m

ake an
order under section 6, the C

om
m

ission m
ust prepare a report assessing�

(a)
the extent to w

hich the objective in subsection (2) is m
et,

(b)
the extent to w

hich the objective w
ould be m

et if the order w
ere m

ade,
and 

(c)
the m

erits of alternative w
ays of achieving the objective.

(2)
The objective is to enable registration officers in G

reat Britain to ascertain�
(a)

the nam
es and addresses of persons w

ho are entitled to be registered in
a register but w

ho are not registered;
(b)

those persons w
ho are registered in a register but w

ho are not entitled
to be registered.

P
age 73



Individual Electoral Registration 
35

D
raft clauses and Schedules

7

(3)
The Electoral C

om
m

ission m
ust give the report to the M

inister no later than
3

m
onths after the date on w

hich it is consulted.

(4)
A

 registration officer in G
reat Britain m

ust com
ply w

ith any request m
ade by

the Electoral C
om

m
ission for inform

ation that it reasonably requires in
connection w

ith the preparation of a report under this section.

(5)
W

hen a draft of a statutory instrum
ent containing an order under section 6 is

laid before Parliam
ent, it m

ust be accom
panied by a report under this section,

unless the instrum
ent contains provision only for the purpose of reinstating the

duty to conduct a canvass as m
entioned in section 6(3).

Final provisions

8
M

inor and consequential am
endm

ents

(1)
Schedule 2 (w

hich m
akes m

inor and consequential am
endm

ents) has effect.

(2)
In article 3 of the Lord President of the C

ouncil O
rder 2010 (S.I. 2010/1837)

(w
hich 

m
akes 

certain 
functions 

of 
the 

Secretary 
of 

State 
exercisable

concurrently w
ith the Lord President) the reference in paragraph (1) to the

1983
A

ct is to be read as a reference to that A
ct as am

ended by this A
ct.

9
Interpretation

In this A
ct�

�the 1983 A
ct� m

eans the R
epresentation of the People A

ct 1983;
�the 1985 A

ct� m
eans the R

epresentation of the People A
ct 1985;

�the 2000 A
ct� m

eans the R
epresentation of the People A

ct 2000;
�the M

inister� m
eans the Lord President of the C

ouncil or the Secretary of
State;

�register� m
eans a register of parliam

entary electors or local governm
ent

electors m
aintained by a registration officer in G

reat Britain.

10
C

om
m

encem
ent

This A
ct com

es into force on 1 July 2014, apart from
 the follow

ing w
hich com

e
into force on the day it is passed�

(a)
section 9 (interpretation);

(b)
this section;

(c)
section 11(2) and (3) (pow

er to m
ake transitional provision or savings

in addition to, or supplem
enting, that m

ade by Schedule 3);
(d)

section 12 (extent).

11
T

ransitional provision

(1)
Schedule 3 (w

hich m
akes transitional provision) has effect.

(2)
The M

inister m
ay by order m

ade by statutory instrum
ent�

(a)
m

ake transitional provision or savings in addition to that m
ade by that

Schedule;
(b)

m
ake provision for supplem

enting, or provision incidental to, the
provision m

ade by that Schedule.

P
age 74



36 
Individual Electoral Registration

D
raft clauses and Schedules

8

(3)
A

n order under subsection (2)�
(a)

m
ay apply generally or only in specified cases, circum

stances or areas;
(b)

m
ay m

ake different provision for different cases, circum
stances or

areas.

(4)
In 

relation 
to 

an 
offence 

com
m

itted 
in 

England 
and 

W
ales 

before 
the

com
m

encem
ent of section 154(1) of the C

rim
inal Justice A

ct 2003, a reference
in either of the follow

ing to 12 m
onths is to be read as a reference to 6 m

onths�
(a)

paragraph 13(1Z
B) of Schedule 2 to the 1983 A

ct (inserted by section
2(5) of this A

ct);
(b)

section 6(5)(a) of this A
ct.

(5)
In 

relation 
to 

an 
offence 

com
m

itted 
in 

England 
and 

W
ales 

before 
the

com
m

encem
ent of section 281(5) of the C

rim
inal Justice A

ct 2003, the reference
in section 6(5)(b) of this A

ct to 51 w
eeks is to be read as a reference to 6

m
onths.

1
2

E
x
te
n
t

A
n am

endm
ent or repeal by this A

ct has the sam
e extent as the enactm

ent
am

ended or repealed.

P
age 75



Individual Electoral Registration 
37

D
raft clauses and Schedules

Schedule 1 �
 R

egister of electors: alterations and rem
oval

9

S
C

H
E

D
U

L
E

S

SC
H

ED
U

LE 1
Section 1

R
EG

ISTER O
F ELEC

TO
R

S: A
LTER

A
TIO

N
S A

N
D R

EM
O

V
A

L

1
A

fter section 10Z
C

 of the 1983 A
ct insert�

�10Z
D

R
egistration of electors in G

reat B
ritain: alterations

(1)
A

 registration officer in G
reat Britain m

ust alter the nam
e or address

in respect of w
hich a person (�P�) is registered in a register

m
aintained by the officer if�
(a)

an application for alteration is m
ade by som

eone w
ho

appears to the officer to be P,
(b)

any requirem
ents im

posed by or under this A
ct in relation to

the application are m
et, and

(c)
P appears to the officer to be entitled to be registered in the
register in respect of the new

 nam
e or the new

 address (as the
case m

ay be).

(2)
Subsections (2) to (7) of section 10Z

C
 apply in relation to an

application under this section as they apply in relation to an
application under that section.

10Z
E

R
em

oval of electors in G
reat B

ritain from
 register 

(1)
W

here a person is entered in a register in respect of an address in
G

reat Britain, the person is entitled to rem
ain registered until the

registration officer concerned determ
ines that�

(a)
the person w

as not entitled to be registered in respect of the
address,

(b)
the person has ceased to be resident at the address or has
otherw

ise ceased to satisfy the conditions for registration set
out in section 4, or

(c)
the person w

as registered as the result of an application m
ade

by som
e other person or the person�s entry has been altered

as the result of an application m
ade by som

e other person.

(2)
W

here a person�s entitlem
ent to rem

ain registered term
inates by

virtue of subsection (1), the officer m
ust rem

ove the person�s entry
from

 the register.

(3)
A

 registration officer m
ay m

ake house to house inquiries for the
purpose of deciding w

hether or not to m
ake a determ

ination under
subsection (1).

(4)
R

egulations m
ay m

ake provision about the procedure for m
aking

determ
inations under subsection (1), w

hich m
ay include provision

P
age 76



38 
Individual Electoral Registration

D
raft clauses and Schedules

Schedule 1 �
 R

egister of electors: alterations and rem
oval

10

requiring 
an officer to take prescribed steps before m

aking 
a

determ
ination.

(5)
A

 registration officer in G
reat Britain m

ust consider w
hether to m

ake
a determ

ination under subsection (1) if the officer�
(a)

receives an objection to a person�s registration in a register
m

aintained by the officer, or
(b)

otherw
ise becom

es aw
are of inform

ation that causes the
officer to suspect that a condition in subsection (1)(a) to (c)
m

ay be m
et in relation to a person�s entry in such a register.

(6)
Subsection (5)(a)�

(a)
applies only if the objection to the person�s registration is
m

ade in accordance w
ith the prescribed requirem

ents by
som

eone w
hose nam

e appears in the register, and
(b)

does not apply if the person has an anonym
ous entry in the

register.

(7)
N

othing in this section applies in relation to the registration of
persons in pursuance of�

(a)
applications for registration m

ade by virtue of section 7(2) or
7A

(2), or
(b)

declarations 
of 

local 
connection, 

service 
declarations 

or
overseas electors� declarations.

(8)
In 

this 
section 

�resident� 
m

eans 
resident 

for 
the 

purposes 
of

section
4.�

2
In section 13A

(1)(d) of the 1983 A
ct (alteration of registers to correct clerical

errors), at the end insert �or, in the case of a registration officer in G
reat

Britain, determ
ines that the register contains any inform

ation that is
incorrect.�

SC
H

ED
U

LE 2
Section 8

M
IN

O
R A

N
D C

O
N

SEQ
U

EN
TIA

L A
M

EN
D

M
EN

TS

R
epresentation of the People A

ct 1983 (c.2)

1
The 1983 A

ct is am
ended as follow

s.

2
In section 7 (residence: patients in m

ental hospitals w
ho are not detained

offenders or on rem
and), in subsection (3), after paragraph (aa) insert�

�(ab)
the 

registration 
officer 

determ
ines 

in 
accordance 

w
ith

regulations that the person w
as registered as the result of an

application under section 10Z
C

 m
ade by som

e other person
or that the person�s entry has been altered as the result of an
application under section 10Z

D
 m

ade by som
e other person,

or�.

3
In section 7A

 (residence: persons rem
anded in custody etc), in subsection (3),

after paragraph (aa) insert�
�(ab)

the 
registration 

officer 
determ

ines 
in 

accordance 
w

ith
regulations that the person w

as registered as the result of an

P
age 77



Individual Electoral Registration 
39

D
raft clauses and Schedules

Schedule 2 �
 M

inor and consequential am
endm

ents
11

application under section 10Z
C

 m
ade by som

e other person
or that the person�s entry has been altered as the result of an
application under section 10Z

D
 m

ade by som
e other person,

or�.

4
In section 7C

 (effect of declaration of local connection), in subsection (2),
after paragraph (aa) insert�

�(ab)
the 

registration 
officer 

determ
ines 

in 
accordance 

w
ith

regulations that the person w
as registered as the result of an

application under section 10Z
C

 m
ade by som

e other person
or that the person�s entry has been altered as the result of an
application 

under 
section 

10Z
D

 
m

ade 
by 

som
e 

other
person,�.

5
(1)

Section 9 (registers of electors) is am
ended as follow

s.

(2)
In subsection (2)�

(a)
for the w

ords from
 the beginning to �register� substitute �Subject to

any other provision of this A
ct, each register�;

(b)
for paragraph (a) substitute�

�(a)
the nam

es of persons w
ho appear to the registration

officer to be entitled to be registered in it and in
respect 

of 
w

hom
 

a 
successful 

application 
for

registration has been m
ade;�.

6
In section 9A

(1) (registration officers: duty to take necessary steps), at the
end insert �and for the purpose of securing that, so far as is reasonably
practicable, persons w

ho are entitled to be registered in a register (and no
others) are registered in it�.

7
(1)

Section 9B (anonym
ous registration) is am

ended as follow
s.

(2)
For subsections (1) and (2) substitute�

�(1)
A

n application under this section (an application for an anonym
ous

entry) m
ay be m

ade�
(a)

by 
any 

person, 
in 

conjunction 
w

ith 
an 

application 
for

registration under section 10Z
C

, or
(b)

by a person w
ho already has an anonym

ous entry, for the
purposes of rem

aining registered w
ith such an entry (see

section 9C
(3)).

(1A
)

A
n application for an anonym

ous entry m
ust be m

ade in accordance
w

ith prescribed requirem
ents and m

ust be accom
panied by�

(a)
a 

declaration 
m

ade 
in 

accordance 
w

ith 
prescribed

requirem
ents, and

(b)
such evidence in support as m

ay be prescribed.

(2)
A

 registration officer w
ho receives an application for an anonym

ous
entry m

ust determ
ine w

hether the safety test is satisfied (unless, in
the case of an application under subsection (1)(a), the person�s
application for registration has been rejected otherw

ise than by
virtue of this section).�

(3)
In subsection (5), after �a person� insert �as the result of an application under
subsection (1)(a)�.

P
age 78



40 
Individual Electoral Registration

D
raft clauses and Schedules

Schedule 2 �
 M

inor and consequential am
endm

ents
12

(4)
For subsection (6) substitute�

�(6)
If a person m

akes an application under subsection (1)(a) and the
registration officer determ

ines that the safety test is not satisfied, no
entry is to be m

ade in the register as a result of the person�s
application under section 10Z

C
 (w

hether an anonym
ous entry or

otherw
ise).�

(5)
In subsection (7)(b), om

it the w
ords from

 �(including an application� to the
end.

8
(1)

Section 9C
 (rem

oval of anonym
ous entries) is am

ended as follow
s.

(2)
In subsection (1), om

it �in pursuance of the application for registration
m

entioned in section 9B(1)�.

(3)
In subsection (3), om

it �a further application for registration accom
panied

by�.

9
(1)

Section 10 (m
aintenance of the registers: duty to conduct canvass) is

am
ended as follow

s.

(2)
O

m
it subsection (1).

(3)
In subsection (2), om

it �(1) or�.

(4)
In subsection (3), after �canvass� insert �under this section�.

(5)
For subsection (4) substitute�

�(4)
The form

 to be used for the purposes of a canvass under this section
m

ust be a form
 prescribed for those purposes.�

(6)
In subsection (4A

), om
it �for the purposes of a canvass in N

orthern Ireland�.

(7)
In subsection (5), for �a registration officer� substitute �under this section the
C

hief Electoral O
fficer for N

orthern Ireland�.

(8)
In subsection (6), for �a registration officer� substitute �under this section the
C

hief Electoral O
fficer for N

orthern Ireland�.

(9)
In the heading, after �canvass� insert �in N

orthern Ireland�.

10
(1)

Section 10A
 (m

aintenance of the 
registers: registration of electors) is

am
ended as follow

s.

(2)
In subsection (1), for �A

 registration officer� substitute �The C
hief Electoral

O
fficer for N

orthern Ireland�.

(3)
In subsection (2A

), om
it �(subject to section 13BB(2))�.

(4)
In subsection (3)�

(a)
for �A

 registration officer� substitute �The C
hief Electoral O

fficer for
N

orthern Ireland�;
(b)

after �registration� insert �in N
orthern Ireland�.

(5)
O

m
it subsection (3B).

(6)
In subsection (4), before �asking� insert �in N

orthern Ireland�.

(7)
In subsection (5)�

(a)
after �in respect of any address� insert �in N

orthern Ireland�;

P
age 79



Individual Electoral Registration 
41

D
raft clauses and Schedules

Schedule 2 �
 M

inor and consequential am
endm

ents
13

(b)
for �the registration officer concerned� substitute �the C

hief Electoral
O

fficer for N
orthern Ireland�;

(c)
for �the registration officer is� substitute �the O

fficer is�.

(8)
In subsection (5A

)(b), for �the registration officer� substitute �the C
hief

Electoral O
fficer for N

orthern Ireland�.

(9)
In subsection (5B), for �A

 registration officer� substitute �The C
hief Electoral

O
fficer for N

orthern Ireland�.

(10)
In subsection (6), for �the registration officer concerned� substitute �the
C

hief Electoral O
fficer for N

orthern Ireland�.

(11)
In subsection (7), for �a registration officer� substitute �the C

hief Electoral
O

fficer for N
orthern Ireland�.

(12)
In the heading, after �electors� insert �in N

orthern Ireland�.

11
In section 13(5)(b), for �13BB� substitute �13BA

�.

12
(1)

Section 13A
 (alteration of registers) is am

ended as follow
s.

(2)
In subsection (1)�

(a)
before paragraph (a) insert�

�(za)
is required by section 10Z

C
(1) to enter a person in the

register;
(zb)

is required by section 10Z
D

(1) to alter a person�s
entry in the register;�;

(b)
in paragraph (a), after �registration� insert �in N

orthern Ireland�.

(3)
In subsection (5), for �, section 13B or 13BA

 below
 or section 13BB below

�
substitute �or section 13B or 13BA

 below
�.

13
O

m
it section 13BB (election falling w

ithin canvass period).

14
In section 15 (service declaration), in subsection (2), after paragraph (aa)
insert�

�(ab)
the 

registration 
officer 

determ
ines 

in 
accordance 

w
ith

regulations that the person w
as registered as the result of an

application under section 10Z
C

 m
ade by som

e other person
or that the person�s entry has been altered as the result of an
application 

under 
section 

10Z
D

 
m

ade 
by 

som
e 

other
person,�.

15
(1)

Schedule 2 (provisions w
hich m

ay be contained in regulations as to
registration etc) is am

ended as follow
s.

(2)
In paragraph 1�

(a)
in sub-paragraph (2), after �authorising� insert �or requiring�;

(b)
in sub-paragraph (3)(a)�

(i)
for �so required� substitute �by virtue of regulations under
sub-paragraph (2) required�;

(ii)
after �so registered� insert �or to determ

ine w
hether the

person is the person w
ho m

ade the application under section
10Z

C
 or 10Z

D
�.

P
age 80



42 
Individual Electoral Registration

D
raft clauses and Schedules

Schedule 2 �
 M

inor and consequential am
endm

ents
14

(3)
A

fter paragraph 1 insert�

�1A
(1)

Provision as to the inform
ation that a registration officer m

ust
request or provide w

hen conducting a canvass in G
reat Britain

(w
hether as part of a canvass form

 or otherw
ise).

(2)
Provision authorising or requiring a registration officer in G

reat
Britain to com

plete canvass form
s in part for people.

(3)
Provision as to the form

 and contents of declarations to be m
ade

by those responding to a canvass in G
reat Britain.�

(4)
In paragraph 3A

 (regulations as to form
 and content of applications for

registration etc), after �registration� insert �in N
orthern Ireland�.

(5)
A

fter paragraph 3B insert�

�3C
(1)

Provision as to the steps to be taken by a registration officer
conducting a canvass in G

reat Britain for the purpose of obtaining
inform

ation 
w

here 
no 

response 
is 

received 
in 

respect 
of 

a
particular address.

(2)
Provision as to the steps to be taken by a registration officer in
G

reat Britain w
ith a view

 to encouraging a person to m
ake an

application 
under 

section 
10Z

C
 

or 
10Z

D
 

in 
response to 

an
invitation to do so m

ade by the officer.�

(6)
In paragraph 5(2) (provision as to evidence of age or nationality w

hich m
ay

be required), after �required� insert �by the C
hief Electoral O

fficer for
N

orthern Ireland�.

(7)
A

fter paragraph 5A
 insert�

�5B
(1)

Provision as to the steps that a registration officer in G
reat Britain

m
ust take, before appointing a person as proxy to vote for another,

to ensure that the appointm
ent com

plies w
ith paragraph 6(3) or

(3A
) of Schedule 4 to the R

epresentation of the People A
ct 2000.

(2)
Provision 

under 
sub-paragraph 

(1) 
m

ay 
require 

another
registration 

officer 
(including 

the 
C

hief Electoral O
fficer 

for
N

orthern Ireland) to provide inform
ation about w

hether the
person has or w

ill have an entry in a register m
aintained by that

officer.�

R
epresentation of the People A

ct 1985 (c.50)

16
The 1985 A

ct is am
ended as follow

s.

17
In section 2 (registration of British citizens overseas), in subsection (2), after
paragraph (aa) insert�

�(ab)
the 

registration 
officer 

determ
ines 

in 
accordance 

w
ith

regulations that the person w
as registered as the result of an

application under section 10Z
C

 m
ade by som

e other person
or that the person�s entry has been altered as the result of an
application 

under 
section 

10Z
D

 
m

ade 
by 

som
e 

other
person,�.

P
age 81



Individual Electoral Registration 
43

D
raft clauses and Schedules

Schedule 2 �
 M

inor and consequential am
endm

ents
15

Political Parties and Elections A
ct 2009 (c.12)

18
The Political Parties and Elections A

ct 2009 is am
ended as follow

s.

19
O

m
it sections 30 to 34 (electoral registration: provision of identifying

inform
ation).

SC
H

ED
U

LE 3
Section 11

T
R

A
N

SITIO
N

A
L PR

O
V

ISIO
N

P
A

R
T 1

I N
TR

O
D

U
C

TIO
N

A
pplications for registration etc m

ade before 1 July 2014

1
The am

endm
ents m

ade by this A
ct do not apply in relation to an application

m
ade before 1

July
2014 (even if it is determ

ined later).

M
eaning of �new

 application for registration� and �successful� new
 application

2
(1)

For the purposes of this Schedule, a person (�P�) m
akes a �new

 application
for registration� in a register m

aintained by a registration officer in G
reat

Britain if�
(a)

an application for registration in the register under section
10Z

C
 of

the 1983 A
ct is m

ade in respect of P, or
(b)

an application for alteration of the register under section
10Z

D
 of

thatA
ct is m

ade in respect of P.

(2)
For the purposes of this Schedule, a new

 application for registration is
�successful��

(a)
in the case of an application w

ithin sub-paragraph (1)(a), if the officer
determ

ines that P is to be entered in the register (or that P w
ould be

entered in the register had P not already been registered);
(b)

in the case of an application w
ithin sub-paragraph (1)(b), if the officer

determ
ines that P�s entry in the register is to be altered.

P
A

R
T 2

R
EM

O
V

A
L O

F EX
ISTIN

G R
EG

ISTR
A

TIO
N

S BY EN
D O

F 2015 C
A

N
V

A
SS

R
em

oval of certain existing registrations after 2014 canvass

3
(1)

A
 

registration 
officer 

in 
G

reat 
Britain 

m
ust, 

im
m

ediately 
before 

the
publication of a register follow

ing the 2014 canvass, rem
ove the entry of a

person (�P�) if�
(a)

P�s entry w
as carried forw

ard in 2013,
(b)

P has not m
ade a new

 application for registration in the register, and
(c)

at the 2014 canvass, no canvass form
 has been com

pleted and
returned in respect of the address to w

hich the entry relates.

P
age 82



44 
Individual Electoral Registration

D
raft clauses and Schedules

Schedule 3 �
 Transitional provision

Part 2 �
 R

em
oval of existing registrations by end of 2015 canvass

16

(2)
For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), P�s entry on the register w

as carried
forw

ard in 2013 if�
(a)

P�s entitlem
ent to rem

ain registered in the register term
inated on the

conclusion of the 2013
canvass by virtue of section 10A

(5)(a) of the
1983 A

ct, but
(b)

in accordance w
ith regulations under section 10A

(7) of that A
ct, P�s

entry w
as not rem

oved from
 the register.

R
em

oval of existing registrations after 2015 canvass 

4
A

 
registration 

officer 
in 

G
reat 

Britain 
m

ust, 
im

m
ediately 

before 
the

publication of a register follow
ing the 2015 canvass, rem

ove the entry of each
person w

ho has not m
ade a successful new

 application for registration in the
register.

This Part not to apply to persons w
ithin Part 5 or 6 below

5
In this Part of this Schedule, references to a person w

ho has an entry in a
register do not include a person w

ho is a relevant person for the purposes of
Part 5 or 6 of this Schedule.

P
A

R
T 3

E
N

C
O

U
R

A
G

IN
G N

EW
 A

PPLIC
A

TIO
N

S IN
 2014 A

N
D 2015

R
egistration officers to invite applications in 2014 from

 those w
ith existing registrations

6
(1)

A
 registration officer in G

reat Britain m
ust, on or as soon as reasonably

practicable after 1 July 2014, send an invitation to m
ake a new

 application for
registration in a register m

aintained by the officer to each person w
ho�

(a)
has an entry in the register, but

(b)
has not m

ade such an application.

(2)
But the officer need not send an invitation at a tim

e w
hen the officer has

reason to believe, from
 records available to the officer, that the person is no

longer resident at the address to w
hich the entry relates.

2014 canvass form
s need not be sent to addresses to w

hich invitations sent

7
A

t the 2014 canvass, a registration officer need not send a canvass form
 to�

(a)
any address in respect of w

hich the officer sends a person an
invitation under paragraph 6, or

(b)
any address in respect of w

hich a duty to send a person an invitation
under section 9E of the 1983

A
ct arises on 1 July 2014.

R
egistration officers to invite applications in 2015 from

 those w
ith existing registrations

8
(1)

A
 registration officer in G

reat Britain m
ust, on or as soon as reasonably

practicable after the relevant date, send a person an invitation to m
ake a new

application for registration in a register m
aintained by the officer if the

person�
(a)

has an entry in the register, but
(b)

has not m
ade a successful new

 application for registration in the
register.

P
age 83



Individual Electoral Registration 
45

D
raft clauses and Schedules

Schedule 3 �
 Transitional provision

Part 3 �
 Encouraging new

 applications in 2014 and 2015

17

(2)
�The relevant date� m

eans w
hichever of the follow

ing com
es first�

(a)
the date on w

hich, at the 2015 canvass, a canvass form
 is com

pleted
and returned in respect of the address to w

hich the person�s entry in
the register relates;

(b)
the date on w

hich it appears to the officer that, at the 2015 canvass,
no canvass form

 w
ill be com

pleted and returned in respect of that
address;

(c)
31 O

ctober 2015.

(3)
But the officer need not send an invitation at a tim

e w
hen�

(a)
the officer has reason to believe, from

 records available to the officer,
that the person is no longer resident at that address, or

(b)
the person has m

ade a new
 application for registration w

hich has not
been determ

ined.

Invitations under paragraph 6 or 8

9
A

n 
order 

under 
section 

11(2) 
m

ay, 
in 

particular, 
m

ake 
provision 

in
connection w

ith invitations under paragraph 6 or 8, including�
(a)

provision about the sending of invitations;
(b)

provision requiring invitations to be accom
panied by application

form
s or other docum

ents (including partially com
pleted application

form
s).

This Part not to apply to persons w
ithin Part 5 or 6 below

10
In this Part of this Schedule, references to a person w

ho has an entry in a
register do not include a person w

ho is a relevant person for the purposes of
Part 5 or 6 of this Schedule.

P
A

R
T 4

A
BSEN

T V
O

TIN
G

A
pplicant for absent vote m

ust have m
ade successful new

 application for registration

11
(1)

For the purposes of an absent voting application m
ade on or after 1 July

2014, a person is to be regarded as registered in a register in G
reat Britain

only if the person has m
ade a successful new

 application for registration.

(2)
�A

bsent voting application� m
eans an application under paragraph 3(1) or

(2) or 4(1) or (2) of Schedule 4 to the 2000
A

ct.

(3)
This paragraph does not apply in relation to a person w

ho is a relevant
person for the purposes of Part 5 or 6 of this Schedule.

Entitlem
ent to absent vote ceases after 2014 canvass if no successful new

 application for 
registration

12
(1)

Sub-paragraph (2) applies if, on the day on w
hich a registration officer in

G
reat Britain publishes a register follow

ing the 2014 canvass�
(a)

a person is show
n in the absent voters� record as the result of an

application m
ade in reliance on the person�s registration in the

register, and

P
age 84



46 
Individual Electoral Registration

D
raft clauses and Schedules

Schedule 3 �
 Transitional provision

Part 4 �
 A

bsent voting

18

(b)
the person has not m

ade a successful new
 application for registration

in the register.

(2)
The officer m

ust rem
ove the person�s entry from

 the absent voters� record so
far as the entry concerns elections of the kind to w

hich the register relates.

(3)
�A

bsent voters� record� m
eans the record kept under paragraph 3 of

Schedule 4 to the 2000 A
ct.

(4)
Sub-paragraph (5) applies if, on the day on w

hich a registration officer in
G

reat Britain publishes a register follow
ing the 2014 canvass�

(a)
a person is show

n in an absent voters� list as the result of an
application m

ade in reliance on the person�s registration in the
register, and

(b)
the person has not m

ade a successful new
 application for registration

in the register.

(5)
The officer m

ust rem
ove the person�s entry from

 the absent voters� list.

(6)
�A

bsent voters� list� m
eans the list m

entioned in paragraph 5(2) or (3) of
Schedule

4 to the 2000 A
ct.

(7)
If a registration officer rem

oves a person�s entry from
 an absent voters�

record or list, the officer m
ust�

(a)
notify the person in the prescribed m

anner, and
(b)

take any other prescribed steps.

(8)
This paragraph does not apply in relation to a person w

ho is a relevant
person for the purposes of Part 5 or 6 of this Schedule.

Proxies to have m
ade successful new

 application for registration

13
A

 person is to be regarded as registered in a register in G
reat Britain for the

purposes of paragraph 6(3) or (3A
) of Schedule 4 to the 2000 A

ct (as
substituted by section 3 of this A

ct) only if the person has m
ade a successful

new
 application for registration.

Proxy for existing absent voter need not have m
ade successful new

 application for registration 
until after 2014 canvass

14
(1)

The am
endm

ent m
ade by section 3 (read w

ith paragraph 13 above) does not
apply in relation to a proxy appointm

ent for an existing absent voter (or the
proxy�s entitlem

ent to vote) until the registration officer w
ho m

ade the
appointm

ent publishes the relevant register follow
ing the 2014 canvass.

(2)
In this paragraph�

(a)
�proxy appointm

ent� m
eans an appointm

ent of a person as proxy
under paragraph 6(7) or (8) of Schedule 4 to the 2000 A

ct (w
hether

m
ade before, on or after 1 July 2014);

(b)
�existing absent voter�, in relation to a proxy appointm

ent, m
eans a

person w
hose absent voting application w

as m
ade before 1

July
2014;

(c)
�absent voting application� m

eans the application under paragraph
3(2) or 4(2) or (3) of Schedule 4 to the 2000 A

ct by virtue of w
hich the

proxy appointm
ent is m

ade;

P
age 85



Individual Electoral Registration 
47

D
raft clauses and Schedules

Schedule 3 �
 Transitional provision

Part 4 �
 A

bsent voting

19

(d)
�relevant register� m

eans the register in w
hich the existing absent

voter is registered and w
hich relates to elections of the sam

e kind as
those to w

hich the proxy appointm
ent relates.

(3)
If a proxy appointm

ent ceases to be in force because sub-paragraph (1)
ceases to preserve it, the officer m

ust�
(a)

notify the proxy and the existing absent voter in the prescribed
m

anner, and
(b)

take any other prescribed steps.

(4)
This paragraph does not apply in relation to an existing absent voter w

ho is
a relevant person for the purposes of Part 5 or 6 of this Schedule.

P
A

R
T 5

P
ER

SO
N

S W
ITH

 EX
ISTIN

G R
EG

ISTR
A

TIO
N

S BY V
IR

TU
E O

F D
EC

LA
R

A
TIO

N
S ETC

M
eaning of �relevant person�

15
(1)

In this Part of this Schedule �relevant person� m
eans a person w

ho falls
w

ithin sub-paragraph (2) or (3).

(2)
A

 person falls w
ithin this sub-paragraph if the person�

(a)
is for the tim

e being registered in a register in pursuance of a
declaration of local connection, a service declaration or an overseas
elector�s declaration, and

(b)
has been so registered since im

m
ediately before 1 July 2014.

(3)
A

 person falls w
ithin this sub-paragraph if the person�

(a)
has for the tim

e being an anonym
ous entry in a register, and

(b)
has had such an entry since im

m
ediately before 1 July 2014.

R
elevant person�s first renew

al of registration on or after 1 O
ctober 2014: successful new

 
application required

16
(1)

O
n the first occasion on or after 1

O
ctober 2014 on w

hich a relevant person�s
entry in a register com

es up for renew
al, the person is not entitled to rem

ain
registered unless the person has m

ade a successful new
 application for

registration (in addition to com
plying w

ith any other requirem
ents).

(2)
For the purposes of this paragraph, a relevant person�s entry in a register
com

es up for renew
al w

hen an event m
entioned in the applicable provision

occurs in relation to that entry.

(3)
�The applicable provision� m

eans�
(a)

section 7C
(2) or 15(2) of the 1983 A

ct or section 2(2) of the 1985 A
ct, or

(b)
section 9C

(1) of the 1983 A
ct;

(as applicable).

A
pplication for absent vote before first renew

al of registration on or after 1 O
ctober 2014: 

relevant person need not have m
ade successful new

 application for registration 

17
(1)

A
n absent voting application m

ade by a relevant person on or after 1 July
2014 is not to be refused m

erely because the person has not m
ade a

successful new
 application for registration (but see paragraph 16).

P
age 86



48 
Individual Electoral Registration

D
raft clauses and Schedules

Schedule 3 �
 Transitional provision

Part 5 �
 Persons w

ith existing registrations by virtue of declarations etc

20

(2)
�A

bsent voting application� m
eans an application under paragraph 3(1) or

(2) or 4(1) or (2) of Schedule 4 to the 2000
A

ct.

Proxy for relevant person need not have m
ade successful new

 application for registration until 
relevant person�s first renew

al of registration on or after 1 O
ctober 2014

18
(1)

The am
endm

ent m
ade by section 3 of this A

ct (read w
ith paragraph 13

above) does not apply in relation to a proxy appointm
ent for a relevant

person (or the proxy�s entitlem
ent to vote) until the first occasion on or after

1
O

ctober 2014 on w
hich the relevant person�s entry in the relevant register

com
es up for renew

al.

(2)
In this paragraph�

(a)
�proxy appointm

ent� m
eans an appointm

ent of a person as proxy
under paragraph 6(7) or (8) of Schedule 4 to the 2000 A

ct (w
hether

m
ade before, on or after 1 July 2014);

(b)
�relevant register� m

eans the register w
hich relates to elections of the

sam
e kind as those to w

hich the proxy appointm
ent relates.

(3)
For the purposes of this paragraph, a relevant person�s entry in a register
com

es up for renew
al w

hen an event m
entioned in the applicable provision

occurs in relation to that entry.

(4)
�The applicable provision� m

eans�
(a)

section 7C
(2) or 15(2) of the 1983 A

ct or section 2(2) of the 1985 A
ct, or

(b)
section 9C

(1) of the 1983 A
ct;

(as applicable).

(5)
If a proxy appointm

ent ceases to be in force because sub-paragraph
(1)

ceases to preserve it, the officer m
ust�

(a)
notify the proxy and the relevant person in the prescribed m

anner,
and

(b)
take any other prescribed steps.

P
A

R
T 6

P
ER

SO
N

S W
ITH

 EX
ISTIN

G R
EG

ISTR
A

TIO
N

S BY V
IR

TU
E O

F SEC
TIO

N
 7(2) O

R 7A
(2) O

F 
TH

E
1983

A
C

T

M
eaning of �relevant person�

19
In this Part of this Schedule �relevant person� m

eans a person w
ho�

(a)
is for the tim

e being registered in a register by virtue of an
application m

ade under section 7(2) or 7A
(2) of the 1983 A

ct, and
(b)

has been so registered since im
m

ediately before 1 July 2014.

A
m

endm
ents not to apply to application m

ade by relevant person before first renew
al of 

registration on or after 1 O
ctober 2014

20
(1)

The am
endm

ents m
ade by this A

ct do not apply to an application m
ade by

a relevant person by virtue of section 7(4) or 7A
(4) of the 1983 A

ct in relation
to a case w

here the person�s entry in a register com
es up for renew

al before
1 O

ctober 2014.

P
age 87



Individual Electoral Registration 
49

D
raft clauses and Schedules

Schedule 3 �
 Transitional provision

Part 6 �
 Persons w

ith existing registrations by virtue of section 7(2) or 7A
(2) of the

1983
A

ct

21

(2)
For the purposes of this paragraph, a relevant person�s entry in a register
com

es up for renew
al w

hen an event m
entioned in section 7(3) or 7A

(3) of
the 1983 A

ct occurs in relation to that entry.

A
pplication for absent vote before first renew

al of registration on or after 1 O
ctober 2014: 

relevant person need not have m
ade successful new

 application for registration

21
(1)

A
n absent voting application m

ade by a relevant person on or after 1 July
2014 is not to be refused m

erely because the person has not m
ade a

successful new
 application for registration (but see paragraph 20).

(2)
�A

bsent voting application� m
eans an application under paragraph 3(1) or

(2) or 4(1) or (2) of Schedule 4 to the 2000
A

ct.

Proxy for relevant person need not have m
ade successful new

 application for registration until 
relevant person�s first renew

al of registration on or after 1 O
ctober 2014

22
(1)

The am
endm

ent m
ade by section 3 of this A

ct (read w
ith paragraph 13

above) does not apply in relation to a proxy appointm
ent for a relevant

person (or the proxy�s entitlem
ent to vote) until the first occasion on or after

1
O

ctober 2014 on w
hich the relevant person�s entry in the relevant register

com
es up for renew

al.

(2)
In this paragraph�

(a)
�proxy appointm

ent� m
eans an appointm

ent of a person as proxy
under paragraph 6(7) or (8) of Schedule 4 to the 2000 A

ct (w
hether

m
ade before, on or after 1 July 2014);

(b)
�relevant register� m

eans the register w
hich relates to elections of the

sam
e kind as those to w

hich the proxy appointm
ent relates.

(3)
For the purposes of this paragraph, a relevant person�s entry in a register
com

es up for renew
al w

hen an event m
entioned in section 7(3) or 7A

(3) of
the 1983 A

ct occurs in relation to that entry.

(4)
If a proxy appointm

ent ceases to be in force because sub-paragraph
(1)

ceases to preserve it, the officer m
ust�

(a)
notify the proxy and the relevant person in the prescribed m

anner,
and

(b)
take any other prescribed steps.

P
A

R
T 7

I N
TER

PR
ETA

TIO
N

Interpretation of this Schedule

23
(1)

In this Schedule�
�the 2013 canvass� m

eans the canvass under section 10(1) of the
1983

A
ct to be conducted in 2013;

�the 2014 canvass� m
eans the canvass under section 9D

 of the 1983
A

ct
to be conducted in 2014; and references to �the 2015 canvass� are to
be read accordingly;

�canvass form
� m

eans the form
 m

entioned in section 9D
(3)(a) of the

1983
A

ct;
�prescribed� m

eans prescribed by an order under section 11(2).

P
age 88



50 
Individual Electoral Registration

D
raft clauses and Schedules

Schedule 3 �
 Transitional provision

Part 7 �
 Interpretation

22

(2)
In this Schedule references to publication of a register are to publication of
the revised version of the register under section 13(1)(a) of the 1983 A

ct.

(3)
In this Schedule�

(a)
references to a person w

ho is registered in a register im
m

ediately
before 1 July 2014 include a person w

ho becom
es registered in the

register on or after that date as the result of an application m
ade

before that date;
(b)

references to a person w
ho has an anonym

ous entry in a register
im

m
ediately before 1 July 2014 include a person w

hose anonym
ous

entry is m
ade in the register on or after that date as the result of an

application m
ade before that date.

(4)
The 1983 A

ct and this Schedule are to have effect as if this Schedule w
ere

contained in Part 1 of that A
ct.

(5)
R

eferences in an enactm
ent other than one contained in this Schedule or the

1983 A
ct to Part 1 of that A

ct include a reference to this Schedule.

P
age 89



Individual Electoral Registration 
51

 

 

D
R

A
F

T
 L

E
G

ISL
A

T
IO

N
 R

E
L

A
T

IN
G

 T
O

 
IN

D
IV

ID
U

A
L

 E
L

E
C

T
O

R
A

L
 R

E
G

IST
R

A
T

IO
N

 
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
 

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

O
R

Y
 N

O
T

E
S 

B
A

C
K

G
R

O
U

N
D

 

1. 
In 

the 
program

m
e 

for 
G

overnm
ent 

(available 
at 

http://cabinetoffice.gov.uk/new
s/coalition-docum

ents) the G
overnm

ent com
m

itted to 
an individual electoral registration system

 that w
ould:  

“R
educe electoral fraud by speeding up the im

plem
entation of Individual 

E
lectoral R

egistration.” 

T
E

R
R

IT
O

R
IA

L
 E

X
T

E
N

T
 

2. 
T

he draft legislation extends to E
ngland and W

ales, Scotland and N
orthern 

Ireland - in a technical sense it is law
 in all parts of the U

nited K
ingdom

 (w
ith the 

exception of som
e am

endm
ents to the R

epresentation of the People A
ct 1983 w

hich 
have the sam

e territorial extent as the provisions am
ended). H

ow
ever, the m

ajority of 
the provisions in the draft legislation apply only to G

reat B
ritain.  

3. 
T

he principal subject m
atter of the draft legislation (electoral registration) is 

reserved to the W
estm

inster Parliam
ent. H

ow
ever, the provision relating to eligibility 

to be appointed as (and to vote as) a proxy, and the provisions in Parts 4 to 6 of 
Schedule 3 relating to entitlem

ent to vote by post and proxy during the transitional 
period, are w

ithin the legislative com
petence of the Scottish Parliam

ent to the extent 
that they relate to local governm

ent elections in Scotland. If the legislation is 
introduced in this form

, the G
overnm

ent w
ill seek the consent of the Scottish 

Parliam
ent for the provisions m

entioned. 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
A

R
Y

 O
N

 C
L

A
U

SE
S 

C
lause 1: 

Individual registration 

4. 
Subsection (1) inserts a new

 section into the R
epresentation of the People A

ct 
1983 (“the 1983 A

ct”) w
hich specifies w

hen a registration officer m
ust enter a person 

in an electoral register under the new
 system

 of individual electoral registration in 
G

reat B
ritain. T

he person m
ust have m

ade an application on a form
 determ

ined by the 
E

lectoral C
om

m
ission, or in such other m

anner as regulations m
ay provide. It m

ust 
appear to the registration officer that the person is entitled to be registered and that the 
application is m

ade by that person. It m
ust therefore appear to the registration officer 

P
age 90



52 
Individual Electoral Registration

 

that an applicant is w
ho they claim

 to be and that such a person exists. R
egulations 

and guidance m
ay be m

ade to provide further detail as to how
 applications are to be 

determ
ined. 

5. 
Subsection (2) gives effect to Schedule 1. Schedule 1 contains new

 sections 
dealing w

ith the new
 arrangem

ents for am
endm

ents to registrations and rem
ovals of 

entries from
 registers in consequence of the new

 registration system
 in G

reat B
ritain. 

C
la

u
se 2

: 
V

erifica
tio

n
 o

f en
titlem

en
t etc  

6. 
C

lause 2 am
ends Schedule 2 to the 1983 A

ct to enable the M
inister (the L

ord 
President of the C

ouncil or the Secretary of State) to m
ake regulations w

hich w
ill 

enable a system
 to be established for the verification of the eligibility of applicants 

and registered electors in G
reat B

ritain, and verification that applicants are the person 
they claim

 to be.  

7. 
Subsection (2) provides for secondary legislation to authorise or require 

registration officers to require a person to provide evidence of eligibility and that she 
or he is the person nam

ed in the application.  

8. 
Subsection (3) provides for secondary legislation to specify the contents of 

applications and declarations, and to require a person applying to register to vote to 
provide evidence that he or she is the person nam

ed in the application and that he or 
she is entitled to be registered. R

egulations m
ay also provide that a person m

ay be 
asked to provide alternative evidence if they are unw

illing or unable to provide the 
standard evidence w

ith an application, or additional evidence (this could be used, for 
exam

ple, w
here the registration officer has doubts about the initial evidence supplied 

by an applicant). 

9. 
Subsection (4) enables regulations to require a registration officer to check the 

data that a person has provided w
ith inform

ation held by another person. It provides 
for secondary legislation to set out the requirem

ents for the provision of inform
ation 

for this purpose, the requirem
ents for the storing and disposal of inform

ation, and 
prohibitions or restrictions on the disclosure of inform

ation. T
his pow

er could, for 
exam

ple, be used to put in place a system
 w

hereby national insurance num
bers and 

dates of birth are checked against records held by the D
epartm

ent for W
ork and 

Pensions, but the national insurance num
ber is deleted by the registration officer once 

the verification is com
plete. Subsection (4) also provides that regulations m

ay set out 
circum

stances 
in 

w
hich 

a 
registration 

officer 
m

ay 
accept 

another 
person’s 

confirm
ation of a fact as sufficient evidence of that fact, w

hich could be used instead 
of data com

parison to verify an application. T
his pow

er could, for exam
ple, be used to 

put in place regulations w
hich w

ould allow
 a registration officer to take advantage of 

verification already carried out by the local authority for other purposes, rather than 
having to repeat the verification process.  

10. 
Subsection (5) states that regulations m

ay provide for an offence of disclosing 
inform

ation in breach of regulations m
ade under the provision inserted by subsection 

P
age 91



Individual Electoral Registration 
53

 

(4), and anyone found guilty of such an offence could face up to tw
o years’ 

im
prisonm

ent.  

C
lause 3: 

P
roxies to be registered electors 

11. 
C

lause 
3 

substitutes 
current 

requirem
ents 

concerning 
eligibility 

for 
appointm

ent as a proxy so that a person m
ust them

selves be registered if they are to 
vote on behalf of an elector at either local governm

ent or Parliam
entary elections in 

G
reat B

ritain. C
urrently the requirem

ent is, broadly, that the person to be appointed as 
a proxy m

ust be eligible to register to vote. T
he new

 provision has the effect of 
applying the verification requirem

ents of a system
 of individual electoral registration 

(w
hether the new

 system
 in G

reat B
ritain or the existing system

 in N
orthern Ireland) 

to a proxy w
ho votes on behalf of an elector as w

ell as to the elector. 

C
lause 4: 

A
nnual canvass   

12. 
C

lause 
4 

inserts 
a 

new
 

section 
into 

the 
1983 

A
ct 

w
hich 

restates 
the 

requirem
ent for registration officers to carry out an annual canvass in G

reat B
ritain, 

but w
ith som

e changes from
 the current requirem

ent. 

13. 
T

he key changes are that the canvass form
 is to be determ

ined by the E
lectoral 

C
om

m
ission (subsection (3)(a)), that regulations m

ay provide for the canvass to be 
conducted in a different m

anner (subsection (3)(b)), that the canvass no longer has a 
reference date of 15th O

ctober, and that a canvass return can no longer act as an 
application to be added to the electoral register. 

14. 
Subsection (4) states that, as at present, a registration officer m

ay m
ake use of 

house to house inquiries to support the annual canvass. 

15. 
Subsection (5) states that, as at present, the canvass requirem

ent does not 
apply to the registration of people to w

hom
 a special registration system

 applies 
(including those on rem

and in prison, patients in m
ental hospitals, those w

ithout a 
fixed 

address, 
service 

personnel, 
B

ritish 
citizens 

resident 
overseas 

and 
those 

registered anonym
ously for their safety).  

C
lause 5: 

Invitations to register  

16. 
C

lause 5 inserts a new
 section into the 1983 A

ct w
hich requires registration 

officers in G
reat B

ritain to send invitations to register to unregistered persons of 
w

hom
 they are aw

are (w
hether identified through the annual canvass or by any other 

m
eans). T

his is supported by a pow
er to m

ake regulations about the sending of such 
invitations, including how

 often they m
ust be sent, w

hat docum
ents m

ust be sent, and 
w

hether registration officers m
ay stop sending invitations to a person for a tim

e if the 
person says that they do not w

ant to receive them
. T

his pow
er could, for exam

ple, be 
used to require registration officers to include further blank application form

s w
ith 

each personalised invitation, w
ith a request to pass such form

s to other people w
ho are 

P
age 92



54 
Individual Electoral Registration

 

resident at the address but w
ho are not registered and have not received a personalised 

invitation. 

C
lause 6: 

P
ow

er to am
end or abolish the annual canvass  

17. 
Subsections (1) and (2) give a pow

er for the M
inister (the L

ord President of 
the C

ouncil or Secretary of State) to m
ake an order to put in place alternative 

arrangem
ents for registration officers in G

reat B
ritain to find out the nam

es and 
addresses of people w

ho are entitled to be registered but not registered, or w
ho are 

registered but are not entitled, and a pow
er to abolish or am

end the annual canvass in 
G

reat B
ritain required under section 9D

 of the 1983 A
ct (inserted by clause 4).  

18. 
Subsection (3) allow

s the M
inister to reinstate the annual canvass if it has been 

abolished under subsection (2). 

19. 
Subsection (4) enables an order under subsection (1) or (2) to include offences 

w
hich m

ay have a penalty of up to tw
o years’ im

prisonm
ent. 

20. 
Subsections (6) and (7) set out the type of provisions that orders under 

subsections (1) and (2) m
ay contain. Subsection (8) provides for such orders to be 

subject to the draft affirm
ative parliam

entary procedure. 

C
lause 7: 

 C
onsulting E

lectoral C
om

m
ission about proposals under section 6    

21. 
Subsection (1) requires the E

lectoral C
om

m
ission to prepare a report if the 

M
inister consults it about a proposal to am

end, abolish or reinstate the annual canvass 
in G

reat B
ritain, or to m

ake alternative arrangem
ents, under clause 6. T

he report m
ust 

assess the extent to w
hich the objective of the annual canvass is m

et currently, the 
extent to w

hich it w
ould be m

et if the proposed order w
ere m

ade and other w
ays the 

objective could be m
et. 

22. 
Subsection (3) requires the E

lectoral C
om

m
ission to provide the report w

ithin 
3 m

onths of being consulted by the M
inister. 

23. 
Subsection (4) enables the C

om
m

ission to obtain inform
ation from

 registration 
officers for use in preparing the report.  

24. 
Subsection (5) requires the M

inister to lay the report before Parliam
ent if the 

M
inister lays a draft order under clause 6 unless the draft order provides only for the 

reinstatem
ent of the duty to conduct a canvass. T

he M
inister m

ust therefore consult 
the E

lectoral C
om

m
ission and obtain the report before laying an order under clause 6 

except one that only reinstates the duty to conduct a canvass. 

C
lause 8: 

M
inor and consequential am

endm
ents  

25. 
 Subsection 

(1) 
gives 

effect 
to 

Schedule 
2 

w
hich 

contains 
m

inor 
and 

consequential am
endm

ents. 

P
age 93



Individual Electoral Registration 
55

 

26. 
Subsection (2) ensures that the pow

ers given to the Secretary of State in the 
am

endm
ents to the 1983 A

ct m
ade by this legislation m

ay also be exercised by the 
L

ord President of the C
ouncil. 

C
lause 10:  

C
om

m
encem

ent 

27. 
C

lause 10 states that the legislation w
ill com

e into force on the 1 July 2014, 
w

ith the exception of som
e technical provisions and the pow

er at clause 11 for the 
M

inister to m
ake secondary legislation supplem

enting Schedule 3, w
hich w

ill com
e 

into force w
hen the B

ill is passed.   

C
lause 11:  

T
ransitional provision 

28. 
C

lause 11 gives effect to Schedule 3 (w
hich provides for the change from

 the 
old to the new

 system
 of registration) and enables the M

inister to supplem
ent 

Schedule 3 by secondary legislation.  

C
lause 12: 

 E
xtent 

29. 
C

lause 12 is a technical provision to ensure that, w
here other legislation that is 

am
ended by this legislation is law

 in only a part of the U
nited K

ingdom
, the provision 

in this legislation is subject to the sam
e territorial restriction. 

Schedule 1: R
egister of electors: alterations and rem

oval  

30. 
P

aragraph 1 inserts tw
o new

 sections in the 1983 A
ct w

hich set out w
hen a 

registration officer m
ust alter the nam

e or address of an elector, or rem
ove an elector’s 

entry from
 the register, in the new

 registration system
 in G

reat B
ritain. It does not 

affect registration officers’ ability to correct clerical errors. 

31. 
Section 10ZD

 states the circum
stances in w

hich a registration officer m
ust 

alter the nam
e or address of a person on the register. Subsection (1) provides that an 

application m
ust have been m

ade to that effect, and it m
ust appear to the registration 

officer that the person is entitled to be registered in respect of the new
 nam

e or 
address and that the application is m

ade by that person. Subsection (2) provides that 
the requirem

ents and pow
ers relating to applications for a new

 registration also apply 
to applications for changes to registrations.  

32. 
Section 10ZE

(1) and (2) state that a registration officer m
ust rem

ove a person 
from

 the register if that person w
as not or has ceased to be entitled to be registered at 

the address in respect of w
hich they are registered (w

hether because they have m
oved 

house or for any other reason), or if the person’s current registration is the result of an 
application 

m
ade 

by 
som

eone 
else. 

T
he 

requirem
ents 

for 
being 

entitled 
to 

be 
registered are set out at section 4 of the 1983 A

ct. 

33. 
Section 10ZE

(3) enables a registration officer to m
ake use of house to house 

inquiries to supplem
ent this.   

P
age 94



56 
Individual Electoral Registration

 

34. 
Section 10ZE

(4) confers a pow
er to m

ake regulations to support the process of 
rem

oving entries from
 the electoral register, including steps that a registration officer 

m
ust take before concluding that a person is not entitled to rem

ain registered. For 
exam

ple, regulations could require that in certain circum
stances the registration 

officer m
ust attem

pt to contact the person before determ
ining that they are not entitled 

to rem
ain registered. 

35. 
Section 10ZE

(5) states that a registration officer m
ust consider w

hether to 
rem

ove a person from
 the electoral register if they receive an objection from

 another 
registered person about that person’s registration or becom

e aw
are of inform

ation that 
causes them

 to suspect that the person m
ay not be entitled to rem

ain registered (for 
exam

ple because of inform
ation obtained during the annual canvass). 

36. 
Section 10ZE

(7) states that the requirem
ent to rem

ove people from
 the register 

does not apply to the registration of people for w
hom

 there are separate rules about 
rem

oval from
 the register (including those on rem

and in prison, patients in m
ental 

hospitals, those w
ithout a fixed address, service personnel and B

ritish citizens resident 
overseas). 

37. 
P

aragraph 2 am
ends section 13A

 of the 1983 A
ct to enable a registration 

officer to correct inform
ation in a register in G

reat B
ritain if they determ

ine that it is 
incorrect. T

his w
ould not rem

ove the requirem
ent to rem

ove an entry from
 the register 

if the circum
stances in new

 section 10Z
E

(1) are m
et, but w

ould allow
 a registration 

officer to correct an error that has not resulted from
 a clerical error w

here those 
circum

stances are not m
et (for exam

ple, w
here a person has changed their nam

e but 
has not inform

ed the registration officer). Section 13A
(6) of the 1983 A

ct enables 
regulations to put in place procedures for the m

aking of a correction under this 
provision. 

Schedule 2: M
inor and consequential am

endm
ents  

38. 
P

aragraphs 1 to 15 m
ake m

inor and consequential am
endm

ents to the 1983 
A

ct. Several of these am
endm

ents restrict the application of sections of the 1983 A
ct 

w
hich currently apply to all of the U

nited K
ingdom

 so that they apply only in 
N

orthern Ireland, since those sections are replaced by the new
 sections inserted by 

clauses 1, 4 and 5 and Schedule 1 w
hich apply in G

reat B
ritain. 

39. 
P

aragraph 2, 3, 4, 14 and 17 m
ake am

endm
ents to the 1983 A

ct and the 
R

epresentation of the People A
ct 1985 so that a registration officer m

ust rem
ove a 

person from
 the register if the person’s current registration is the result of an 

application m
ade by som

eone else. T
his is the case for m

ost registrations under new
 

section 10Z
E

(1)(c) of the 1983 A
ct, and these am

endm
ents apply the sam

e rule to the 
special types of registration to w

hich that new
 section does not apply.    

40. 
P

aragraph 5(2) am
ends section 9(2) of the 1983 A

ct so that it is clear that a 
person w

ill only be included on a register in the U
nited K

ingdom
 pursuant to an 

application for registration. 

P
age 95



Individual Electoral Registration 
57

 

41. 
P

aragraph 6 am
ends section 9A

(1) of the 1983 A
ct to set out the scope of the 

general duty on registration officers, w
hich could otherw

ise be reduced by the 
am

endm
ent m

ade by paragraph 5(2).  

42. 
 P

aragraphs 7 and 8 am
end the requirem

ents for the renew
al of anonym

ous 
registrations in G

reat B
ritain so that it w

ill not be necessary to m
ake a com

plete 
application for registration each year as at present. Instead, once the anonym

ous 
registration is in place it w

ill only be necessary to m
ake an application for anonym

ity 
under section 9B

 of the 1983 A
ct in order to renew

 the entry each year. T
his m

eans 
that it w

ill only be necessary for the full verification process to apply to an application 
for a new

 anonym
ous registration, or for an anonym

ous registration under a different 
nam

e or address. 

43. 
P

aragraph 12(2) inserts provisions into section 13A
 of the 1983 A

ct to 
provide for the m

anner in w
hich registration officers m

ust give effect to changes to 
registers in G

reat B
ritain resulting from

 the new
 provisions relating to applications for 

registration and alterations to registers. 

44. 
P

aragraph 15 gives additional pow
ers to m

ake regulations for G
reat B

ritain in 
relation to the conduct of canvasses, follow

ing up canvass requests and invitations for 
applications to w

hich no responses have been received, and enabling registration 
officers to share inform

ation to ensure that proxies m
eet the requirem

ent to be 
registered before they are appointed (see clause 3). 

45. 
P

aragraph 19 repeals sections 30 to 34 of the Political Parties and E
lections 

A
ct 2009 concerning the previous voluntary and com

pulsory schem
es of individual 

electoral registration in G
reat B

ritain.  

Schedule 3: T
ransitional provision  

46. 
Schedule 3 sets out how

 the m
ove from

 the old system
 of electoral registration 

to the new
 system

 of individual electoral registration in G
reat B

ritain w
ill operate in 

2014 and 2015. 

P
art 1: Introduction 

47. 
P

aragraph 1 stipulates that applications m
ade before 1 July 2014 are to be 

dealt w
ith under the old system

 even if the application is determ
ined after 1 July 2014.  

P
art 2: R

em
oval of existing registrations by end of 2015 canvass 

48. 
P

aragraph 3 stipulates that, after the 2014 canvass, registration officers m
ust 

rem
ove from

 the register each entry that w
as carried forw

ard in 2013 and in respect of 
w

hich the elector has not m
ade an application under the new

 system
 or responded to 

the 2014 canvass.  

49. 
P

aragraph 4 states that, after the 2015 canvass, a registration officer m
ust 

rem
ove from

 the register the entry of each person w
ho has not m

ade a successful 
application for registration under the new

 system
. It w

ill only be possible for a person 

P
age 96



58 
Individual Electoral Registration

 

to be registered after this point if they have m
ade an application under the new

 system
 

and that application has been successful. 

50. 
P

aragraph 5 states that the provisions about rem
oval from

 the register in 
paragraphs 3 and 4 do not apply to people w

ho are registered under a special 
registration system

 (and have been since im
m

ediately before 1 July 2014). T
his 

includes those on rem
and in prison, patients in m

ental hospitals, those w
ithout a fixed 

address, service personnel, B
ritish citizens resident overseas and those registered 

anonym
ously for their safety. Parts 5 and 6 of Schedule 3 m

ake separate provision for 
those people. 

P
art 3: E

ncouraging new
 applications in 2014 and 2015 

51. 
P

aragraph 6 states that on, or soon after, 1 July 2014 a registration officer 
m

ust send an invitation to m
ake a new

 application for registration to all persons listed 
on the register w

ho have not m
ade an application under the new

 system
. A

n invitation 
does not have to be sent w

hile the officer has reason to believe that the person is no 
longer resident at that address. P

aragraph 7 provides that in 2014 registration officers 
need not send canvass form

s to addresses at w
hich people have been sent individual 

invitations to register. 

52. 
P

aragraph 8 stipulates that in 2015 a registration officer m
ust send an 

invitation to m
ake a new

 application for registration to all persons w
ho have an entry 

on the register, and have not m
ade a successful application for registration under the 

new
 system

. T
his m

ust be sent w
hen the registration officer receives a returned 

canvass form
 in respect of the person’s address or w

hen the officer realises that a 
canvass form

 w
ill not be returned for that address, and at the latest at the end of 

O
ctober. If the registration officer has reason to believe that the person is no longer 

resident at the relevant address or if that person has m
ade an application under the 

new
 system

 that has not yet been determ
ined, then no invitation need be sent.    

53. 
P

aragraph 9 allow
s further provision to be m

ade about the invitations to be 
sent to people under paragraphs 6 and 8. For exam

ple, regulations could require that a 
registration 

officer 
w

ho 
sends 

an 
individual 

invitation 
to 

an 
individual 

under 
paragraph 6, and chooses not to send a canvass form

 to that address in 2014, m
ust 

include additional blank application form
s w

ith that invitation, w
ith a request to pass 

them
 to any other residents at the address w

ho have not received a personalised 
invitation. 

54. 
P

aragraph 
10 

states 
that 

the 
provisions 

about 
invitations 

to 
register 

in 
paragraphs 6 to 8 do not apply to people w

ho are registered under a special 
registration system

 (and have been since im
m

ediately before 1 July 2014). T
he system

 
for those people is set out in Parts 5 and 6 of Schedule 3. 

P
art 4: A

bsent voting 
55. 

P
aragraph 11 stipulates that those persons applying to vote by post or by 

proxy (“an absent vote”) on or after 1 July 2014 w
ill only be granted an absent vote if 

they have m
ade a successful application under the new

 system
. A

gain, this paragraph 
does not apply to people w

ho are subject to special registration system
s. 

P
age 97



Individual Electoral Registration 
59

 

56. 
P

aragraph 12 states that a person’s existing absent vote w
ill expire follow

ing 
the 2014 canvass if they have not m

ade a successful application to register under the 
new

 system
. T

he registration officer m
ust notify the individual, and regulations m

ay 
require 

the 
registration 

officer 
to 

take 
other 

steps 
(for 

exam
ple 

providing 
the 

individual w
ith the form

s needed to m
ake an application to regain an absent vote). 

A
gain, this paragraph does not apply to people w

ho are subject to special registration 
system

s. 

57. 
P

aragraph 13 states that proxies w
ill only be regarded as registered in a 

register in G
reat B

ritain (and so eligible to be a proxy follow
ing the change m

ade by 
clause 3) if they have m

ade a successful application to vote under the new
 registration 

system
, so existing registrations resulting from

 applications m
ade under the old 

system
 are not sufficient. T

his does not apply to proxies w
ho are registered in a 

register in N
orthern Ireland, w

here there is already a system
 of individual electoral 

registration and registration under that system
 is sufficient for the purpose of the 

change m
ade by clause 3. 

58. 
P

aragraph 14 stipulates that appointm
ents of new

 and existing proxies for 
electors w

ho have proxy votes w
hich they applied for before 1 July 2014 w

ill not be 
affected 

by 
paragraph 

13 
until 

after 
the 

2014 
canvass. 

If 
an 

existing 
proxy 

appointm
ent ceases to be in force at that point because the proxy has not m

ade a 
successful application to register under the new

 system
, the registration officer m

ust 
inform

 the proxy and the elector for w
hom

 they w
ere appointed, and regulations m

ay 
require 

the 
registration 

officer 
to 

take 
other 

steps 
(for 

exam
ple 

providing 
the 

individuals w
ith the form

s needed for the proxy to be reappointed). A
gain, this 

paragraph does not apply to people w
ho are subject to special registration system

s. 

P
art 5: P

ersons w
ith existing registrations by virtue of declarations etc  

59. 
P

aragraph 15 sets out that Part 5 applies to people w
ho are (and have been 

since im
m

ediately before 1 July 2014) registered as a result of a declaration of local 
connection, a service declaration or an overseas elector’s declaration, and people 
registered anonym

ously.  

60. 
P

aragraph 16 states that on the first occasion on or after 1 O
ctober 2014 on 

w
hich a person’s entry com

es up for renew
al they w

ill only rem
ain registered if they 

m
ake a successful application for registration under the new

 system
. U

ntil that point 
they m

ay be registered under the old system
.  

61. 
P

aragraph 17 has the effect that an application for an absent vote m
ade by the 

person before the first occasion on or after 1 O
ctober 2014 on w

hich a person’s entry 
com

es up for renew
al m

ay be granted even though at that point the person has not 
m

ade a successful application to be registered under the new
 system

. 

62. 
P

aragraph 18 provides that such a person’s proxy need not have m
ade a 

successful application for registration under the new
 system

 until the first occasion on 
or after 1 O

ctober 2014 on w
hich the person’s entry com

es up for renew
al.  

P
age 98



60 
Individual Electoral Registration

 

P
art 6: P

ersons w
ith existing registrations by virtue of section 7(2) or 7A

(2) of the 
1983 A

ct 
63. 

P
aragraph 19 sets out that Part 6 applies to people w

ho are registered on the 
basis of residence in m

ental hospitals or a place w
here they are held on rem

and, and 
have been registered on that basis since im

m
ediately before 1 July 2014. 

64. 
P

aragraph 20 provides that on the first occasion on or after 1 O
ctober 2014 on 

w
hich a person’s entry com

es up for renew
al they w

ill only rem
ain registered if they 

m
ake a successful application for registration under the new

 system
. U

ntil that point 
they m

ay be registered under the old system
. 

65. 
P

aragraph 21 has the effect that an application for an absent vote m
ade by the 

person before the first occasion on or after 1 O
ctober 2014 on w

hich a person’s entry 
com

es up for renew
al m

ay be granted even though at that point the person has not 
m

ade a successful application to be registered under the new
 system

. 

66. 
P

aragraph 22 states that such a person’s proxy need not have m
ade a 

successful application for registration under the new
 system

 until the first occasion on 
or after 1 O

ctober 2014 on w
hich the person’s entry com

es up for renew
al. 

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 E

F
F

E
C

T
S

 

67. 
T

he total costs of the m
ove to Individual E

lectoral R
egistration (“IE

R
”) is 

estim
ated at £108m

; this has been funded as part of the spending review
 settlem

ent 
and includes £85m

 resource funding in 2014/15 to fund registration officers to m
ake 

contact w
ith each potential elector individually to invite them

 to register in 2014. T
he 

rest of the costs are capital costs, as w
ell as adm

inistration and resource costs for the 
current and next tw

o financial years. Follow
ing the conclusion of the data m

atching 
pilot schem

es at the end of this year, a decision w
ill be taken on w

hether to fund the 
roll-out of data m

atching across G
reat 

B
ritain. T

here m
ay be additional costs, 

depending on w
hether a decision is taken to roll-out data m

atching nationally. A
s 

agreed in C
abinet O

ffice’s spending review
 settlem

ent, w
e w

ill consider this further 
w

ith H
M

 T
reasury based on the outcom

e of the data m
atching pilots this year: this 

draft legislation m
akes no provision for the roll out of data m

atching.  

68. 
It is estim

ated that after the m
ove to IE

R
 is com

plete, the annual ongoing cost 
of electoral registration w

ill be an additional £31.8m
 per annum

; although any future 
decision to stop the annual canvass as provided for in this draft legislation can be 
expected to bring costs dow

n significantly (it is too early to say w
hether there w

ould 
be any net savings as the running costs of a replacem

ent for the annual canvass – 
w

hich could be based on data m
atching - are as yet unknow

n). T
hese costs w

ill need 
to be factored into the next spending review

. 

P
U

B
L

IC
 S

E
C

T
O

R
 M

A
N

P
O

W
E

R
 

69. 
It is possible that in the short run E

lectoral R
egistration O

fficers w
ill have to 

em
ploy 

m
ore 

staff 
as 

they 
look 

to 
m

ake 
contact 

w
ith 

each 
potential 

elector 

P
age 99



Individual Electoral Registration 
61

 

individually to invite them
 to register in 2014. £85m

 resource funding in 2014/15 has 
been to set aside for this purpose.   

IM
P

A
C

T
 A

SSE
SSM

E
N

T
 

70. 
T

he draft clauses have no im
pact on business or the third sector as the nature 

of the im
pact of the proposed provisions falls on citizens and electoral registration 

officers.  

E
U

R
O

P
E

A
N

 C
O

N
V

E
N

T
IO

N
 O

N
 H

U
M

A
N

 R
IG

H
T

S  

71. 
A

lthough section 19(1) of the H
um

an R
ights A

ct 1998 does not require a 
m

inister to sign a statem
ent of com

patibility w
ith the E

uropean C
onvention on H

um
an 

R
ights (“E

C
H

R
”) in relation to draft legislation, the G

overnm
ent’s view

 is that the 
draft legislation is com

patible w
ith the C

onvention rights as defined by section 1 of 
the 1998 A

ct and it w
ould be possible for a m

inister to m
ake a statem

ent of 
com

patibility under section 19(1)(a) of that A
ct.  

R
ight to free elections - A

rticle 3 of P
rotocol 1 E

C
H

R
 

72. 
A

rticle 3 of Protocol 1 to the E
C

H
R

 provides: “T
he H

igh C
ontracting Parties 

undertake to hold free elections at reasonable intervals by secret ballot, under 
conditions w

hich w
ill ensure free expression of the opinion of the people in the choice 

of the legislature”. 

A
 w

orking registration system
 

73. 
T

he m
ain concern that arises w

hen considering the com
patibility of the draft 

legislation w
ith A

rticle 3 of Protocol 1 is w
hether the registration system

 w
ould have 

the effect of disenfranchising those entitled to register to vote by rem
oving them

 from
 

the register and preventing them
 from

 re-registering under the new
 legislation. 

74. 
A

lthough the draft legislation enables the introduction of a new
 process for 

electoral registration in G
reat B

ritain, there is nothing in it w
hich prevents those 

currently on the electoral register, or others eligible to register to vote, from
 being 

registered under the new
 system

. 

75. 
T

here m
ay be concern as to w

hether regulations m
ade under the pow

ers in the 
draft legislation m

ight require inform
ation or evidence to be provided or checked in a 

w
ay 

w
hich 

prevents 
som

e 
individuals 

w
ho 

are 
entitled 

to 
be 

registered 
from

 
successfully applying for registration. T

here m
ay also be concern that the w

ay in 
w

hich the process of verifying that inform
ation is carried out in practice could have 

the sam
e effect. H

ow
ever, this is a question of how

 the proposed legislation is 
im

plem
ented and does not affect the com

patibility of the legislation itself. 

76. 
T

he G
overnm

ent therefore considers that the draft legislation w
ould not put in 

place any practical obstacle to an eligible person registering to vote, and that in this 
respect the draft legislation is com

patible w
ith A

rticle 3 of Protocol 1. 

P
age 100



62 
Individual Electoral Registration

 

77. 
A

 further issue in this respect m
ay be that certain groups m

ay find it m
ore 

difficult to satisfy the requirem
ents of the registration process than others, w

hich 
could raise concerns under A

rticle 14 E
C

H
R

 (prohibition on discrim
ination) taken 

together w
ith A

rticle 3 of Protocol 1. A
rticle 14 provides: “T

he enjoym
ent of the 

rights 
and 

freedom
s 

set 
forth 

in 
this 

C
onvention 

shall 
be 

secured 
w

ithout 
discrim

ination on any ground such as sex, race, colour, language, religion, political or 
other opinion, national or social origin, association w

ith a national m
inority, property, 

birth or other status”. 

78. 
It is inevitable that there m

ay be som
e individuals w

ho find the registration 
process less sim

ple than others. H
ow

ever, there is nothing inherent in the draft 
legislation that w

ould create an obstacle to an eligible person registering to vote, 
irrespective of their status in the A

rticle 14 sense. T
herefore, the G

overnm
ent does not 

consider that the provisions in the draft legislation engage A
rticle 14. 

F
ranchise – legal incapacities 

79. 
T

he franchise for elections in the U
K

 is defined in part by the requirem
ent to 

be registered (see for exam
ple section 1 of the 1983 A

ct). O
ther elem

ents of the 
franchise for elections in the U

K
 are age, nationality and w

hether an individual is 
subject to a legal incapacity to vote. T

he G
overnm

ent has considered w
hether the 

decisions in H
irst v U

K
 (N

o 2) (application 74025/01) and G
reens and M

T v U
K

 
(applications 60041/08 and 60054/08) raise an issue under A

rticle 3 of Protocol 1 for 
the draft legislation. 

80. 
W

e have concluded that because the draft legislation relates only to the 
process of electoral registration and not to the question of w

hich individuals are (or 
are not) entitled to be registered to vote, any concerns arising out of those decisions 
do not extend to the draft legislation. 

R
ight to respect for private life – A

rticle 8 E
C

H
R

 
81. 

A
rticle 8 E

C
H

R
 provides: “1. E

veryone has the right to respect for his private 
and fam

ily life, his hom
e and his correspondence. 2. T

here shall be no interference by 
a public authority w

ith the exercise of this right except such as is in accordance w
ith 

the law
 and is necessary in a dem

ocratic society in the interests of national security, 
public safety or the econom

ic w
ell-being of the country, for the prevention of disorder 

or crim
e, for the protection of health or m

orals, or for the protection of the rights and 
freedom

s of others.” 

82. 
T

he operation of the provisions in the draft legislation inevitably involves the 
processing 

of 
individuals’ 

personal 
inform

ation 
and 

therefore 
arguably 

engages 
A

rticle 8 E
C

H
R

.  T
he draft legislation itself does not require any m

ore inform
ation to 

be provided by applicants, or inform
ation to be used by registration officers in a 

different w
ay, than is required currently for electoral registration under the provisions 

of the R
epresentation of the People A

ct 1983, but it does provide pow
ers for 

regulations to expand the requirem
ents in this respect. T

he question of com
patibility 

w
ith A

rticle 8 w
ill, therefore, depend to an extent on the w

ay in w
hich the new

 system
 

is im
plem

ented. 

P
age 101



Individual Electoral Registration 
63

 

83. 
T

o the extent that the pow
ers to m

ake such provision m
ay engage A

rticle 8 in 
that they enable requirem

ents to be im
posed for the passing, use and retention of 

personal 
data, 

this 
m

eets 
legitim

ate 
aim

s 
identified 

in 
A

rticle 
8 

including, 
significantly, the right of other individuals to exercise their right to vote under A

rticle 
3 of Protocol 1. T

he pow
ers are necessary to ensure that: 

a) 
 

registration 
officers 

are 
able 

to 
ensure 

that 
only 

those 
individuals w

ho are entitled to be registered to vote are included on the 
register; 

b)  
registration officers are able to ensure that the electoral register 

is not used in order to create fraudulent identities or com
m

it electoral 
offences; and 

c) 
 

registration officers are able to obtain inform
ation relating to 

individuals w
ho m

ay be eligible to be registered to vote, in order to 
invite them

 to do so. 
 84. 

In relation to the provisions allow
ing access to registers, these are lim

ited and 
the draft legislation does not change the current w

ell established legislative schem
e. A

 
challenge in the H

igh C
ourt to the current schem

e for the disclosure and use of the 
electoral register w

as found strike a perm
issible balance betw

een legitim
ate aim

s and 
the “very m

odest” interference w
ith the right to vote (see R

 (R
obertson) v Secretary of 

State [2003] E
W

H
C

 1760 (A
dm

in).   

85. 
T

he G
overnm

ent therefore considers that the draft legislation is com
patible 

w
ith A

rticle 8. 

    

P
age 102



64 
Individual Electoral Registration

P
age 103



Individual Electoral Registration 
65

A
nnex A

 – Sum
m

ary of Im
pact A

ssessm
ents

Im
pact A

ssessm
ent

The im
pact assessm

ent identi!es both m
onetised and non-m

onetised im
pacts on individuals and 

groups in G
reat Britain, w

ith the aim
 of understanding w

hat the overall im
pact to society m

ight be from
 

im
plem

enting the proposal. The im
pact assessm

ents for IER include a full equality im
pact assessm

ent and 
privacy im

pact assessm
ent.

The net cost for transitioning to IER is estim
ated at £108m

, in addition to the current cost of electoral 
registration (£82.8m

 annually).

W
hilst im

pact assessm
ents place a strong em

phasis on valuing costs and bene!ts in m
onetary term

s, there 
are also im

portant bene!ts of the proposal that that cannot sensibly be m
onetised. The proposal presents a 

sim
pler process than provisions in the PPE A

ct, w
hich w

ill lim
it confusion and reinforces the principle of IER. 

The proposed option also allow
s the canvass in 2014 to be com

fortably com
pleted prior to the G

eneral 
Election in 2015, and uses a carry forw

ard provision to help people m
anage the transition to IER.

Equality Im
pact A

ssessm
ent

The m
ove aw

ay from
 a household electoral registration system

 should have an overall positive im
pact 

on equality, providing each eligible individual w
ith the right and responsibility to register them

selves 
to vote, rather than being dependent on another m

em
ber of the household. This should em

pow
er 

individuals to take greater ow
nership of their franchise.

This, how
ever, w

ill require a shift in behaviour if people are to take responsibility for their ow
n 

registration. This w
ill be supported by a strategy w

hich includes a transitional carry-forw
ard, publicity and 

targeted engagem
ent that w

ill m
ake it as easy as possible for people to register, by providing increased 

opportunity and prom
pts that w

ill help everyone adapt to the change.

W
hilst the system

 w
ill be as convenient and ef!cient as possible for all users, im

pacts on the follow
ing 

groups of people have been particularly considered: those currently under-represented on the register; 
those w

ho present a particular challenge in 2014; and those w
ho have special requirem

ents.

A
 num

ber of consultations have taken place in order to develop and test the proposal and consider the im
pact 

on these groups. C
onsultations, along w

ith analysis of the data m
atching pilot schem

e outcom
es, are expected 

P
age 104



66 
Individual Electoral Registration

to continue to ensure that any potential equality im
pacts resulting from

 the policy proposal to im
plem

ent 
individual electoral registration can be identi�ed and m

itigation strategies put in place and tested.

Liaison w
ith other governm

ent departm
ents w

ho interact w
ith target groups, particularly attainers and hom

e-
m

overs, has also begun in order to explore alternative channels and opportunities to reach these groups.

Privacy Im
pact A

ssessm
ent

A
 full Privacy Im

pact A
ssessm

ent has been conducted on the proposal for IER due to the requirem
ent for 

each person to register individually and the intention to require applicants to provide additional personal 
data to allow

 the veri�cation of their application. The assessm
ent concludes that the proposed option for 

im
plem

entation of inviting individuals to register is one that prevents the need for them
 to share their 

additional personal inform
ation w

ith others in the household. W
hilst there w

ill be an im
provem

ent to the 
privacy of individuals there w

ill be som
e im

pacts as a result of the im
plem

entation of IER:

C
ollection of additional personal data that electors are not currently required to provide.

Transm
ission of data for the purposes of verifying an elector’s entitlem

ent before they are 
placed on the electoral register.

Retention and disposal of personal data collected for the purposes of electoral registration 
increases the risk of unauthorised disclosure.

The G
overnm

ent is aw
are of the above im

pacts and the follow
ing m

itigations are being put in place to 
address these:

A
dditional personal data collected w

ill not form
 part of the electoral register – the inform

ation 
currently captured on the register w

ill rem
ain the sam

e.

There w
ill be no new

 national database created as a result of im
plem

enting IER.

A
 data m

anagem
ent policy is in developm

ent w
hich w

ill set out clear policy on the storage, use, 
transm

ission, retention and disposal of personal data.

The solution for the storage and transm
ission of the personal data has not yet been determ

ined, 
but the necessary design features to secure personal data w

ill be a requirem
ent.

C
ontinued engagem

ent w
ith key stakeholders to ensure security of personal data and 

appropriate risk and im
pact assessm

ent and m
itigation.

Proposed new
 offence for the disclosure of personal data provided by an applicant in their 

electoral registration application, or the inform
ation provided by any entity in the veri�cation 

process, to any person not involved in the process.

It is im
portant to note that any im

pacts w
ill necessarily need to be balanced against security and 

fraud concerns. Further consultation w
ith key stakeholders and the public w

ill be conducted to fully 
understand the privacy im

pacts and continue to develop appropriate m
itigation strategies. It is intended 

that the Privacy Im
pact A

ssessm
ent w

ill be a living docum
ent and develop over the period of policy 

developm
ent and im

plem
entation.

P
age 105



P
age 106



P
age 107



P
age 108

T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
Date of meeting: 6 September 2011 

 

 
Portfolio Holder: 

 
Leader 
 

Report of: Constitution and Member Services SSP 
 

Subject: 
 

Council Procedure Rules – Reports on Outside Organisations and 
Future Work Programme 
 

Officer Contact for further 
Information: 
 

Ian Willett (01992 564243) 
 

Democratic Services Officer: Mark Jenkins (01992 564607) 
 

 
Recommendations: 
 
(1) That Council Procedure Rule 2 be amended by substituting the existing 
paragraph (ix) with the following: 
 
“(ix) receive from Council representatives written reports circulated in advance with 
the agenda for the meeting concerned on the business of joint arrangements and 
external organisations and to receive answers to any questions on those bodies which 
may be put without notice “  
 
and by adding the following new rule (to be numbered (x)): 
 
“(x)  request written reports from representatives on joint arrangements and external 
organisations for future meetings; 
 
and that the following sub paragraphs of Rule 2 be renumbered accordingly.  
 
(2) That the Committee note that the Panel intends to conduct further reviews 
during the current Council year on: 
 
(a) outside organisations on which the Council is represented; and 
 
(b) arrangements for circulation of written material to Councillors. 
 
Report 
 
1. Council Procedure Rule 2 sets out the order of business at ordinary Council meetings, 
paragraph (ix) of which states that the Council will: 
 
"receive reports about and receive questions and answers on the business of joint 
arrangements and external organisations”. 
 
2. We have noted that the nature of the report (whether oral or written) is not specified.  
The Panel's attention was drawn to reports by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Chairman and Portfolio Holders at Council meetings under Rule 2 (viii) which are required to 
be in writing and therefore circulated with the Council agenda.  This is because under 
Rule 11.1, those reports can be the subject of questions without notice by other Councillors. 
 
3. We feel that these reports should be in writing and circulated in advance of Council 
meetings and open for other Councillors to ask questions on them without notice. As an 
adjunct to this, we are also recommending that each Council agenda should have provision 
for members to request similar reports for future meetings.   

Agenda Item 9

Page 109



 
4.         We recommend as set out in (1) at the commencement of this report. 
 
 
Future Work Programme 
 
5. We ask the Committee to note two additions to the SSP’s work programme for the 
current year.  The first of these arises from the earlier item in this report on reports of the 
work of outside organisations.  We are concerned that the Council does not receive enough 
feedback on such bodies and we therefore wish to review ways in which this could be 
improved. 
 
7. The second new item relates to circulation of written material for members.  It is some 
years since postal and messenger distribution was reviewed.  In a climate of seeking savings, 
we feel that a further review would be useful at this time. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Z:/CSS/BUREAU/C/OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY/6 SEPT 11 - COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES – REPORTS ON OUTSIDE 
ORGANISATIONS 
 

Page 110



As at: August 2011  1 

 
Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme – August 2011  

 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Item Report Deadline / 
Priority Progress / Comments Programme of 

Future Meetings 
(1) Scrutiny of London 
Underground Ltd 

Completed July 2011 Completed - Came in July 2011. 
To invite back sometime in 2012/13 

(2) OS Annual Review/ Annual 
Report  

April 2012 2011/12 Final Report to go to April 2012 meeting. 

(3) Scrutiny of Epping Forest 
Local Strategic Partnership –
Chairman and Member level 
EFDC representatives   
 

October 2011 Last completed - came in July 2010 - 
Representatives of the partnership to report on an 
annual basis. 
 

(4) Scrutiny of Cabinet Forward 
Plan  

Progress report in October 
2011 

Last looked at in November 2010; to review again 
when Cabinet next consider their forward plan. 

(5) Six monthly review  -  
 
(a) Monitoring of OS 
recommendations  
 
(b) OS work programme 
 

November 2011 Last completed in November 10 
 
 

31 May 2011; 
12 July; 
6 September; 
18 October; 
29 November; 
24 January 2012; 
6 March; and 
17 April 

A
genda Item

 10

P
age 111



As at: August 2011  2 

(6) To review the strategic 
direction of Epping Forest 
College, its vision for the future 
and its relationship with the 
Community 
 

April 2012 

 
Last considered in April 11.  
Principal of Epping Forest College addressed the 
April 2011 meeting.  

(7) Budget Report January 2012 Last completed January 2011 

(8) Review of Secondary and 
Primary education in the District 
and to focus on the link between 
Education and deprivation in the 
District. 

In October 2011 
To ask the appropriate County Officer or Portfolio 
Holder to attend a future meeting. Also to ask 
representatives from the consortiums of Primary 
Schools and Secondary Schools. 

(9) To receive a presentation from 
Youth Council members November 2011 

As last year, members of the Youth Council will 
attend with proposals for their funding bid for 
2012/13 and give an update on their developing 
programme. 

(10) Broadband  access in the 
District 

TBA – An Interim report 
went to the February ‘11 
meeting. Now waiting to get 
Service providers to a 
2011/12 meeting. 

BT and one other service provider to be asked to 
address the O&S Committee on access to 
broadband and speeds for the Epping Forest District 
Area. 

 

(11) Corporation of London TBA - Sometime in 2011/12 
To receive a presentation on the management of the 
Epping Forest. 
A representative from ‘Friends of Epping Forest ‘ to 
be invited as well. 

 
NEW 

P
age 112



As at: August 2011  3 

(12) Police and Fire Rescue 
Services – To also ask British 
Transport Police to attend. Towards end of 2011 

With the current financial difficulty for statutory 
services, the Committee would like to see 
representatives of the Police and the Fire and 
Rescue Services address the meeting regarding the 
implications of their budget reductions – this to be 
arranged for the end of 2011 to give them time to 
assess the effects. 

 
 
NEW 

(13) Key Objectives 2010/11 Outturn report went to the 31 
May 2011 meeting. 
 
 

 
Completed. Six monthly progress reports in respect 
of the annual Key Objectives are made to the 
Cabinet and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
Outturn report for 2010/11 submitted to the May 
2011 Meeting. 
 

 

(14) Key Objectives 2011/12 Progress report to go to the 
October 2011 meeting 

Six monthly progress reports in respect of the annual 
Key Objectives are made to the Cabinet and the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Progress report 
for 2011/12 to be submitted to the 18 October 2011 
meeting. 

 

(15) To review the new 
organisational make up of the 
PCT/ West Essex Health Service 
and the progress made on the 
commissioning of local health 
services. 

November meeting Useful to look at this towards the end of the year. 
Noted that County were also looking at this topic. 

 

(16) To review the Lea Valley 
Regional Park Authority and the 
Olympics. 

Completed - went to July 
2011 meeting Completed - Report to go to the July 2011 meeting. 

 

P
age 113



As at: August 2011  4 

(17) Police Reform Proposals for 
Essex September 2011  

 

(18) To meet with Essex County 
Council in respect of Children 
Services and on annual basis, 
with the attendance of the 
Director of Children’s 
Commissioning. 

Early 2012 Recommendation taken from the Children Services 
Task and Finish Panel 

 

(19) Council Procedure Rules – 
reports on Outside Organisations September 2011 Recommendation from the Constitution and Member 

Services Scrutiny Standing Panel – July 2011 

 P
age 114



As at: August 2011  5 

Standing Panels  
Housing Standing Panel (Chairman – Cllr S Murray ) 

Item 
Report 

Deadline / 
Priority 

Progress / Comments Programme of 
Future Meetings 

(1) Presentation by Mears on 
proposed approach to Repairs 
Management Contract 

July 2011 COMPLETED 
(2) Annual Report on the 
HomeOption Choice Based 
Lettings Scheme 

July 2011 COMPLETED 

(3) HouseMark Benchmarking 
Report of Housing Services July 2011 COMPLETED 

(4) Annual Ethnic Monitoring 
Review of Housing Applicants July 2011 COMPLETED 
(5) Housing Performance 
Indicators – 2010/11 Out-turn 
(Tenant-Selected & KPIs) 

July 2011 COMPLETED 
(6) 12-Month Progress Report on 
Housing Strategy Action Plan 
2010/11 

July 2011 COMPLETED 
(7) Housing Strategy Action Plan 
2011/12 July 2011 COMPLETED 
(8) Performance against Housing 
Service Standards and Review July 2011 COMPLETED 
(9) Feed-In Tariff Scheme for 
Council Housing Stock July 2011 Deferred to October meeting 

19 July 2011; 
25 October; 
31 January 2012; 
and 
13 March 

P
age 115



As at: August 2011  6 

(10) HRA Self-Financing – 
Financial Plan October 2011 Not yet due 

(11) Annual review of the Housing 
Allocations Scheme October 2011 Deferred to October 2012 

(12) Housing Service Strategy on 
Empty Properties (Review and 
Update) 

October 2011 Not yet due 

(13) Six-Monthly Progress Report 
on Housing Business Plan Action 
Plan October 2011 Not yet due 

(14) Housing Service Strategy on 
Repairs and Maintenance (New) October 2011 Not yet due 

 

(15) Housing Service Strategy on 
Energy Efficiency (Review and 
Update) October 2011 Not yet due 

(16) Approach to future Council 
House-Building Programme October 2011 Not yet due 

(17) HRA 30-Year Financial Plan 
in Preparation for HRA Self-
Financing October 2011 Not yet due 

(18) Review of Private Sector 
Housing Strategy January 2012 Not yet due 

(19) Briefing on the proposed 
Council rent increase for 2010/11 January 2012 Not yet due 

 

P
age 116



As at: August 2011  7 

(20) Six-monthly Progress report 
on Housing Strategy Action Plan 
2011/12 January 2012 Not yet due 

(21) Housing Service Strategy on 
Home Ownership (Review and 
Update) January 2012 Not yet due 

 

(22) Housing Service Strategy on 
Housing and Estate Management 
(Review and update) March 2012 Not yet due 

 

(23) Housing Service Strategy on 
Rent Administration (Review and 
update) March 2012 Not yet due 

 

(24) 12-Monthly Progress Report 
on Housing Business Plan Action 
Plan March 2012 Not yet due 

 

(25) Housing Service Strategy on 
Older peoples Housing (Review 
and Update) March 2012 Not yet due 

 

(26) HRA Business Plan 2012/13 March 2012 Not yet due  
 

Items added after the original Work Programme was agreed 

(27) Provision of smoke detectors 
in Communal blocks or Council 
properties 

October 2011   

(28) Outcome report on the 
implementation of new licences 
for park home sites 

March 2012   

P
age 117



As at: August 2011  8 

 

P
age 118



As at: August 2011  9 

 

Constitution and Member Services Standing Panel (Chairman – Cllr D Stallan) 
Item Report Deadline / 

Priority 
Progress / Comments Programme of Future 

Meetings 
(1) New panel meeting dates for 
2011/12 June 2011 COMPLETED 

(2) Review of Referendum/Elections – 
May 2011 June 2011 COMPLETED 

(3) Complaints Panel – Terms of 
Reference June 2011 COMPLETED 

(4) Substitutions at Meetings June 2011 COMPLETED 

(5) Council Meetings – Member reports 
on outside bodies June 2011 COMPLETED 

(6) Review of Membership of Audit and 
Governance Committee Deputy 
Portfolio Holder 

27 July 2011 A report will be submitted to the Audit and 
Governance Committee for its views. 

30 June 2011; 
27 July; 
4 October; 
8 November; and 
20 February 2012 
 
One extra meeting required 
March/April 2012 

P
age 119



As at: August 2011  10 

(7)  Report of District Remuneration 
Panel 

27 July 2011 
(Scoping) Report 
submit to October 
2011 Panel meeting 

The Panel agreed to a scoping report for its 
October 2011 meeting. 

 

 
(8)  Report on Webcasting Report being 

submitted to October 
2011 Panel meeting 

 
 

(9)  Planning/Covenants – Council 
Responsibilities 4 October 2011  

 

(10)  Statutory Review of Polling 
Stations  4 October 2011  

 

(11)   Review of Petitions – Change in 
Legal Requirements 8 November 2011  

 

(12) Reporting at Council meetings by 
Scrutiny Panel Chairmen 8 November 2011  

 

(13) Review of Officer Delegation 20 February 2012  
 

(14) Review of Financial Regulations 20 February 2012   

(15) Review of Annual Council 
arrangements 20 February 2012  

 

(16) Report of External Auditor 
(dependent on Council decision 26 July 
2011) 

TBA  
 

(17) Member’s Dispatch TBA  
 

(18) Member Representatives on 
Outside Bodies TBA  

 

P
age 120



As at: August 2011  11 

Safer, Cleaner, Greener Standing Panel (Chairman Mrs M Sartin) 
Work Programme 2011-12 

Item Report Deadline / 
Priority Progress / Comments Programme of 

Future Meetings 
 

(1) Safer, Cleaner, Greener 
strategy 
 
(a) Enforcement activity – half 

yearly report 
 
(b) Half yearly report on Strategy 
Action Plan 
 
(c) Agree action plan for 2012/13 

 
 
 
(a)  To July 2011 and 
January 2012 meeting 
 
(b)  To July 2011 and 
January 2012 meeting 
 
(c)  To January 2012 
meeting 

 
 
 

(a) To put data for the period October 2010 to 
March 2011 on agenda 
 
(b) To put data for the period October 2010 to 
March 2011 on the agenda 
 
(c) Not required until January 2012 meeting 

 

7 July 2011; 
11 October; 
10 January 2012; 
21 February; and 
10 April 2012 
 
 
Crime and Disorder 
Scrutiny meetings – 
the 2 meeting dates 
are October 2011 

P
age 121



As at: August 2011  12 

Safer, Cleaner, Greener Standing Panel (Chairman Mrs M Sartin) 
Work Programme 2011-12 

Item Report Deadline / 
Priority Progress / Comments Programme of 

Future Meetings 
 
(2)     Community Safety 

 
(a) CCTV action plan – half yearly 

report 
 
(b) Receive reports from 

Community Safety Scrutiny 
meetings 

 
(c) Progress against strategic 

assessment 
 
(d) Progress towards appointment 

of Police & Crime 
Commissioner. 

 
(e) Monitoring of Police resources 

relative to the Olympic Games 
 

 
 
 
(a) To July 2011 and 
January 2012 meetings 
 
(b) To January 2012 and 
April 2012 meetings 
 
(c) To July 2011 and 
January 2012 meetings 
 
(d) To report when 
information available 
 
 
(e) To report when 
information available 

 
 
 
(a) Data for the period October 2010 to March 
2011 to July meeting 
 
(b) Report to be considered at January 2012 
meeting 
 
(c) Data for the period October 2010 to March 
2012  to July meeting 
 
(d) Awaiting outcome of House of Lords 
amendments and referral back to the Commons. 
 
 
(e) Data not yet available 

 
(3)  Essex Waste Partnership Inter 

Authority Agreement  
 
(a) Receive notes/minutes of 

Member Partnership Board 
 

 
 
 

 
(a) To receive notes/ 
minutes when available 
 

 
 
 
 

(a) No meetings held yet 
 
 

and February 2012 

P
age 122



As at: August 2011  13 

Safer, Cleaner, Greener Standing Panel (Chairman Mrs M Sartin) 
Work Programme 2011-12 

Item Report Deadline / 
Priority Progress / Comments Programme of 

Future Meetings 
(b) Receive notes/minutes of Inter 

Authority Member Group 
 
(b) To receive notes/ 
minutes when  available 
 
 

 
(b) Notes of meetings held on 25 January and  1 
march 2011 available. Awaiting notes for 5 April 
2011. 

 
(4) Waste Management 

Partnership Board 
 

(a) Receive minutes of Partnership 
Board 

 

 
 
 
 
(a) To receive notes / 
minutes when available  

 
 
 
 
(a) Notes of the meetings held on 20 October 
2010, 12 January & 6 April to July 11 meeting 

 
(5) Green and carbon Reduction 
Measures 

 
(a) Nottingham declaration 

Progress against pledges – half 
yearly reports 

 
(b)  Carbon Reduction Strategy 

update 
 

 
 
 
 
(a) July 2011 
 

 
 
(b) July 2011 

 
 
 
 

(a) last went to the July 2011 meeting 
 
 
 
(b) Last went to the July 2011 meeting. 

P
age 123



As at: August 2011  14 

Safer, Cleaner, Greener Standing Panel (Chairman Mrs M Sartin) 
Work Programme 2011-12 

Item Report Deadline / 
Priority Progress / Comments Programme of 

Future Meetings 
 
(6) Bobbingworth Tip 
 
(a) Receive reports on availability 

for public access 
 
(b) Receive notes/minutes of 

management/liaison group 
 

 
 
 
(a) For future meeting 
 
 
(b) To January 2012 
meeting 

 
 
 
(a) Formal opening of the Nature Reserve 
scheduled for 15 July 2011. 
 
(b) Notes of meeting held on 23 March 2011 for 
January ‘12 meeting. 
 

(7) Ad hoc report asked for on 
improving recycling in flats and 
houses of multiple occupation 

 
TBA 

  

(8) Ad hoc report asked for on the 
use of Solar Panels on Council 
owned properties. 

 
TBA 

 
Noted that a trial was being carried out at present. 

 

 

P
age 124



As at: August 2011  15 

Planning Services Standing Panel (Chairman – Cllr H Ulkan) 
Item Report Deadline / 

Priority Progress / Comments Programme of 
Future Meetings 

(1) Reports to each meeting on: 
(a) Regional Plan 
(b) Local Development Framework 
(c) Current Staffing  
(d) Improvement Plan 
(e) Any recent meeting of the 
Chairman and Vice Chairman of the 
Area and District Committees Invitation 
Panel 

Regular updating 
reports 

(c) Request of Panel Chairman, report regarding 
staffing situation since the Freeze on External 
Recruitment 

(2) Value for Money Provision: 
(a) Administration & Customer Support 
(b) Building Control 
(c) Development Control (including 
Appeals) 
(d) Economic Development 
(e) Enforcement 
(f) Environment Team 
(g) Forward Planning 
(h) Performance 
 

Provide a report after 
the end of Quarter 4 on 
2(c) + 2(e) and 
periodically on the 
other areas 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

(3) To review a selection of 
controversial planning decisions to see 
if lessons can be learnt from their 
consideration. 

 This item has been extracted from the Terms of 
Reference of the Provision for Value for Money 
within Planning Services Task and Finish Panel and 
the current Panel. 

 
14 June 2011; 
13 September; 
3 October 
20 December; 
7 February 2012; 
and 
24 April 

P
age 125



As at: August 2011  16 

(4) To consider whether the reporting 
arrangements for Terms of Reference 
sections and those from the Section 
106s (including how they are 
negotiated agreed and implemented 
strategically to secure community 
benefit), and appeals are sufficient 
(including how new legislation impacts 
on these) and recommend accordingly 

 This item has been extracted from the Terms of 
Reference of the Provision for Value for Money 
within Planning Services Task and Finish Panel and 
the current Panel. 

(5) Contributions to affordable housing 
(S106 Agreements) 

Item carried forward 
from last year’s Panel 
Work Programme 

COMPLETED 

 

(6) Liaise with other planning 
authorities to learn from their work. 

New Item Quarterly meeting with other Essex Authorities 
discuss and share working practices. Benchmarking 
underway as part of local fee setting and charging of 
planning application fees. 

 

(7) CLG Consultation – Planning for 
Traveller Sites 

New Item – June 2011 COMPLETED  

(8) Community Infrastructure Levy New Item - June 2011 
Panel meeting 

A new draft CIL Strategy will be submitted in 
December 2011 

 

(9) Draft New Terms of Reference To be announced Requested by Councillor A Lion  

(10) Environment Agency Consultation 
– Roding River Area 

September 2011   

P
age 126



As at: August 2011  17 

(11) Sustainable Framework for UK 
Aviation: Scoping Document 

September 2011   

(12) Local Planning Regulations (CLG) September 2011   

(13) Draft District Tree Strategy September 2011   

(14) New Draft National Policy 
Framework 

October 2011   

 P
age 127



As at: August 2011  18 

 
Finance and Performance Management Standing Panel (Chairman – Cllr D Jacobs) 

Item Report Deadline / 
Priority Progress / Comments Programme of 

Future Meetings 
(1) Key Performance Indicators – 
Performance Outturn 2010/11 

Outturn KPI 
performance report 
considered at the first 
meting of the Scrutiny 
Panel in each 
municipal year. 
 

Completed - KPI outturn report for 2010/11 to be 
considered at the meeting held on 21 June 2011. 

(2) Key Performance Indicators – 
Performance Monitoring 2011/12 

KPI performance report 
to be considered on a 
quarterly basis. 
. 

Quarterly KPI performance report for 2011/12 to be 
considered at the meetings to be held in September 
2011(qtr 1), November 2011 (qtr 2) and March 2012 (qtr 
3). 
 

(3) Key Performance Indicators – 
Development of indicators set for 
2012/13 

Draft indicator set to be 
considered on the 
basis of third quarter 
KPI performance for 
2011/12. 

KPI proposals to be considered at the meeting to be held 
on 20 March 2012. 

(4) Quarterly Financial Monitoring  
Reports to be 
considered on a 
quarterly basis. 

First quarter information to be considered September ‘11, 
2nd quarter in January ‘12 and 3rd quarter figures at the 
March ‘12 meeting. 

(5) Annual Consultation Plan  Report considered on 
an annual basis. 
Report went to the 
June ’11 meeting. 

Completed - Consultation Plan considered at first meeting 
of each municipal year. Report last went to the June 2011 
meeting, 

 
21 June 2011; 
20 September; 
15 November; 
16 January 2012; 
and 
20 March P

age 128



As at: August 2011  19 

(6) Detailed Portfolio Budgets Had last been 
considered at the 
January 2011 meeting 
of the Cabinet Finance 
Committee. 

Considered at the January ’11 of the Cabinet Finance 
Committee – Annual review of the Portfolio Holders 
Budgets. To go again to the January 2012 meeting. 

(7) Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 

To go to the January 
2012 meeting To review the Council’s medium term financial strategy -

January 2012. 
(8) Equality and Diversity -  
Monitoring and Progress  Progress report 

considered at the first 
meeting of the Scrutiny 
Panel in each 
municipal year. 

Completed - Progress report for the 2010/11 to be 
considered at the meeting to be held on 21 June 2011. 

(9) Capital Outturn 2010/11 and 
use of transitional relief in 
2010/11 

Went to the June ’11 
meeting 

Completed - Last considered at the June 2011 meeting 

(10) Provisional revenue Outturn 
2010/11 Went to the June ’11 

meeting 
Completed - Last considered at the June 2011 meeting 

(11) Fee and Charges To consider at the 
November 11 or 
January 12 meeting 

Last went to December 2010 meeting. 

 
 
 

P
age 129



P
age 130

T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
Date of meeting: 6 September 2011 

 

 

 
Report of: 

 
Assistant to the Chief Executive 
 

Subject: 
 

Report of External Auditor – Contract for Former Chief Executive 
Officer contact for further 
information: 
 

I Willett (01992 564243) 
Assistant to the Chief Executive 
 

Committee Secretary: Mark Jenkins (01992 564607) 
Democratic Services Officer 
 

   
Recommendations: 
 
 
(1) To appoint a Task and Finish Panel to undertake the review requested by the 

Council. 
 
(2) To seek nominations to the Panel including a Chairman; and 
 
(3) To set a deadline for the completion of the review and reporting back to the 

Council. 
 
Report: 
 
1. At the Council meeting on 26 July 2011, the Council passed the resolution relating to 

the contract to the previous Chief Executive in 2007. The text of that resolution is 
attached. 

 
2. The decision asks that this Committee facilitate a review of procedures which support 

the earlier resolutions. 
 
3. As with all reviews by Overview and Scrutiny, the Committee should now consider 

how this review will be organised.  The Committee should consider: 
 
 (a) the body to conduct the reviews for which the options appear to be the 

Committee itself, an existing Scrutiny Panel or a Task and Finish Panel appointed for 
this purpose; 

 
 (b) any information required on which to base the review; 
 
 (c) any consultation required; 
 
 (d) the timescale which should apply. 
 
4. It is the view of Officers that all the current Panels have a workload which would 

prohibit them from undertaking a review such as is envisaged and that it would be 
appropriate to appoint a new Task and Finish Panel to undertake the review. 

Agenda Item 12

Page 131



 
5. The findings of the review will be required to be reported back to the Council and, 

if necessary, to the Cabinet, if any executive responsibilities are affected. 
 
6. If the Committee agree to establish a Task and Finish Scrutiny Panel, membership 

and a Chairman will need to be appointed.  Such panels have no limit on the number 
of Councillors appointed and membership does not need to be determined on the 
basis of pro rata rules. 

 
7. The terms of reference for the review have been established by the Council and 

should not be changed without its prior approval. 
 
 
 
 

Z:/C/OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE\6 SEPTEMBER 2011 – REPORT OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR.doc 

Page 132



 
 
 
COUNCIL MEETING – 26 JULY 2011  
 
 
DECISIONS ON THE REPORT OF THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR ON ISSUES 
SURROUNDING THE GRANTING OF A FIXED TERM EMPLOYMENT 
CONTRACT TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE COUNCIL IN 2007 
 
 
 
  
(1)That, pursuant to recommendation  (2) of the Audit & Governance 

Committee’s  report, the Council: 
 
(a) notes the receipt from Mr Richard Bint of PKF Partners, the Council’s 

external auditors, of a report dated 26 May 2011 concerning his review of  
the granting of a fixed term employment contract to the Chief Executive in 
2007; 
 

(b) resolves to adopt the report and respond to its findings as set out below; 
 

on Point 1 (Appropriate Legal Advice)  of “lessons to be learned” on the  
page 5 of Mr Bint’s report: 

 
(i) that appropriate legal advice will be taken where necessary in 

respect of any such contract of employment from a lawyer familiar 
with the relevant legislation; 

 
(ii)       that, in the event that such specialist knowledge is not available  

within the Council, appropriate external legal advice will be  
obtained by the Solicitor to the Council and obtained by means of 
the Council’s agreed procurement procedures; 
 

on Point 2 (Staff Awareness of Fixed Term Contracts) –  
that written advice be issued to all relevant staff on the principal features of 
such contracts as a matter of priority; 
 

      on Point 3 (Pre Contract Scrutiny) - that arrangements be made to 
ensure that, in respect of all contracts of equivalent or greater significance, 
any unusual features identified be tested and their legal, financial and 
human resources implications clarified; 
 
 on Point 4 (Reporting to Councillors) - that  all reports dealing with  
contracts of the kind referred to in (4) above be checked so that any 
unusual features are identified and their purpose and legal, financial and 
human resources implications clarified; 

 

Page 133



(2) That the Committee for the Appointment of a Chief Executive be asked to  
bear these decisions in mind as part of its current consideration of the 
Chief Executive position; 

 
(3) That  the Council refers for review by the Overview & Scrutiny Committee    

the detail of procedures for reporting such complex and sensitive contracts 
to Councillors and the procedure to be followed in the event that the  
Council is considering entering into such contracts; and 

 
(4) That a report be made to a future Audit and Governance Committee as to  

the procedures which have been, or are proposed to be, put in place.  

Page 134


	Agenda
	5 MINUTES
	7 Revising the charges at the Dartford - Thurrock River Crossing
	8 Single Individual Voter Registration - Government Consultation
	9 Council procedure Rules - Reports on Outside Organisations
	10 WORK PROGRAMME MONITORING
	12 Report of External Auditor - Contract for Former Chief Executive
	Council Motion


